
To all Members of the County Council

An ordinary meeting of the County Council will be held at 10.30 am on Friday, 
15 February 2019 at County Hall, Chichester.

Agenda

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Members' Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any pecuniary or personal 
interests in matters appearing on the agenda.

3.  Minutes (Pages 7 - 30)

The Council is asked to confirm the minutes of the ordinary 
meeting of the County Council held on 14 December 2018.

4.  Address by a Cabinet Member 

At the discretion of the Chairman, to receive any address by 
a Cabinet Member on a matter of urgency and/or significant 
interest to the County Council and which relates to the 
powers and responsibilities of the County Council or which 
affects the Council.

10.45 am 5.  Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 
2022/23, Draft Revenue Budget 2019/20, Draft 
Capital Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 and Draft 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 
(Pages 31 - 146)

The Council is asked to consider and approve the draft 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23, the 
draft revenue budget for 2019/20, the draft Capital 
Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 and the draft Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 in the light of 
report by the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources.  
Annex 1, the budget pack and portfolio budget pages, have 
been printed separately and are enclosed with the agenda.

Lunch (In the event that the morning business is 
finished before lunch the afternoon business will be 
brought forward as appropriate.)

6.  Notices of Motion 

(a)  Motion on Government Cuts to the Public 
Health Budget 

To consider the following motion, notice of which 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



was given on 18 January 2019 by Dr Walsh.

‘The Council notes the vital role played by Public 
Health, including our hugely successful vaccination 
and immunisation programmes, support for those 
wanting to stop smoking, and otherwise helping 
West Sussex residents to lead healthier lives by 
avoiding diseases and unplanned pregnancies; and 
notes with grave concern the announcement of a 
further £85m cut to the Public Health Budget, as one 
of 12 ministerial statements published by the 
Government on the last day of the 2018 
parliamentary term before Christmas, only weeks 
after the Secretary of State for Health described 
‘prevention’ as his priority.

The Council further notes the comments of the 
Health Foundation, who described these cuts as a 
false economy and who have calculated that an 
additional £3bn a year is required to reverse the 
impact of the Government’s cuts to the Public Health 
Grant to date and have called for this increased 
budget to be allocated according to need; and the 
warnings from the King’s Fund that such cuts could 
put pressure on councils to cut non-statutory sexual 
health prevention services, which could lead to more 
sexually transmitted infections and unplanned 
pregnancies.

This Council believes that our Public Health team 
perform vital work to help keep the residents of 
West Sussex healthy and to avoid more costly 
admissions to hospitals and other interventions by 
our NHS, and that this should be properly funded by 
central government.

The Council resolves to:

(1) Thank our Director of Public Health and her 
team for the great work they do across West 
Sussex despite continued financial 
challenges;

(2) Condemn the timing just before the 
Christmas break to ‘sneak out’ 
announcements such as this;

(3) Call on the Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Member for Adults and Health to 
consider carefully how best to implement the 
required cuts to services which will result 
from continued government cuts to the 
budget; and

(4) Ask the Leader and Cabinet Member to write 
to the Secretary of State for Health, calling 
on the Government to deliver increased 
investment in Public Health and to support a 
sustainable health and social care system by 

Page 2



taking a ‘prevention first’ approach, and fair 
and equitable funding for West Sussex.’

(b)  Motion on Climate Change 

To consider the following motion, notice of which 
was given on 28 January by Mr Jones.

‘This Council notes that humans have caused climate 
change, the impacts of which are being felt around 
the world.  Global temperatures have already 
increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-industrial 
levels.  Atmospheric CO2 levels are above 400 parts 
per million (ppm).  This far exceeds the 350 ppm 
deemed to be a safe level for humanity.  In order to 
reduce the chance of runaway Global Warming and 
limit the effects of Climate Breakdown, it is 
imperative that all countries should reduce our 
carbon equivalent (CO2eq) emissions from their 
current 6.5 tonnes per person per year to less than 
2 tonnes as soon as possible.  Councils around the 
world are responding by declaring a ‘Climate 
Emergency’ and committing resources to address 
this.

This Council believes that all governments (national, 
regional and local) have a duty to limit the negative 
impacts of Climate Breakdown, and local 
governments that recognise this should not wait for 
their national governments to change their policies.  
It is important for the residents of West Sussex and 
the UK that cities commit to carbon neutrality as 
quickly as possible.

Councils like West Sussex are uniquely placed to 
lead the world in reducing carbon emissions – for 
example because of their capacity for local energy 
generation, such as running our own solar farms and 
promoting solar energy take up among local 
organisations and residents, supporting the greater 
use of electric powered vehicles both in the private 
and public sector and for personal use, and investing 
further in public transport.

West Sussex is already suffering from flooding 
problems, and a significant proportion of its 
population and a large number of its settlements are 
based in coastal areas which would potentially be 
devastated by a rise in sea levels caused by 
continual global warming.  The consequences of 
global temperature rising above 1.5°C are so severe 
that preventing this from happening must be a 
number one priority, and bold climate action can 
deliver economic benefits in terms of new jobs, 
economic savings and market opportunities (as well 
as improved well-being for people worldwide).

This Council therefore calls on the Cabinet to:

Page 3



(1) Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’;

(2) Pledge to attempt to make West Sussex 
carbon neutral by 2030, taking into account 
both production and consumption emissions;

(3) Call on the Government to provide the 
powers and resources to make the 2030 
target possible;

(4) Work with other councils to determine and 
implement best practice methods to limit 
Global Warming to less than 1.5°C;

(5) Continue to work with partners across the 
county and region to deliver this new goal 
through all relevant strategies and plans;

(6) Set up a Task and Finish Group to look into 
the matter in greater detail;

(7) Consider whether it would be advisable to 
take into account climate change impacts, 
when considering planning applications, or 
taking part in consultations, commenting on 
reports, plans and reviews put to the Council; 
and

(8) Report to full Council within six months with 
the actions the Cabinet and Council will take 
to address this emergency.’

7.  Governance Committee: Pay Policy Statement 
2019/20 (Pages 147 - 158)

The Council is asked to approve the Pay Policy Statement 
2019/20, in the light of a report from the Governance 
Committee.

8.  Governance Committee: Governance of the Capital 
Programme (Pages 159 - 162)

The Council is asked to consider changes to the governance 
of the Capital Programme, in the light of a report by the 
Governance Committee.

9.  Governance Committee: Substitution on Select 
Committees (Pages 163 - 166)

The Council is asked to consider a proposal to ensure 
representation of a political group at a Select Committee 
meeting, in the light of a report by the Governance 
Committee. 

10.  Appointments 

The Council is asked to consider any proposed changes by 
the Groups to appointments together with any 
appointments arising from item 9, substitutes on select 

Page 4



committees.  Any proposals will be circulated and changes 
will take effect from the end of the meeting.

11.  Report of Urgent Action (Pages 167 - 168)

The Council is asked to note urgent action taken under 
regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

12.  Question Time (Pages 169 - 172)

Questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members on matters 
contained within the Cabinet report, written questions and 
any other questions relevant to their portfolios.  Members 
may also ask questions of the Leader on anything that is 
currently relevant to the County Council.  The report covers 
relevant Council business or developments in respect of 
portfolios arising since the meeting of the Council on 
14 December 2018.  A supplementary report may be 
published.

(2 hours is allocated for Question Time)

County Council concludes

Items not commenced by 4.15 p.m. will be deferred to the 
following meeting.

Director of Law and Assurance
6 February 2019

The times stated indicate the latest end times for previous business and should 
not be relied on as start times for subsequent items

Webcasting

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet - at the start of the meeting the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  The images and 
sound recording may be used for training purposes by the Council.

Generally the public gallery is not filmed.  However, by entering the meeting 
room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to 
the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or 
training purposes.

Page 5



Page 6



 
 

 
 

West Sussex County Council – Ordinary Meeting 

 

14 December 2018 
 

At the Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held at 10.30 am on Friday, 

14 December 2018, at the County Hall, Chichester, the members present being: 
 

Mr Barnard (Chairman) 

 

Mrs Arculus 
Mr Acraman 
Lt Cdr Atkins, RD 

Mr Baldwin 
Mr Barrett-Miles 

Lt Col Barton, TD 
Mrs Bennett 
Mr Boram 

Mr Bradbury 
Mr Bradford 

Mrs Brunsdon 
Mr Buckland 
Mr Burrett 

Mr Catchpole 
Mr Cloake 

Mr Crow 
Mrs Dennis 
Dr Dennis 

Mrs Duncton 
Mr Edwards 

Mr Elkins 
Mr Fitzjohn 
Ms Flynn 

Ms Goldsmith 
Mr High 

Mr Hillier 
Mr Hunt 

Mrs Jones, MBE 
Mr Jones 
Mrs Jupp 

Mr Jupp 
Ms Kennard 

Mrs Kitchen 
Mr Lanzer 
Mr Lea 

Ms Lord 
Mr Markwell 

Mr Marshall 
Mr McDonald 
Mrs Millson 

Mr Mitchell 
Mr Montyn 

Mrs Mullins 
Mr R J Oakley 
Mr S J Oakley 

Dr O'Kelly 
Mr Oppler 

Mr Oxlade 
Mr Parikh 
Mrs Pendleton 

Mr Petts 
Mr Purchese 

Mrs Purnell 
Mr Quinn 
Mrs Russell 

Mr Simmons 
Mr Smytherman 

Mrs Sparkes 
Mr Turner 

Mrs Urquhart 
Mr Waight 
Dr Walsh, KStJ, RD 

Mr Whittington 
Mr Wickremaratchi 

 
83    Interim Director of Children and Family Services and Director of 

Education and Skills  

 
83.1 The Chairman welcomed Andrew Fraser, Interim Director of Children 

and Family Services, and Paul Wagstaff, Director of Education and 
Skills, to their first meeting as Directors. 

 

 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
84    Deaths of Mr Robert Dunn and Mr David Whyberd  

 
84.1 The Chairman reported the deaths of two former members of the 

Council – Mr Robert Dunn, who had represented the Southwick 

South division from 1981 to 1985 and the Saltings division from 
2003 to 2013, and Mr David Whyberd, who had represented the 

West Tarring division from 1981 to 1993. 
  
84.2 Members stood for a minute’s silence. 

 
85    100th Anniversary of Women's Suffrage  

 
85.1 The Chairman reminded members that 14 December 2018 marked 

the 100th Anniversary of the day when women were first able to 

exercise their right to vote. 
 

86    Apologies for Absence  
 
86.1 Apologies were received from Mr Barling, Mrs Bridges, Mrs Hall, 

Mr Patel and Mrs Smith. 
 

86.2 Apologies for the afternoon session were received from Mrs Bennett, 
Mr Waight and Mr Whittington.  Dr Walsh gave his apologies and 
arrived for the afternoon session at 2.25 p.m.  Mr Markwell and Mr 

Oppler were absent for the afternoon session.  Mr Boram and Mrs 
Brunsdon left at 3.30 p.m., Mr Bradbury and Mr Wickremaratchi at 

3.50 p.m. and Mrs Arculus, Lt Cdr Atkins, Mr Barrett-Miles and Mr 
Jones at 4.00 p.m. 

 

87    Members' Interests  
 

87.1 Members declared interests as set out at Appendix 1. 
 

88    Minutes  
 
88.1 It was agreed that the minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the 

County Council held on 19 October 2018 (pages 11 to 46) be 
approved as a correct record, subject to the revision of the seconder 

to the motion on Fire and Rescue Service Funding set out in minute 
79.1 on page 24 to read Mr Purchese rather than Mr Oxlade. 

 

89    Address by a Cabinet Member  
 

89.1 Members received an address by the Leader on the Local 
Government Financial Settlement and Business Rates Pilot 
announcement. 

 
90    Motion on Fire and Rescue Service Funding  

 
90.1 At the County Council meeting on 19 October 2018 the following 

motion had been moved by Mr Jones, seconded by Mr Purchese, and 

referred to the Cabinet Member for Safer, Stronger Communities for 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
consideration.  A report by the Cabinet Member was included with 

the agenda (pages 47 and 48). 

 

Note: With the Chairman’s agreement, Mr Jones revised the 
wording of his motion to reflect that the decision maker for possible 

service changes would be the Chief Fire Officer rather than the 
Cabinet Member as set out below. 

 
‘This Council notes the existing, and increasing, gap in the funding 
provided per person from the Government towards West Sussex 

Fire and Rescue Service (WSFRS), in comparison to the per-person 
funding in all of those Fire and Rescue Services immediately 

surrounding it.  Not only are many of these surrounding authorities 
receiving much higher sums to protect their communities, but with 
further government cuts in 2019/20, the gap is set to become far 

worse, and even more unfair, for West Sussex.  Moreover, the local 
government Settlement Funding Assessment for fire authorities 

shows West Sussex having the biggest funding cut in England, 
between 2016/17 and 2019/20, of 45%.  The English average is a 

15% cut. 
 

This Council also notes that despite assurances by the previous 

Chief Fire Officer that there would always be a minimum of 30 fire 
appliances and crews available, out of 35 across the county at any 

one time, that in practice, between 7 am and 7 pm, there are rarely 
more than 15 available, sometimes as few as 10, and that 
firefighters are having to work hard to keep such numbers and 

maintain the resilience of the Service. 
 

This Council further notes that WSFRS has already had very deep 
cuts made to it in recent years, with £2.5 million and £1.6 million in 
2012 and 2014 respectively, making it according to the FBU the 

second worst hit fire authority in the proportion of its overall 
number of firefighters lost in the whole of Great Britain, with a 

reduction of 37% of its firefighters, during that time. 
 

The Council is aware that the Chief Fire Officer is due to take 

decisions in December which will result in a reduction of 
preventative measures which have proved to be a vital tool in 

reducing risk and saving lives through initiatives such as the Safe 
Drive to Stay Alive safety awareness campaign and the Firebreak 
scheme.  It is understood that cuts are also proposed which will 

reduce the availability of the technical response unit who deliver 
specialist rescue services, and reducing the staff complement for 

the Resilience and Emergencies Team (RET) in the region of 50%. 
 

The Council is also aware the HMI inspection of WSFRS began in 

November with preliminary feedback expected to be provided in 
December but its final report is not due to be published until May 

2019. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
This Council believes in the context of the circumstances outlined 

above, and also because it is impossible to predict what issues or 
extra demands the HMI inspection may reveal which will require 
action, it would be inappropriate at this time to come forward with 

any measures which would result in a reduction in funding and the 
delivery of services by the West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service. 

 
The Council therefore resolves: 
 

(1) To call on the Cabinet Member for Safer, Stronger 
Communities to instruct the Chief Fire Officer not to take any 

decisions that will result in a reduction in staffing or services 
provided by WSFRS, as the service has taken as much as it 
can bear without further compromising public and firefighter 

safety, further threatening the availability of crews and 
appliances at the county’s fire stations and increasing the 

likelihood of road traffic accidents; and 
 

(2) To request the Leader and the Cabinet Member for Safer, 

Stronger Communities jointly write to the relevant 
Government Minister, questioning the inequalities in funding 

for WSFRS and calling for it to be raised so that it is in line 
with the funding that other neighbouring fire authorities 
receive, per person.’ 

 
90.2 Resolution (1) of the motion was put to a recorded vote under 

Standing Order 3.35. 
 

(a) For resolution (1) of the motion – 13 

 
Mr Buckland, Dr Dennis, Mr Elkins, Mr Jones, Ms Lord, Mrs Millson, 

Mrs Mullins, Mr Oppler, Mr Oxlade, Mr Purchese, Mr Quinn, 
Mr Smytherman and Dr Walsh. 

 
(b) Against resolution (1) of the motion - 33 

 

Mr Acraman, Lt Cdr Atkins, Lt Col Barton, Mrs Bennett, Mr Boram, 
Mr Bradbury, Mr Bradford, Mr Burrett, Mr Catchpole, Mr Cloake, 

Mr Crow, Mrs Duncton, Mr Edwards, Ms Flynn, Ms Goldsmith, 
Mr Hillier, Mr Hunt, Mrs Jupp, Mr Jupp, Ms Kennard, Mrs Kitchen, 
Mr Lanzer, Mr Marshall, Mr McDonald, Mr Mitchell, Mr Montyn, 

Mr Parikh, Mrs Pendleton, Mr Petts, Mr Simmons, Mrs Sparkes, 
Mr Turner and Mrs Urquhart. 
 

(c) Abstentions – 17 
 

Mrs Arculus, Mr Baldwin, Mr Barnard, Mr Barrett-Miles, 
Mrs Brunsdon, Mrs Dennis, Mr Fitzjohn, Mr High, Mrs Jones, Mr Lea, 
Mr Markwell, Mr R J Oakley, Mr S J Oakley, Mrs Purnell, Mrs Russell, 

Mr Waight and Mr Wickremaratchi. 
 

90.3 Resolution (1) of the motion was lost. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
 
90.4 Resolution (2) of the motion was put to a recorded vote under 

Standing Order 3.35. 
 

(a) For resolution (2) of the motion – 48 
 

Mr Acraman, Mrs Arculus, Lt Cdr Atkins, Mr Baldwin, Mr Barrett-

Miles, Mrs Bennett, Mr Boram, Mrs Brunsdon, Mr Buckland, 
Mr Catchpole, Mr Cloake, Mrs Dennis, Dr Dennis, Mrs Duncton, 

Ms Flynn, Ms Goldsmith, Mr High, Mr Hillier, Mr Hunt, Mrs Jones, 
Mr Jones, Mrs Jupp, Mr Jupp, Mr Lanzer, Mr Lea, Ms Lord, 
Mr Markwell, Mr McDonald, Mrs Millson, Mr Mitchell, Mr Montyn, 

Mrs Mullins, Mr S J Oakley, Dr O’Kelly, Mr Oppler, Mr Oxlade, 
Mr Parikh, Mrs Pendleton, Mr Petts, Mr Purchese, Mr Quinn, 

Mr Simmons, Mr Smytherman, Mrs Sparkes, Mr Turner, Mr Waight, 
Dr Walsh and Mr Wickremaratchi. 
 

(b) Against resolution (2) of the motion - 6 

 

Mr Burrett, Mr Elkins, Ms Kennard, Mr Marshall, Mrs Russell and 
Mrs Urquhart. 

 

(c) Abstentions – 10 
 

Mr Barnard, Lt Col Barton, Mr Bradbury, Mr Bradford, Mr Crow, 
Mr Edwards, Mr Fitzjohn, Mrs Kitchen, Mr R J Oakley and 
Mrs Purnell. 

 
90.5 Resolution (2) of the motion was carried as set out below. 

 
‘This Council notes the existing, and increasing, gap in the funding 
provided per person from the Government towards West Sussex 

Fire and Rescue Service (WSFRS), in comparison to the per person 
funding in all of those Fire and Rescue Services immediately 

surrounding it.   
 

The Council therefore resolves: 

 
To request the Leader and the Cabinet Member for Safer, Stronger 

Communities jointly write to the relevant Government Minister, 
questioning the inequalities in funding for WSFRS and calling for it 

to be raised so that it is in line with the funding that other 
neighbouring fire authorities receive, per person.’ 

 

91    Motion on Gatwick Master Plan  
 

91.1 The motion by Mr Acraman was withdrawn. 

 
92    Motion on Gatwick Master Plan  

 
92.1 With the agreement of the Chairman, the following revised motion 

was moved by Mrs Russell and seconded by Mr Barrett-Miles. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
‘This Council notes the aspirations in the Gatwick Master Plan for 

growth within the curtilage of the Airport in response to the ever 
increasing demand for air travel by residents and businesses, 
proposing various growth scenarios. 

 
The County Council recognises the contribution made by Gatwick to 

the national economy and the economic benefits to the local 
economy of having a successful international airport in the county.  
 

This Council also understands the concerns of residents in areas 
close by who could be affected adversely and the potential growth in 

housing across the larger geographic area linked to by growth at 
Gatwick. 
 

The Council continues to make the case for greater infrastructure 
investment in the county and for any further growth at Gatwick this 

is paramount. 
 
At this stage Gatwick Airport Limited has not done enough work to 

establish the impacts of its ambitions or the appropriate mitigation 
measures and it makes limited reference to how its proposals would 

work with or complement those of other organisations for growth or 
development within the wider area. 
 

If there is to be a plan to safeguard land for a future additional 
runway it would be of benefit to our communities to have the 

certainty that this would not be developed at least during the period 
covered by the proposed Master Plan and a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the County and Borough Councils should be 

considered to achieve this guarantee. 
 

If airport growth is to be sustainable and manageable it must be 
shown to be planned only as part of a compelling case which 

addresses: 
 

• Noise footprint, air quality and environmental impact 

• Airport surface access and associated infrastructure capacity for 
an optimum infrastructure solution 

• The future employment and housing growth implications 

• Economic, employment and community engagement strategies 

• The timing of the indicative future investment projects 

 
The Gatwick Master Plan is aspirational but lacks sufficient detail or 

evidence in specific areas to provide assurance that the above 
issues have been or are being fully considered. 

 

This Council therefore acknowledges the Master Plan but, due to 
lack of evidence and clarity on important detail, the Council reserves 

its position on the plans for the existing standby runway and for the 
safeguarding of land for future expansion until that evidence and 
clarity is produced and requests the Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
Highways and Infrastructure to work with Gatwick and the LEP to 
ensure that further work is undertaken to provide sufficient 

information to inform the Master Plan in the future. 
 

The Council invites the Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Infrastructure to ensure that these reservations are fully addressed 

in the Council’s response to the Gatwick Master Plan and that a 

Memorandum of Understanding is proposed to address the limits 

needed on the timing of any future additional runway on 

safeguarded land.’ 

 

92.2 The motion was agreed. 

 

93    Motion on Women standing for Election  
 

93.1 The following motion was moved by Ms Flynn and seconded by 

Mrs Duncton: 

 

‘It is 100 years since the Representation of the People Act 1918, 
allowing many more men to vote and some women to vote as well 
as stand for election.  This Council celebrates the first two women 

councillors first elected, Ellen Chapman and the Hon Evelyn Gladys 
Cecil, who took their place in the Council in 1919 immediately after 

women were allowed to participate in local elections.  Progress has 
been made for a diverse representation of councillors but there is 
still some way to go. 

 
This Council believes that a Woman’s place is in the Chamber – the 

Council Chamber – and supports all efforts between now and the 
County Council elections in 2021 to attract more women to put 
themselves forward to stand for election as a county councillor.’ 

 
93.2 An amendment was moved by Mrs Mullins and seconded by 

Mr Quinn as set out below: 
 

‘It is 100 years since the Representation of the People Act 1918, 

allowing many more men to vote and some women to vote as well 
as stand for election.  This Council celebrates the first two women 

councillors first elected, Ellen Chapman and the Hon Evelyn Gladys 
Cecil, who took their place in the Council in 1919 immediately after 
women were allowed to participate in local elections.  Progress has 

been made for a diverse representation of councillors but there is 
still some way to go. 

 
This Council believes that a Woman’s place is in the Chamber – the 
Council Chamber – and supports all efforts between now and the 

County Council elections in 2021 to attract more women to put 
themselves forward to stand for election as a county councillor.’ 

 
93.3 The amendment was carried. 

 

93.4 The motion, as set out below, was agreed. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
‘It is 100 years since the Representation of the People Act 1918, 

allowing many more men to vote and some women to vote as well 
as stand for election.  This Council celebrates the first two women 
councillors first elected, Ellen Chapman and the Hon Evelyn Gladys 

Cecil, who took their place in the Council in 1919 immediately after 
women were allowed to participate in local elections.  Progress has 

been made for a diverse representation of councillors but there is 
still some way to go. 
 

This Council supports all efforts between now and the County 
Council elections in 2021 to attract more women to put themselves 

forward to stand for election as a county councillor.’ 
 

94    Motion on Bus Services  

 
94.1 With the agreement of the Chairman, the following revised motion 

was moved by Dr O’Kelly and seconded by Ms Lord: 

 

‘In West Sussex, some 27 million passenger journeys are made 

each year, many of which are made on commercial services.  This 
Council recognises the value of buses to the residents of West 
Sussex, not only in terms of transport for economic, leisure and 

education reasons, but also the social value they provide to our 
communities. 

 
This Council recognises that the promotion of bus services and the 
Council’s support for non-commercial services helps to improve the 

quality of life for many people and assists in delivering these 
priorities set out in the West Sussex Plan: 

 
(a)  Independence for later life: services that support older people 

in later life to live independently.  Availability of bus services 

enables older people to travel more without reliance on a car, 
avoiding the risks of social isolation that may come from a 

lack of ability to travel. 
 

(b)  Best start in life: Good bus service provision provides access 
to early education and education settings for children and 
allows for greater choice.  It also helps young people to 

access a wider choice of further education and employment. 
 

(c)  Strong, safe and sustainable place: Environmental 
sustainability can be achieved through modal shift to more 
use of bus services, reducing the number of cars on the road, 

which improves road safety and air quality. 
 

(d) A prosperous place: Good bus service provision forms a key 
sustainable infrastructure to support the economy and 
encourage the visitor economy, particularly into rural areas.  

A good bus network helps to realise the aim that 
opportunities should be available to all and to help businesses 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
to thrive through more sustainable transport and a reduction 
in traffic congestion. 

 
 Finally this Council recognises the hard work of the officers and the 

Executive Task and Finish Group during the recent bus review.  It 

calls on the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure to 

retain all the services under review to allow more time for the team 

to develop partnerships and to work with all tiers of local 

government in seeking additional funding.’ 

 
94.2 An amendment was moved by Mr Parikh and seconded by 

Mrs Dennis as set out below: 
 

‘In West Sussex, some 27 million passenger journeys are made 
each year, many of which are made on commercial services.  This 

Council recognises the value of buses to the residents of West 
Sussex, not only in terms of transport for economic, leisure and 
education reasons, but also the social value they provide to our 

communities. 
 

This Council recognises that the promotion of bus services and the 
Council’s support for non-commercial services helps to improve the 
quality of life for many people and assists in delivering these 

priorities set out in the West Sussex Plan: 
 

(a)  Independence for later life: services that support older people 
in later life to live independently.  Availability of bus services 
enables older people to travel more without reliance on a car, 

avoiding the risks of social isolation that may come from a 
lack of ability to travel. 

 
(b)  Best start in life: Good bus service provision provides access 

to early education and education settings for children and 

allows for greater choice.  It also helps young people to 
access a wider choice of further education and employment. 

 
(c)  Strong, safe and sustainable place: Environmental 

sustainability can be achieved through modal shift to more 
use of bus services, reducing the number of cars on the road, 
which improves road safety and air quality. 

 
(d) A prosperous place: Good bus service provision forms a key 

sustainable infrastructure to support the economy and 
encourage the visitor economy, particularly into rural areas.  
A good bus network helps to realise the aim that 

opportunities should be available to all and to help businesses 
to thrive through more sustainable transport and a reduction 

in traffic congestion. 
 
Finally this Council recognises the hard work of the officers and the 

Executive Task and Finish Group during the recent bus review.  It 
calls on the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
make every effort to retain all current coverage of the services 

under review by engaging with local members, communities 
and local businesses working through an Executive Task and 
Finish Group to develop a ‘Community Transport’ option for 

the county for current and future sustainability. to allow more 
time for the team to develop partnerships and to work with all tiers 

of local government in seeking additional funding.’ 
 
94.3 The amendment was carried. 

 

94.4 The amended motion, as set out below, was agreed. 

 

 ‘In West Sussex, some 27 million passenger journeys are made 
each year, many of which are made on commercial services.  This 

Council recognises the value of buses to the residents of West 
Sussex, not only in terms of transport for economic, leisure and 
education reasons, but also the social value they provide to our 

communities. 
 

This Council recognises that the promotion of bus services and the 
Council’s support for non-commercial services helps to improve the 
quality of life for many people and assists in delivering these 

priorities set out in the West Sussex Plan: 
 

(a)  Independence for later life: services that support older people 
in later life to live independently.  Availability of bus services 
enables older people to travel more without reliance on a car, 

avoiding the risks of social isolation that may come from a 
lack of ability to travel. 

 
(b)  Best start in life: Good bus service provision provides access 

to early education and education settings for children and 

allows for greater choice.  It also helps young people to 
access a wider choice of further education and employment. 

 
(c)  Strong, safe and sustainable place: Environmental 

sustainability can be achieved through modal shift to more 

use of bus services, reducing the number of cars on the road, 
which improves road safety and air quality. 

 
(d) A prosperous place: Good bus service provision forms a key 

sustainable infrastructure to support the economy and 

encourage the visitor economy, particularly into rural areas.  
A good bus network helps to realise the aim that 

opportunities should be available to all and to help businesses 
to thrive through more sustainable transport and a reduction 

in traffic congestion. 
 
Finally this Council recognises the hard work of the officers and the 

Executive Task and Finish Group during the recent bus review.  It 
calls on the Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure to 

make every effort to retain all current coverage of the services 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
under review by engaging with local members, communities and 
local businesses working through an Executive Task and Finish 

Group to develop a ‘Community Transport’ option for the county for 
current and future sustainability.’ 

 
95    Motion on Post Offices  

 

95.1 The following motion was moved by Mrs Mullins and seconded by 

Mr Jones: 

 

‘(a) This Council notes with concern that: 
 

On 11 October 2018 it was announced that 74 crown post 
offices across the UK, including those in Crawley and 
Worthing will be franchised to WH Smith.  Taken together, 

successive franchise announcements mean the loss of 60% of 
the crown office network since 2013. 

 
These privatisations are financed using millions of pounds of 

public money, despite the fact that the public has never 
endorsed the closures, indeed they have only ever protested 
against them.  Indeed, despite considerable campaigning 

over recent years with huge local public support (frequently 
with tens of thousands of local residents’ signing petitions) 

the crown post offices in Chichester, Bognor Regis, 
Littlehampton, Horsham, Shoreham-by-Sea and Haywards 
Heath were all closed despite the overwhelming will of the 

public that they remain open. 
 

In 2014/15 alone, £13 million of public money was used to 
pay compensation to get rid of post office staff, and the 
Communication Workers Union (CWU) estimates the staff 

compensation cost of the latest privatisation will be at least 
£30 million, affecting as it does, 800 staff. 

 
Reports by Consumer Focus (2012) and Citizens Advice 
(2016) have identified issues with the franchising of post 

offices to WH Smith including poor accessibility for people 
with mobility impairments, longer queuing times, and inferior 

service and advice on products. 
 

Franchising means the loss of jobs with good terms and 

conditions at the Post Office. WH Smith replaces experienced 
post office staff with new employees in typically minimum 

wage part time roles.  This is clearly bad for jobs in West 
Sussex and Post Office workers, many of whom are our local 
residents. 

 
The closure of our Crown post offices and relocation to a WH 

Smith, also means the loss of prime high street stores and 
this contributes to the demise of our town centres.  No 
explanation has been given as to why the profit-making 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
Crown post offices such as those of Crawley and Worthing are 

being handed to WH Smith. 
 

All Crown post offices are under threat of closure and/or 

franchising in future, if the latest round of privatisations are 
allowed to go ahead, it could prove the tipping point for the 

viability of the entire post office network. 
 

(b) This Council notes that on 15 November 2018 the majority of 

members on Crawley County Local Committee agreed to call 
on the Leader of this Council, in her role as the lead on 

Economy matters, to respond to the consultation on the 
relocation of Crawley Post Office on behalf of the County 
Council, opposing the relocation. 

 
(c) This Council believes that: 

 
Our post offices are a key asset for the community, and the 
expertise and experience of staff there is invaluable. 

 
The relentless franchising and closure programme of the 

profit-making Crown post offices, points to a lack of vision 
rather than the plan for growth and innovation that is 
needed. 

 
The Government should therefore halt these closures and 

bring together stakeholders, including the CWU, and industry 
experts to develop a new strategy that safeguards the future 
of the Post Office. 

 
This Council resolves to: 

 
(1) Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Government to 

raise concern about the apparent managed decline of the 
post office network and the impact on high streets across the 
UK as well as the service in the franchised premises, and the 

poor quality jobs that result; 
 

(2) Ask the Leader to respond to current consultations on the 
Post Office in Haywards Heath and Worthing to oppose the 
proposals; and 

 
(3) To join local campaigning to raise awareness of the value of 

our Post Office and the need for it to remain an asset of and 
for the people.’ 

 

95.2 An amendment was moved by Mrs Millson and seconded by Ms Lord 
as set out below: 

 
‘(a) This Council notes with concern that: 
 

On 11 October 2018 it was announced that 74 crown post 

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
offices across the UK, including those in Crawley and 
Worthing will be franchised to WH Smith.  Taken together, 

successive franchise announcements mean the loss of 60% of 
the crown office network since 2013. 

 
These privatisations are financed using millions of pounds of 
public money, despite the fact that the public has never 

endorsed the closures, indeed they have only ever protested 
against them.  Indeed, despite considerable campaigning 

over recent years with huge local public support (frequently 
with tens of thousands of local residents’ signing petitions) 
the crown post offices in Chichester, Bognor Regis, 

Littlehampton, Horsham, Shoreham-by-Sea and Haywards 
Heath were all closed despite the overwhelming will wish of 

the public that they remain open. 
 
In 2014/15 alone, £13 million of public money was used to 

pay compensation to get rid of post office staff, and the 
Communication Workers Union (CWU) estimates the staff 

compensation cost of the latest privatisation will be at least 
£30 million, affecting as it does, 800 staff. 

 
Reports by Consumer Focus (2012) and Citizens Advice 
(2016) have identified issues with the franchising of post 

offices to WH Smith including poor accessibility for people 
with mobility impairments, longer queuing times, and inferior 

service and advice on products. 
 
Franchising means the loss of jobs with good terms and 

conditions at the Post Office. WH Smith replaces experienced 
post office staff with new employees in typically minimum 

wage part time roles.  This is clearly bad for jobs in West 
Sussex and Post Office workers, many of whom are our local 
residents. 

 
The closure of our Crown post offices and relocation to a WH 

Smith, also means the loss of prime high street stores and 
this contributes to the demise of our town centres.  No 
explanation has been given as to why the profit-making 

Crown post offices such as those of Crawley and Worthing are 
being handed to WH Smith. 

 
All Crown post offices are under threat of closure and/or 
franchising in future, if the latest round of privatisations are 

allowed to go ahead, it could prove the tipping point for the 
viability of the entire post office network. 

 
(b) This Council notes that on 15 November 2018 the majority of 

members on Crawley County Local Committee agreed to call 

on the Leader of this Council, in her role as the lead on 
Economy matters, to respond to the consultation on the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
relocation of Crawley Post Office on behalf of the County 

Council, opposing the relocation. 
 
(c) This Council believes that: 

 
Our post offices are a key asset for the community, and the 

expertise and experience of the staff there is invaluable. 
 
The relentless franchising and closure programme of the 

profit-making Crown post offices, points to a lack of vision 
rather than the plan for growth and innovation that is 

needed. 
 
The Government should therefore halt these closures and 

bring together stakeholders, including the CWU, and industry 
experts to develop a new strategy that safeguards the future 

of the Post Office. 
 

This Council resolves to: 

 
(1) Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Government to 

raise concern about the apparent managed decline of the post 
office network and the impact on high streets across the UK 
as well as the service in the franchised premises and the poor 

quality jobs that result; 
 

(2) Ask the Leader to respond to current consultations on the 
Post Office in Haywards Heath and Worthing to focus on the 
principles set out in this motion oppose the proposals; 

and 
 

(3) To work join local campaigning to raise awareness of the 
value of our Post Office local network, and the need for it to 

remain in our communities an asset of and for the people.’ 
 
95.3 The amendment was carried. 

 

95.4 The motion, as amended and set out below, was agreed. 

 

‘(a) This Council notes with concern that: 
 

On 11 October 2018 it was announced that 74 crown post 

offices across the UK, including those in Crawley and 
Worthing will be franchised to WH Smith.  Taken together, 

successive franchise announcements mean the loss of 60% of 
the crown office network since 2013. 

 
These privatisations are financed using millions of pounds of 
public money, despite the fact that the public has never 

endorsed the closures, indeed they have only ever protested 
against them.  Indeed, despite considerable campaigning 

over recent years with huge local public support the crown 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
post offices in Chichester, Bognor Regis, Littlehampton, 
Horsham, Shoreham-by-Sea and Haywards Heath were all 

closed despite the wish of the public that they remain open. 
 

Reports by Consumer Focus (2012) and Citizens Advice 
(2016) have identified issues with the franchising of post 
offices to WH Smith including poor accessibility for people 

with mobility impairments, longer queuing times, and inferior 
service and advice on products. 

 
(b) This Council notes that on 15 November 2018 the majority of 

members on Crawley County Local Committee agreed to call 

on the Leader of this Council, in her role as the lead on 
Economy matters, to respond to the consultation on the 

relocation of Crawley Post Office on behalf of the County 
Council, opposing the relocation. 

 

(c) This Council believes that: 
 

Our post offices are a key asset for the community, and the 
expertise and experience of the staff is invaluable. 

 
The relentless franchising and closure programme of the 
profit-making Crown post offices, points to a lack of vision 

rather than the plan for growth and innovation that is 
needed. 

 
This Council resolves to: 
 

(1) Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Government to 
raise concern about the apparent managed decline of the 

post office network and the impact on high streets across the 
UK as well as the service in the franchised premises; 

 

(2) Ask the Leader to respond to current consultations on the 
Post Office in Haywards Heath and Worthing to focus on the 

principles set out in this motion; and 
 
(3) To work to raise awareness of the value of our Post Office 

local network, and the need for it to remain in our 

communities.’ 

 

96    Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel  
 

96.1 The Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel moved the report of 
the recent work of the Panel (pages 49 to 52). 

 

96.2 In response to a request from Mrs Arculus the Chairman of the 
Panel agreed to make sure all members were aware of the date of 

the EPIC award ceremony in 2019.  The Chairman also agreed to 
circulate to all members a briefing note on corporate parenting 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
which had been circulated to dual-hatted members following a 

request from Mrs Jones. 
 
96.3 Resolved - 

 
That the report be noted. 

 
97    Governance Committee: Delegation to other Local Authorities  

 

97.1 The Council considered a proposal that non-Executive committees 
should have the power to delegate functions to another local 

authority in the light of a report from the Governance Committee 
(page 53). 

 

97.2 Resolved – 
 

That the terms of reference of the Governance, Standards, 
Planning, Rights of Way and Regulation, Audit and Accounts 
Committees be amended to include the delegation set out in 

paragraph 3 of the report. 
 

98    Question Time  
 
98.1 Members asked questions of members of the Cabinet on matters 

relevant to their portfolios and asked questions of chairmen, as set 
out at Appendix 3.  This included questions on those matters 

contained within the Cabinet report (pages 55 to 66) and a 
supplementary report (supplement pages 1 and 2) and written 
questions and answers pursuant to Standing Order 2.38 (set out at 

Appendix 2). 
 

 
 

 
 
Chairman 

 
The Council rose at 4.15 pm 

 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
Interests 

 

Members declared interests as set out below.  All the interests listed below were 

personal but not pecuniary or prejudicial unless indicated. 
 

Item Member Nature of Interest 

Items 6(b) and 6(c) – 
Motions on Gatwick Airport 

 

Mr Barrett-Miles Member of Mid Sussex 
District Council 

Mrs Jones Member of Mid Sussex 
District Council and Burgess 

Hill Town Council 

Mr Lanzer Member of Crawley Borough 

Council 

Item 6(e) – Motion on Bus 

Services 

Mr Hillier Member of Haywards Heath 

Town Council 

Mr Smytherman Worthing Borough Council 

representative on Quality Bus 
Partnership 

Item 9 - QT All paragraphs 

 

Mr Bradbury Member of Mid Sussex 
District Council, Chairman of 
Building Heroes Education 

Foundation  and Trustee of 
Sussex Learning Trust 

Mrs Bridges Member of Adur District 
Council and Lancing Parish 

Council. Runs a club on 
behalf of 4Sight West Sussex 

Mrs Jones Member of Mid Sussex 
District Council and Burgess 
Hill Town Council 

Item 9 - (QT) paragraph 6 
(Network Rail Main Line 

Upgrade) 

Dr Dennis Annual rail season ticket 
holder between Horsham and 

London 

Item 9 - QT paragraph 14 

(West Sussex Crowd) 

Mr Smytherman Trustee of Coastal West 

Sussex MIND 

Item 9 - QT paragraph 15 

(Armed Forces and Veteran 
Breakfast Club) 

Ms Goldsmith Son in the military 

Item 9 – QT question on air 
quality 

Dr O’Kelly Member of Chichester District 
Council 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Written Questions: 14 December 2018 
 
1. Written question from Mr Jones for reply by the Leader 

 
Question 

 
Can the Leader please confirm how many Away Days have been held and 
attended by (a) the Cabinet and (b) the Executive Leadership Team during 

2018/19, and let me have a breakdown of the costs associated for each, and the 
venues where they were held. 

 
Answer 
 

(a) The Cabinet has had two away days during the year as follows; the 
Executive Leadership Team (ELT) were also in attendance. 

 

Date Cost venue 

9 October 2018 £290.83 Chichester yacht Club 

6 November 2018 £247.00 Chichester Yacht Club 

Total £537.83  

 

(b) ELT have held two away days (jointly with all Directors and with other 
senior officers): 

 

Date Cost Venue 

10/11 May 2018 £3,977.84 Roffey Park Institute 

15/16 November 2018 £5,048.50 Roffey Park Institute 

Total £9,026.34  

 

 
2. Written question from Mrs Mullins for reply by the Cabinet Member for 

Finance and Resources 

 
Question 

 
In the outturn 2016/17, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources agreed  a 

one-off £1.0m reserve entitled, ‘Counselling Services to Schools’, for the 2017/18 
academic year.  I understand that £0.56m was drawn down from the reserve and 
allocated to schools, through an application process.  Can the Cabinet Member 

confirm how much of that £1.0m reserve was not allocated to schools for 
counselling services, whether a counselling service for schools reserve still exists, 

and if not, what happened to the remaining funding? 
 
Answer 

 
During 2017/18, following an application process open to all maintained schools 

within the county, a total of £0.617m was drawn down from the £1.0m 
counselling reserve set aside following the full Council meeting in February 2017. 
As schools were expecting these monies to be one-off in 2017/18; no further 

application process has been carried out during 2018/19.  As a result, to date, no  
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 2



 

 

 
further funds have been drawn down this year and the remaining £0.383m is 
currently held in reserves. 
 

 
3. Written question from Mr S J Oakley for reply by the Cabinet Member for 

Finance and Resources 
 
Question 

 
Further to my written question for the 16 February 2018 full Council meeting 

regarding West Sussex County Council Pensions, from what resource were the 
annual £11.2m cash lump sums and the raised level (from 16.3% to 24.9%) of 
employer contributions funded?  

 
Answer 

 
Employer’s pension contribution is revenue expenditure and treated as the same 
as any another expenditure category in the budget setting process.  Any increase 

to employer’s contribution is pressure on the budget.  Likewise any reduction to 
employer’s contribution is a savings to the revenue budget. 

 
 

4. Written question from Mrs Mullins for reply by the Cabinet Member for 
Highways and Infrastructure 

 

Question 
 

Over five years ago a process was initiated to look at solutions to parking 
problems in our towns and villages.  So far there has been one full audit, carried 

out in Chichester, with a full report out to consultation, but no actions as yet 
taken and one partial audit, carried out in Crawley, with a very brief interim 
report, available for comment. 

 
(a) What was the final cost of the Road Space Audit for Chichester and how 

was it funded? 
 
(b) What is the estimated cost of the Road Space Audit for Crawley and how 

will it be funded? 
 

(c) What is the estimated cost of other road space audits in the county and 
how will they be funded? 

 

(d) What pressure is there, both now and in the future, on the finances of the 
Parking Account and the ability to finance other parking initiatives? 

 
Answer 
 

Road Space Audits (RSAs) are an innovative approach so there was some learning 
as the County Council implemented a new way of thinking about parking and road 

space.  Originally, the service was trying to manage the work alongside business 
as usual, which has not proved to be sustainable, and a new post has been  

Page 26

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 2



 

 

 
created in the last six months to create capacity.  The County Council has worked 
hard to keep stakeholders on board; this inevitably builds in more time but is 
helpful in the long run in creating proposals that have better prospects of local 

support.  
 

(a) The feasibility work that led to the production of the RSA document for 
Chichester cost £32,000.  The design/consultation costs for the first stage 
of the RSA (Parking Management Plan) will cost £50,000.  The full £82,000 

is funded from the County Council’s On-Street Parking Account. 
 

(b) To date, feasibility work leading to the production of a draft RSA for 
Crawley has cost £36,000 (including VAT).  It is expected that design/ 
consultation costs will replicate those of Chichester and come from the 

same account.  The production of a draft design for a parking plan in Manor 
Royal (Mrs Mullins’ division) has been carried out in-house and informal 

consultation is currently being carried out by the Manor Royal Business 
Improvement District with technical input from County Council officers. 

(c) In each area, £110,000 has been allocated from the On-Street Parking 

Account - £60,000 to cover feasibility and £50,000 to cover design/ 
consultation for Parking Management Plans.  The one-off costs of 

implementing any parking management plans (e.g. signs and lines) may be 
met from the following sources: 

  
 Capital funding 

 Additional income generated from new parking controls implemented 
 Section 106 funds 
 Community Infrastructure Levy 

 Local Enterprise Partnership Growth Programme Funding 
 

(d) The On-Street Parking Account is regularly monitored and profiled in order 
to ensure that it does not fall into deficit.  The costs of running the Civil 

Parking Enforcement Service (including enforcement, maintenance and 
development) will continue to be met from that account and on-street 
parking charges will also be reviewed on an annual basis.  Officers are 

equally keen to identify areas for improvement where necessary.  Each 
Agency Agreement is under continuous review in order to ensure that every 

opportunity is taken to reduce costs and improve the efficiency of the 
service.  As an example, the recent introduction of a new back office case 
management system (Chipside) in Chichester District is expected to result 

in significant processing efficiencies and annual savings of £15,000 per 
year, with further savings projected through the introduction of virtual 

permits.  Chipside was also introduced in Crawley Borough Council in April 
2017 and Mid Sussex in January 2018 and it is hoped that the remaining 

district/borough councils in West Sussex will follow suit over the next two to 
three years.  Coupled with other opportunities, such as development of 
contactless on-street parking payments (with an associated reduction in 

cash collection costs) and scaling down the production/distribution of 
parking vouchers, it is expected that a further efficiency saving of £250,000 

could be achieved countywide over the next one to two years. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Question Time: 14 December 2018 
 
Members asked questions of members the Cabinet and chairmen as set out below.  

In instances where a Cabinet Member, the Leader or a chairman undertook to 
take follow-up action, this is also noted below. 

 
Best Start in Life 
 

Paragraph 4, Pause Programme (Cabinet Member for Children and Young People), 
from Mr Baldwin. 

 
A Prosperous Place 
 

Paragraph 6, Network Rail Main Line (Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Infrastructure), from Mr Bradford, Dr Dennis, Mrs Dennis and Dr Walsh. 

 
In response to a request from Mr Bradford, the Cabinet Member agreed to press 
Govia Thameslink to extend the Thameslink service from Horsham to Chichester.  

 
In response to a request from Dr Dennis the Cabinet Member agreed to ask 

Network Rail if, rather than the complex junction plans for East Croydon, they 
would consider adopting the Japanese model of simple, high frequency routes with 

passengers changing trains where necessary. 
 
In response to a request from Mrs Dennis, the Cabinet Member agreed to write to 

Network Rail to urge them to try to ensure there is a minimum impact to current 
services on the Brighton Main Line and that planning in relation to the upgrade 

proposals is realistic. 
 
In response to a request from Dr Walsh that, in responding to the Brighton Main 

Line report, the Council should support the suggestion of the development of the 
new Arundel chord section of railway line which would open up the west coastway 

route and increase the capacity of the Arun Valley line and link to lines into 
Waterloo, the Cabinet Member agreed to do so. 
 

A Strong, Safe and Sustainable Place 
 

Paragraph 15, Armed Forces and Veteran Breakfast Club (Leader/Cabinet Member 
for Safer, Stronger Communities), from Mr Buckland, Mr Edwards, Mr Quinn and 
Dr Walsh. 

 
In response to a request from Mr Buckland for consideration to be given to 

working jointly with borough and district councils to provide dedicated housing for 
veterans, the Leader agreed to discuss possible options with the Cabinet Member 
for Safer, Stronger Communities and respond to Mr Buckland. 

 
A Council that works for the Community 

 
Paragraph 26, Growth Deals (Leader/Economy), from Mr Jupp. 
 

Finance Settlement (Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources), from 
Mrs Purnell and Dr Walsh. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 3



 

 

 
Local Government Association Peer Challenge (Leader), from Mr Crow and 
Mrs Mullins. 
 

 
 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 3



 

 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 to 2022/23, Revenue 
Budget 2019/20, Capital Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 and Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 

 
Executive Summary  

 
This report sets out how the balanced budget for 2019/20 supports the delivery of 
the key priorities within ‘The West Sussex Plan’, which are a best start in life, a 

prosperous place, a strong, safe and sustainable place, independence for 

later life and being a council that works for the community.  This budget 

provides value for money and forms part of the approach for financial stability 
over the medium to long term.  The report also provides an update on the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the following three year period.  Despite 

continuous reductions in government funding, the Council continues to make 
progress in delivering its ambitions on behalf of our residents, whilst achieving 

this within the resources available to our organisation.   
 
Within the revenue budget for 2019/20, to support the Best Start in Life and 

Independence for Later Life aims, additional funding is proposed for both 
younger and older residents across the county.  The total new growth for Children 

and Young People is £6.1m, whilst for Adults and Health is £7.3m which provides 
additional funding to meet the existing and ongoing demands placed upon these 
services.  

 
The proposed budget utilises the flexibility introduced by the finance settlement 

last year, and confirmed for a further year in the final Local Government Finance 
Settlement for next year, of permitting an extra 1% core council tax rise, allowing 
an increase of up to 2.99% before requiring a referendum. Using the additional 

flexibility of an extra 1% increase does provide some much needed certainty on 
funding, at a time when the Government’s future plans over the funding support it 

provides are very uncertain.  The Government is currently reviewing the method 
behind funding allocations (the Fair Funding Review), which is expected to be 
implemented in 2020/21. 

   
The settlement again confirmed that the Adult Social Care (ASC) precept 

continues to apply, with the flexibility to raise the precept by no more than an 
extra 6% over the three year period 2017/18 to 2019/20.  The County Council 
has previously levied 4% for the ASC, meaning it has the capacity to levy a 

further 2% in 2019/20, at which point the current precept arrangements come to 
an end.   

 
The County Council continues to focus on the areas which will make the biggest 
difference to the lives of its residents and the future prosperity of the county.  

However, to have a realistic chance of achieving its ambitious objectives in the 
context of the continuing reduction in public finances, as well as meeting our 

statutory responsibilities, a council tax rise of 4.99% is proposed for 2019/20.  
 

The Council proposes to protect Adults’ Social Care services via providing 
additional funds, through this 2% rise in the Adults’ Social Care precept element 
of the council tax.  The 2019/20 budget therefore proposes to include the 2% 

precept specifically for Adult Social Care, which continues to support the long- 
term future of social care provision for West Sussex, for the benefit of the  

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
increasing number of local residents who rely on our support.  The Government 
has also provided some additional funds, via the improved Better Care Fund 
(iBCF), but adequate funding for all social care continues to be a major concern 

over the longer term.   
 

There has been no information from the Government about the status of the Adult 
Social Care Levy after 2019/20, and therefore future council tax assumptions 
contained in the following years do not include any additional sums arising from 

further increases to the Levy.  The Government has promised to bring out its 
green paper on the future of adult social care ‘soon’ but no firm date has been 

announced. 
 
Net revenue expenditure of £574.920m is proposed for 2019/20, an increase of 

£41.0m (7.7%) compared with 2018/19.  The increase reflects the expected 
additional sum through the successful business rate pilot of up to £19.1m which 

will be used to fund the digital infrastructure project in conjunction with the 
districts and boroughs.  The budget also reflects spending pressures such as 
pay/prices, costs arising from the National Living Wage and the pressures faced in 

Adults’ and Children’s Social Care Services.  
 

A number of Cabinet-level decisions have already been published on key savings 
proposals, in order to achieve a balanced budget.  This is in keeping with the 

approach to make savings decisions as early as possible, providing as much notice 
as possible to those affected and maximising the prospect for saving delivery.  
The savings included in these decisions form a part of the budget for 2019/20 and 

are set out in Appendix 3 to Annex 1 (enclosed with the agenda). 
 

From 2019/20, the Council is required to prepare a separate Capital Strategy, 
setting out a high-level, long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 

services.  Details regarding the Council’s five year capital programme are set out 
in the Capital Strategy (Annex 2(a)) which is presented alongside the budget 

report for Council approval.   
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 is also included within the 

budget report, as set out in Annex 2(b). 
 

Section One: Introduction 

 

1.1 Despite the difficult financial context that faces West Sussex County 
Council, we have continued to focus our resources on the key priorities 

identified in the approved West Sussex Plan, which sets out our ambition 
and vision for the residents and communities of West Sussex.   
 

1.2 As part of the Chancellor’s budget announcement at the end of October, the 
Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) produced an update of its economic 

outlook.  OBR stated that “the big picture is one of relatively steady growth 
of around 1½ per cent a year. We are slightly more pessimistic than the 

average of external forecasters, particularly in the later years.”  On 
inflation, OBR predicted it would fall back in 2019 as the impact of higher 
oil prices fades and thanks to policy measures on duties and energy prices.  

On public finances, overall OBR thought there had been little change since  

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
its previous estimates in March, “but this reflects the offsetting effects of a 
significant underlying improvement in the public finances and the 
Government’s decision to use almost all that improvement to boost public 

spending”.  The increased public spending relates, in large part, to the 
announcement over the summer of extra investment in the NHS of £20bn. 

 
1.3 Paul Johnson, the head of the Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS), in his 

analysis of the budget stated that “many public services are going to feel 

squeezed for some time to come. [Government] Cuts are not about to be 
reversed”.  

 
1.4 Since 2010, local authorities have faced unprecedented challenges on their 

finances.  The Institute of Fiscal Studies identified that Councils’ spending 
on services fell around 18% (or 22% per person) in real-terms between 
2009/10 and 2015/16.  Reductions to our core financial support are evident 

in 2019/20, with the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) element of our funding 
from the Government now reduced to £0. This compares with £92.6m in 

RSG support five years ago, in 2014/15.  
 

1.5 The current financial climate has presented the Council with difficult fiscal 

choices when setting the budget for 2019/20 and looking ahead across the 
MTFS period.  Collectively, we have scrutinised the approach to delivering 

services to our residents, focusing on the policy outcomes we want to 
achieve, rather than the existing structures.  A significant amount of 
analysis and work has informed these savings, supporting our aspiration 

that this County Council can live within its means, provides value for money 
and aims to be financially stable over the medium to long term.  In 

developing efficiency proposals we have balanced the budget for 2019/20 
without reliance on the use of our financial reserves.  
 

1.6 During the summer and autumn of 2018, the Executive Leadership Team 
(ELT) and the Cabinet have been preparing the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) for 2019/20 to 2022/23.  The MTFS was then reviewed by 
the Performance and Finance Select Committee on 5 October 2018, with an 

additional update on 22 November 2018.  These papers were available in 
the public arena in a timely fashion.   

 
Section Two: National Context for Public Finances 

 
2.1 Whilst the final finance settlement for local authorities covering 2019/20 is 

outlined in paragraph 2.10 below, the funding for 2020/21 onwards is much 

less certain.  The Autumn Budget from the Chancellor, announced on 31 
October 2018, contained little detail over future funding prospects after 31 

March 2020, when spending allocations as set out in the current Spending 
Review come to an end.  
 

2.2 However, there were a number of announcements made by the Chancellor 
in the Budget relating to extra one-off funding nationally: 

 
Social Care Funding 

 

 £650m additional grant funding for adult social care in 2019/20.  This  

Page 33

Agenda Item 5

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/13066
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/13066


 

 

 
consists of £410m for both Adults and Children’s Social Care and £240m 
solely for Adults, the latter sum being a repeat in 2019/20 of an 
allocation made for 2018/19 to assist with ‘winter pressures’ and the 

issue of bed blocking.   

With regard to the £410m, the Budget states that “where necessary, 
local councils should use this funding to ensure that adult social care 
pressures do not create additional demand on the NHS. Local councils 

can also use it to improve their social care offer for older people, people 
with disabilities and children.”   

As part of the finance settlement the Government has announced 
allocations with the total to West Sussex being £8.9m. Of this total 

£3.3m is conditional on local authorities alleviating winter pressures on 
the NHS. 

Children’s Service Programme 

 

 £84m on children’s service programme, over five years, to be payable to 
20 authorities (yet to be named) and targeted at helping more children 
stay home with their families. 

Highways Maintenance 

 

 £420m in 2018/19 for potholes that will be allocated to highways 
authorities, resulting in an additional £6.083m for the County.  This 

allocation will need to be spent by the end of March 2019 i.e. in the 
current financial year.  Plans are underway regarding its use to 

maximise benefit. 

Schools Capital  

 
 Schools: £400m in-year increase in capital funding to each school, 

averaging £10,000 for primary and £50,000 for secondary schools.  

Further details are awaited on the allocation of this funding and the 
share to West Sussex schools.  

 
2.3 Adult social care – The additional funds announced in the budget 

statement are welcomed but are one-off only.  The budget also stated that    

“In the longer term, the government is committed to putting social care on 
a fairer and more sustainable footing and will set out proposals for adult 

social care in the forthcoming green paper”.  We still await the 
Government’s proposals and a firm commitment to a date for the Green 
Paper.    

 
2.4 The Local Government Association recently announced its own consultation 

on how to pay for Adults Social care. The LGA estimates that adult social 
care services face a £3.5 billion funding gap by 2025, just to maintain 
existing standards of care, while latest figures show that councils in England 

receive 1.8 million new requests for adult social care a year – the 
equivalent of nearly 5,000 a day. 

 
2.5 A new national funding formula for schools was introduced in 2018/19,  

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
with the county’s schools receiving an additional £12.8m (3%) as a result. 
In July 2018 it was announced that the units of funding used to calculate 
the amount of monies allocated to schools in West Sussex is set to rise in 

2019/20 by 1.7% to £3,741 for primary school pupils and by 2.8% to 
£4,889 for secondary age pupils.  This equates to an additional £9.9m 

(2.2%) for West Sussex schools next year.  Despite this increase our 
schools remain amongst the lowest funded in the country.  We will 
therefore continue to make the case to central government of the urgent 

need for more resources for our schools. 
 

2.6 In recognition of the cost pressures that Local Authorities are experiencing 
on the high needs element of the DSG, the Secretary of State for Education 
announced as part of the DSG settlement on 17 December 2018 an 

additional £250m of high needs funding to be paid over two years (2018/19 
and 2019/20).  As a result, West Sussex is set to receive a further £1.8m 

in both of these years.  
 

2.7 Within Public Health, the council also needed to plan for the consequences 

of the Government’s announcement in the Autumn Statement 2015 that 
local authorities “funding for public health would be reduced by an average 

of 3.9% in real terms per annum until 2020”.  For 2019/20 this will result in 
a further cut of £0.9m to the Public Health Grant.    

 
2.8 The two-year national pay deal for NJC staff agreed last year has also 

added to the budget pressures we face for 2019/20.  A number of lower 

grades in particular are benefitting from significant increases and 
amalgamation of grades.  Despite the Government no longer applying a 

formal public sector pay cap, it has not provided additional funding in 
support of the higher wage settlement.  Therefore local authorities will have 
to accommodate this extra spending pressure from within the reducing 

funding resources from central government.   
 

2.9 Due to changes announced by HM Treasury in September, the discount rate 
for unfunded public sector pension schemes including NHS, Teachers, Police 
and Fire has changed. For the Fire Service, this, combined with the earlier 

announcement at Budget 2016 (a reduction in the discount rate from 3% to 
2.8%), has resulted in a reduction to the discount rate from 3% to 2.4%, 

and has the effect of increasing the employer contributions (to include ill-
health costs) from 17.6% to 30.2% from April 2019. HM Treasury have 
provided one off grant funding to mitigate the impact for 2019/20, with 

funding beyond 2019/20 being subject to the Spending Review. 
 

2.10 Key points confirmed in the final Local Government Finance Settlement 

announced on 29 January 2019 are: 
 

 A continuation of the additional flexibility to raise the council tax from 
the current 2% before a referendum is required to 3%, reflecting the 

inflationary pressures being faced by the Local Government sector; and 
 

 The Government published two further consultations: on reforms to the 

business rates retention system and the new approach to distributing  
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
funding through the Review of Relative Needs and Resources.  Both will 
impact on our future funding from 1 April 2020. 

 

 The Government has cancelled our ‘negative’ RSG allocation of minus 
£2.6m.  Nevertheless, the County Council has suffered a reduction in 

the RSG from £12.1m in 2018/19 to £0m for 2019/20 and therefore no 
longer receives any Revenue Support Grant from the Government 
towards the services it provides for the residents and communities of 

West Sussex.   
 

 The West Sussex bid (made jointly with all our District and Boroughs) to 
become a pilot area in 2019/20 for 75% business rate retention has 
been accepted.  This offers a potential gain of up to £19.1m for one-

year, though further work needs to be done to confirm this figure.  The 
funds will be used collaboratively with other authorities, on the basis of 

the submission to the Government that an identified project offering 
economic benefit would be funded, that may not otherwise proceed.  
This gain is therefore not able to be applied to fund any budget shortfall. 

All of the extra business rates growth retained (estimated at £19.1m for 

2019/20) will be pooled by participating local authorities and used to 

make a strategic investment in the county’s economic infrastructure.  It 
is anticipated the funds will be applied to enhance the digital 

infrastructure and connectivity for business and residents in the county. 
 

2.11 The Government also publishes, within the Settlement, what it calls an 

analysis of ‘spending power’ by each authority.  This makes assumptions 
around each authority’s total resources, including local council tax funding 
and combines these with the funding allocations made by the Government.  

The overall total is then termed the ‘spending power’.  This calculation 
shows West Sussex increasing its spending power by £26.2m or 4.8% in 

2019/20, compared with a national change of 2.8%.   
 

2.12 This analysis by the Government includes not only government grant but 

also assumptions it makes on additional funds raised from council tax 
including the levels of increase in the tax base and of the tax itself.  West 

Sussex’s better than average tax base, and funds raised via the Adults 
Social Care Levy, help place West Sussex County Council in a better 
position than many other comparable authorities on this analysis.  

However, on the other hand it must be recognised that West Sussex also 
faces considerable spending pressures.  Funds raised for the Care Levy 
must be applied to the additional budget pressures we face on Adults Social 

care.  We have a high and increasing proportion over 65 year olds within 
the County.  Our proportion of over 65 year olds is 22.6%, compared with 

the national average of 18% of the population.  
 

2.13 Due to the absence of any Spending Review plans after 31 March 2020, and 

despite the announcement of a Fair Funding consultation, there is obviously 
uncertainty surrounding the future government funding available for 

public services after 2020.  The authority accepted the offer of a four year 
settlement from the Government covering the period 2016/17 to 2019/20, 
and with this budget this arrangement now comes to an end.  The 

Government is looking to overhaul the funding system for local authorities  

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
from 1 April 2020 onwards, via its Fair Funding Review and changes to the 
business rate retention scheme, which adds yet further uncertainty into 
future funding.  

 
2.14 Economic uncertainty also exists until the details are clearer on the UK’s 

arrangements to leave the EU and what impact it may have on public 
finances. 

 
Section Three: Local Context – The West Sussex Plan and our Budget 

 
The West Sussex Plan Priorities 

 
3.1 Paragraphs 3.2 to 3.37 describe how the budget for 2019/20 supports the 

agreed aims of the County Council from the West Sussex Plan agreed by 
the Council in October 2017.  Our budget for 2019/20 sets out to support 

the themes in the West Sussex Plan as per the chart below: 
  
Chart 1:  How the budget supports our aims 

 

 
 

Best Start in Life 

 
3.2 As set out in the West Sussex Plan, the children born and being raised in 

West Sussex are our future – we look to them for a sustainable one. 

Therefore it is only right that children are at the centre of everything we do. 
It is our job to make sure every child in West Sussex is given the 

opportunity to reach their potential. We will give them the foundations they 
need to be able to do that. In one way or another we are there at every 
stage of their lives and even before; supporting parents and families.  It is  

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
also vital that every school in the county offers each and every child the 
education he or she deserves.  

 

3.3 We know that school is not just about education but about the wraparound 

support and care our schools provide. Children and young people cannot 
thrive unless they feel safe and secure at home. It is our duty to protect 

those children and young people, supporting them to cope with life’s 
pressures and supporting their families to make sure they are able to enjoy 
a childhood free from harm.  

 

3.4 The key financial challenges facing the Council in relation to achieving our 
target outcomes for a Best Start in Life are set out in the following 

paragraphs. 
 

Education and Funding for High Needs 

 

3.5 2019/20 is the second year of the new national funding formula for 
mainstream schools under the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  Although 

West Sussex schools are set to gain £9.9m (2.2%) through an increase in 
the pupil led units of funding within the formula, they are also set to lose 
£2m through a change in the calculation of the growth factor element of the 

new formula next year.  School budgets continue to be under pressure in 
2019/20 due, in the main, to the full year effect of the 3.5% teachers’ pay 

award in September 2018, a proposed increase in the teachers pensions 
employers contribution rate from 16.48% to 23.6% in September 2019, 
and expected increases in energy costs of up to 15% for electricity and 

23% for gas.  Although the Government has announced that there will be 
additional specific funding available to meet the costs of the pay award 

above 1% and the increased employer pension rates there is no guarantee 
that this will be cost neutral at an individual school level. 
 

3.6 Funding pressures affecting the High Needs Block within the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG) have continued to grow over the last four years since 

the implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014 resulting in 
increased requests for: 

 
 Education Health and Care Needs Assessments (EHCNAs) 
 Pre-16 specialist placements (special schools, Special Support Centres 

(SSCs) and Independent and Non-Maintained Special Schools (INMSS)) 
 Post-16 HN placements in special schools, colleges of Further Education 

or Independent Specialist Providers (ISP). 
 Personal budgets and exceptional needs expenditure to meet very 

complex needs.  

 
3.7 Our High Needs funding from the Department for Education rose by £1.2m 

(1.6%) in 2018/19 and is set to rise by a further £3m (3.6%) in 2019/20. 
These funding increases are not sufficient to meet the increasing costs of 
providing for the number of children with education health and care plans 

(EHCPs). In March 2015, 3,423 children and young people in West Sussex 
had EHCPs and by March 2018 this number had risen by 43% to 4,912 - an 

increase of 1,489; 515 in 2015/16, 573 in 2016/17 and 401 in 2017/18.  In  

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
the first six months of 2018/19 these numbers have risen by a further 184. 
 

3.8 With limited funds now remaining in DSG reserves this shortfall in DSG 

funding is beginning to place significant pressure on the Local Authority 
budget from 2019/20 onwards, of an estimated £6.0m per annum.  Recent 

research has shown that 94% of surveyed County Councils are expecting a 
deficit on their DSG High Needs block this year, and therefore the Council, 
together with other Local Authorities from the Societies of County 

Treasurers and the Society of London Treasurers, has asked the 
Department for Education to carry out a post-implementation review of the 

Children and Families Act 2014 and to provide a more sustainable level of 
funding for the longer term in order to properly resource its policy 
objectives. 

 
3.9 In the meantime, the Council continues to adopt a long-term approach to 

this issue. For instance, we will continue to fund a range of initiatives within 
our developing Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Strategy 
including increasing the offer of therapies in our Special Schools and the 

creation of additional Special Support Centres (SSCs) in our mainstream 
schools. These initiatives will help to minimise growth in SEND demand by 

targeted early intervention; develop new SEND places (particularly with 
mainstream education providers) within the county and make sure funding 
is in place to support the transport needs for those children with particular 

requirements, ensuring their ability to access education throughout their 
time at school. 

 
Children’s Social Care 

 

3.10 A key element of our budget supports the critical work of our children’s 
social care workforce and structures.  This is an area where there is a 

national shortage of qualified staff, which is among the reasons why 
caseloads locally have risen to unsustainable levels.  As a result we will 
provide an increase in investment of £5.5m in 2019/20.  This is in 

recognition of the continuing challenges faced by a small number of the 
younger residents and their families in West Sussex and to ensure that the 

County Council continues to play a key role in helping them to be safe and 
secure, especially when our looked after children leave care. 
 

3.11 To help facilitate the growth in Children’s social care, a more targeted 
approach is being adopted that identifies and works with children and 

families, often at the earliest possible ages, to support their development 
and ensure their future is as bright as possible, and that they are able to 
live independent lives.  In that way the new service will retain the core 

strengths of the existing provision and continue to deliver the outcomes 
that the County Council needs, despite the reduction in resources. 

 
3.12 Building on foundations that have been laid in 2018/19, we will, during the 

course of the next financial year, continue implementing our Commissioning 

Strategy for Children’s Social Care. The strategy aims to improve our 
placement planning arrangements, partly by guiding our supply chain on 

the nature of the care solutions we require over the long-term and partly 
with the objective of enhancing market management.  Currently around  

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
40% of placements are purchased externally, the average cost of which has 
risen by approaching 30% since 2014/15.  Consequently by commissioning 
from the market more effectively, there is obvious potential to deliver 

greater value for money.  This will also provide natural opportunity to 
assess how best to utilise the residential units that the County Council 

operates, taking into account care needs, market conditions and cost 
effectiveness. 

 
A Prosperous Place 

 

3.13 For West Sussex to continue to thrive we know we need to support our 
businesses. We have a wonderful diverse business community here in West 
Sussex; something we should celebrate in supporting them to stay and 

grow here. To do this we need to put in place support to ensure this is a 
place where doing business works and works well, contributing to the 

employment opportunities for local residents.   
 
3.14 Working with our District and Borough partners is crucial in our 

determination to support the business community. That means attracting 
businesses and people who want to work in our county and then giving 

them the tools they need to help them grow their businesses. 
 
3.15 Some of the key areas in relation to achieving our target outcomes for a 

Prosperous Place are set out in the following paragraphs. 
 

Highways and Infrastructure 

 
3.16 Our roads and highways are a key element of the supporting infrastructure 

needed for economic growth.  Alongside the significant (£189m over five 
years) capital investment in the Highways & Infrastructure portfolio, we will 

invest over £8m of revenue funding, per annum, in highways support and 
maintenance.   
 

3.17 Developing proposals to improve infrastructure and bid for other sources of 
funding.  This work will require sufficient resource to produce feasibility 

studies, enabling the Council to develop sound project proposals for 
submission for funding. 
 
75% Business Rate Pilot 

 

3.18 The successful West Sussex business rate pilot offers a potential gain of up 
to £19m for one-year.  All of the extra business rates growth will be pooled 
by participating local authorities and used to make a strategic investment in 

the county’s economic infrastructure.  It is anticipated the funds will be 
applied to enhance the digital infrastructure and connectivity for businesses 

and residents in the county. 
 

A Strong, Safe and Sustainable Place 

 
3.19 We know we are only as strong as our communities. To make real change 

in our communities we need to empower those living in them to make 
changes themselves.   There are so many examples of our communities  

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
working brilliantly to support each other and to solve issues that are unique 
to them, so we need to continue to nurture and support this work.  

 

3.20 Some of the key financial challenges facing the Council in relation to 
achieving our target outcomes for a Strong, Safe and Sustainable Place are 

set out in the following paragraphs. 
 

Waste and Recycling 

 
3.21 Over £60m of our net revenue budget is dedicated to supporting our waste 

disposal and recycling infrastructure.   
 
3.22 The 2017/18 Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

performance statistics have just been released and these show that our 
recycling rates have significantly improved over the past 12 months.  

However, this is largely due to a strong wood recycling market which is 
volatile and could easily be affected in future years should this market fall 
away.  Our continuing aim is to act in a sustainable way and minimise the 

use of landfill sites because of their cost and environmental impact.  Whilst 
the statistics show that the amount delivered to landfill has significantly 

reduced the county still ranks 29th out of 31 disposal authorities and 
therefore represents a significant opportunity for improvement. 
 

3.23 Our efficiency programme includes a number of proposals; from simple 
things like more black bag sorting at Household Waste Recycling sites 

(separating out more recyclable material), to continuing our work to ensure 
more waste can be treated as Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF); to working with 
our District and Borough partners on how our waste collection frequencies 

can incentivise a greater level of recycling.  Working with the West Sussex 
Waste Partnership (WSWP), a strategy will be developed to focus on not 

only sustaining current performance but also the delivery of any future 
targets.  These targets are likely to be the achievement of 55% recycling by 
2025 and 65% by 2035.   The WSWP is looking to tackle food waste in the 

first instance through its Fight Against Food Waste campaign.  As 70% of 

food waste is avoidable, our strategy is to try and prevent it from being 
wasted in the first place.  Waste prevention is the preferred solution as it is 

more economical and sustainable.  Alongside the food waste prevention 
campaign, the WSWP is looking to undertake trials of separate food waste 

collections to further reduce the amount of waste we send to landfill. 
 

Sustainable Green Energy 

 
3.24 Alongside this focus on waste, our proposed spending will continue to 

enhance plans for developing other sustainable technologies; particularly 

solar energy and battery storage for power.  Our capital programme will 
provide the means by which the investment in this technology can take 

place and our revenue budget incorporates the projected benefit both from 
lower energy bills and also extra revenue income from the sale of 

electricity. This includes direct revenue savings to some of our schools 
where the installation of solar panels is technically feasible.  We are one of 
the most forward thinking counties in the country in undertaking this 

important investment. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Independence for Later Life 

 
3.25 In West Sussex we have an ageing population which will continue to grow.  

During the next 10 years it is forecast that the number of people at age 

65+ will rise by over 40,000, which will result in this group representing 
around 26% of the population compared to the current 23%.  Moreover, 

the majority of that increase will be at age 75+, which is the point when 
people’s care needs become significantly more expensive to meet.  

 

3.26 As a County Council we welcome the opportunity to work creatively and 

closely with our partners to support and look after our older community to 
help them stay independent for longer. We will work with our communities 

to embrace technology now, and in the future, to continue to develop and 
grow the support that we, as a community, are able to offer our older 
residents. Our ambition is that West Sussex will continue to be a great 

place to grow older. 
 

3.27 Some of the key financial challenges facing the Council in relation to 
achieving our target outcomes for Independence for Later Life are set out in 
the following paragraphs. 

 
Adult Social Care 

 
3.28 The funds from the Adult Social Care precept will continue to be invested in 

this critical area.  These will be supplemented with additional resources 

from the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF), which will enable greater 
investment in technology, carer support and falls prevention.  Allied to 

demand management reduction initiatives which are part of the Adult Social 
Care Improvement Plan, these will aim to promote independence and so 
keep residents within community settings for longer. 

 
3.29 The County Council has invested in all of these areas over the last few 

years.  We believe we are now starting to see the benefits of this 
investment with the proportion of older people receiving formal social care 
per head of population now showing a downwards trajectory. In 2019/20 

this should allow us to absorb demand pressures of £2m, so reducing the 
level of increase that is necessary in the Adults and Health portfolio.  We 

will continue to monitor this area closely but if we can support the 
management of demand, in line with residents’ wishes to be independent 
for longer, then we believe it will help ease the level of financial pressure 

seen every year on this, the largest, element of the Council’s budget.  
 

3.30 We will also continue to work with our Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and other NHS partners to ensure better outcomes for residents, 
including in respect of Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs).  This is being 

supported by funding from the iBCF, which is promoting a greater system-
wide approach based on recognition that we all serve the same community. 

 
A Council that Works for the Community 

 

3.31 The purpose of the County Council is to serve the people living and working 

in West Sussex as well as visitors. We are working closely with partners,  

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
other local councils, the health service and other organisations, to continue 
to improve the services our residents receive. 

 

3.32 Some of the key financial challenges facing the Council in relation to 
achieving our target outcomes for a Council that Works for our Community 

are set out in the following paragraphs. 
 
3.33 Our spending will aim to ensure the long-term financial health of the County 

Council, focusing on the priorities contained within the approved West 
Sussex Plan. Our efficiency savings have focused on outputs – how we can 

maintain or improve the outcomes for our residents by organising ourselves 
and collaborating with partners in new and innovative ways.   

 

3.34 We recognise the need to control our costs.  We have an extensive 
programme of work underway to review the value for money of our existing 

contracts and to identify where savings might be possible, using the latest 
tools and techniques.   

 

3.35 We are continuing to review our existing income generation activities with 
the aim of aligning them more closely to achieving our priority outcomes as 

set out in the West Sussex Plan.  This work has already identified 
opportunities and we will continue to examine, as well as learn from other 

local authorities, where additional progress can be made. 
 
3.36 This budget continues to provide for local communities to become even 

more engaged in determining how local projects can be agreed and funded 
through a crowd-funding platform. 

 
3.37 Finally, this budget will give us the means to look at and potentially re-

purpose some of our key community buildings.  We are committed to 

ensuring the best use of our community assets; that they can be used 
(where feasible) for several purposes and so become vibrant place hubs.  In 

doing so, we are likely to be able to reduce usage, or potentially dispose, of 
some of our asset base, making savings whilst using our capital funding to 
modernise retained parts of the estate. 

 
Section Four: Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23 

 
2018/19 Budget Position 

 

4.1 Demand pressures, particularly within social care and home to school 
transport, are a significant factor in the current financial year.  Our 2018/19 

in-year budget position is showing a forecast overspend by the year end of 
around £0.6m [0.1% of net budget for 2018/19], after mitigating actions 
have been taken.  Further work will continue over the remainder of the year 

with the aim of balancing this position.   
 

4.2 It is proposed that £0.750m will be made available as transitional funding 
to continue to work closely with our current homeless charities to explore 
new initiatives and to ensure an effective move to the newly commissioned 

arrangements.  This will be funded from resources set aside, as part of the  
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
2018/19 budget, to progress joint initiatives with the Districts and Borough 

Councils for improving social mobility and preventing homelessness.  
 

4.3 The demand pressures experienced by our services are reflected in our 
MTFS planning, as set out in paragraphs 4.6 to 4.9. 

 
Next Four Financial Years: 2019/20 to 2022/23 

 

4.4 A gross budget gap of around £145m was previously reported to the 

Performance and Finance Select Committee at its October meeting.  This 
estimate was before either any increase to council tax, or any budgetary 
savings by the County Council were included.  This figure dropped to 

£92.4m when factoring in a council tax rise over the four year period.  This 
is set out in Table 1.  Note, that 2020/21 onwards are shaded in the 

following tables as they are beyond the current fixed settlement period. 
 

Table 1: Movement in Budget Gap – from October MTFS 
 

 2019/20 

£m 

2020/21 

£m 

2021/22 

£m 

2022/23 

£m 

Total 

£m 

October PFSC gross 

budget gap 

50.9 39.2 28.7 26.3 145.1 

Less Council Tax increase -22.0 -9.7 -10.3 -10.7 -52.7 

Gap before savings 28.9 29.5 18.4 15.6 92.4 

Less other changes -5.5 -0.5 -1.4 0.1 -7.3 

Less savings -23.4 -16.1   -39.5 

Updated budget gap  0 12.9 17.0 15.7 45.6 

 

4.5 The Medium Term Financial Strategy estimates of the budget shortfall will 
be updated during the course of next year, both the gross shortfall and the 

estimated shortfall allowing for potential council tax rises and savings. An 
additional year (2023/24) will also be factored in to ensure we have a four 
year outlook with future finances to plan over the medium term, avoiding a 

‘short term’ perspective.   
 

Demand Pressures and Funding Changes 
 

4.6 Chart 2(a) below illustrates the sources of funding for the budget and how 

they change over time. We await details of how the allocation made to 
County Councils will change when the Government introduces the increase 
to 75% business rates retention in 2020/21 and also the Fair Funding 

Review. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

Chart 2(a):  Net Sources of Revenue Funding 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

(Note: 2019/20 includes the implications of the 75% business rates retention pilot)  

 
4.7 Chart 2(b) shows the gross sources of funding for 2019/20, including fees 

and charges and Dedicated Schools Grant along with Council Tax and 

Business Rates and other government grants. This demonstrates that the 
council generates a significant % from its own fees and charges to help 
fund council services. 

 
Chart 2(b):  Gross Sources of Revenue Funding 2019/20 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
4.8 Table 2 below sets outs the year on year change in the forecast budget, 

with the introduction of the new one off business rate pilot scheme of 75% 
funding for 2019/20 shown as a footnote at the bottom of the table.  This 

£19.1m gain will be a one-off amount, to be spent on the bid submitted for 
additional digital infrastructure work.  When the new national business 
rates scheme is introduced across the country from 1 April 2020, the extra 

funding from the move to 75% local share of business rates is expected to 
be financially neutral, with either new duties given to local authorities, or 

other funding streams reduced correspondingly. 
 

4.9 The table below shows that 2019/20 is balanced with savings of £23.4m. 

However, over the four year MTFS period, allowing for known budget 
pressures and estimated funding, there is a shortfall in the budget of 

£85.1m, before any savings are identified and included.   
 

Table 2: Change in budget requirements 
 

  2019/20 

£m 

2020/21 

£m 

2021/22 

£m 

2022/23 

£m 

Total 

£m 

Opening budget b/fwd 533.9 555.8 555.5 567.9  

Demand and Inflation  

(gross of savings): 

     

- Adults & Health 16.2 11.4 10.0 9.7 47.3 

- Children & Young People 10.7 5.5 4.5 4.2 24.9 

- Corporate Relations 0.4 1.6 1.9 1.8 5.7 

- Education & Skills 7.0 7.4 7.0 7.0 28.4 

- Environment 1.7 2.0 1.9 2.0 7.6 

- Finance & Resources -1.3 0.1 0.2 0.2 -0.8 

- Highways & 

Infrastructure 

0.2 1.0 1.0 1.0 3.2 

- Leader (including 

Economy) 

0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.4 

- Safer, Stronger 

Communities 

1.9 0.9 1.4 0.8 5.0 

Other Changes 8.2 -1.3 1.5 3.0 11.4 

Net Expenditure 

Requirement 

579.2 584.5 584.9 597.6  

      

Available Funding 

b/fwd 

533.9 555.8 555.5 567.9  

Change in Settlement 

Funding Assessment 

including Business Rates 

-9.9 -2.1 2.2 2.2 -7.6 

Other changes to funding 9.8 -7.9 -0.1 1.1 2.9 

Increase in Council Tax  22.0 9.7 10.3 10.7 52.7 

Available Funding 555.8 555.5 567.9 581.9  

Savings  -23.4 -16.1   -39.5 

Needed to balance the 

budget 

Nil -12.9 -17.0 -15.7 -45.6 

Gross shortfall -23.4 -29.0 -17.0 -15.7 -85.1 

 

 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

Footnote:   

Available Funding 555.8  

Business Rates – Gains 

from 75% Pilot 

19.1 (to be applied to digital infrastructure in 

line with bid to the Government) 

Revised Available funding 

(as per Appendix 1) 

574.9  

 
Service Pressures 

 

4.10 Detail of some of the demand pressures on services have been outlined in 
the context of the West Sussex Plan above (paragraphs 3.1 to 3.37).  The 

detailed changes to portfolio budgets for 2019/20 are outlined in 
paragraphs 5.1 to 5.49 below. 

 
Inflation 

 

4.11 The total addition included for pay and price increases is £13.9m, as shown 
in column 2 of Appendix 2.  The budget does not provide for a general or 

across the board inflation uplift, but focuses on the key areas to target the 
provision for areas most under pressure. The approach to allowing for price 

rises has been as follows:  
 

 A 2.0% increase on the NJC pay budgets, in line with the two year pay 
award agreed in 2017. 

 A range of inflationary increases have been included for high value 
contracts, dependent on the specific index included within the contract. 

 A 0% inflationary assumption on ‘low priority’ items.   

 There remains a middle category of inflation where for 2019/20 of 1.0% 
has been assumed. 

 An assumed 2.3% on areas of discretion over income.  
 

4.12 Overall, other than the inflationary adjustments set out in 4.11 above, 
service budgets are cash-limited and therefore no resources are included 
centrally to adjust those cash-limits if actual inflation experienced in 

individual service areas exceeds the allowance made.  In this event, 
services will be required to manage within the proposed cash limited 

budget.  If, over the longer term, actual inflation exceeds the Council’s 
assumptions in the MTFS, this could potentially add significantly to the 
budget pressures we face. 

 
Sources of Financing 

 

4.13 The proposed budget continues to support the objectives of the West 
Sussex Plan and is set against the background of continuing reductions in 
public finances and means the County Council must continue to plan for 

significantly reduced resources. 
 

 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Settlement Funding Assessment  

  

4.14 The local government four year finance settlement offer was previously 
announced in February 2016, and the County Council agreed to accept the 
Government’s offer to fix key elements of the County’s core funding until 31 

March 2020. This has the advantage of providing for improved certainty in 
funding, and therefore a more stable platform for service planning and 

future transformation to ensure the financial sustainability of the authority.  
 

4.15 The Finance Settlement, announced on 29 January 2019 confirmed the 

sums expected per the fixed settlement and within the budget for our core 
funding from the Government (known as the Settlement Funding Allocation 

or SFA).  The SFA is £88.4m in the current year but falls to £78.0m in 
2019/20, as shown in Table 3 below.  

 
Table 3:  Settlement Funding Assessment 

Funding Item 
2018/19 

£m 

2019/20 

£m 

Change 

£m 

Change 

% 

West Sussex:  

Settlement Funding 

Assessment 

88.4 78.0 -10.4 -11.7 

England: Settlement 

Funding Assessment 
16,943.1 15,958.2 -984.9 -5.8 

 

4.16 The figures in table 3 show an 11.7% decrease in year-on-year core 
funding for West Sussex in 2019/20.  As expected this is worse than the 

national figures, which show a 5.8% decrease overall in 2019/20.    
 

4.17 The settlement was broadly in line with our expectations. A sum of £1.2m 

extra was announced by the Government as a share of the national surplus 
on business rate levy account.   This is a new and unexpected payment to 

authorities.  A levy is made on the ‘excess’ growth in business rates 
incurred at individual authorities. This is normally used to pay for any 
safety net payment needed by authorities whose business rates have 

declined sharply. With the account being in surplus, a one-off dividend has 
been made to benefit authorities.  However, the payment is being made in 

2018/19 and will therefore be applied in the current year and not to the 
2019/20 budget. 
 

4.18 Chart 3 below shows the cumulative change in our SFA from the 
Government over the last four years compared with:  
 

 The national average; 
 All Shire Counties with Fire and Rescue Responsibilities; 

 The South East region 
 

4.19 This shows that West Sussex has fared worse than all these groups in 

comparison, with almost a 50% reduction in our core funding.  

 

 

 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Chart 3: How West Sussex compares for reductions in core funding since 2015/16 

 
Note: SCFIR = Shire Counties with Fire and Rescue responsibilities 

 
Business Rates: Baseline Funding Allocation 

 

4.20 West Sussex Districts and Boroughs have not yet confirmed their final 
business rate estimates for 2019/20.  The Government publishes its 
allocations on the assumption business rates rise with the inflationary 

increase it imposes, but should the rates rise at a quicker pace the Council 
will benefit via its 10% share of the total County take from business rates. 

 
4.21 The County’s 2019/20 budget has been based on assumed figures including 

growth in business rates of an extra 2% in real terms.  For 2019/20, the 

accumulated local growth from business rates, above government 
assumptions, adds an estimated £2.9m to the funding available.    

 
4.22 The Chancellor has limited the increase in business rates by an amount less 

than RPI.  As local government is now part funded by local business rates 

this approach reduced the sum available to local authorities.  The 
Government has made good this difference by providing funds to 

compensate.   The Settlement sets this compensation at £2.5m in 2019/20, 
though a final figure will be confirmed when estimates of the business rate 
take for 2019/20 is supplied by Districts and Boroughs. 

 
Business Rate Pooling 

 

4.23 West Sussex County Council and the Districts and Boroughs made a joint 
bid to be a pilot area for 75% business rates retention in 2019/20. This is 
entirely separate from one of the Government’s proposed plans to fund us 

from 2020 by allowing us to retain 75% of business rate growth, rather 
than the current 50%.  This pilot bid has been successful and is being taken 

forward by the Government.  As confirmed by the final settlement, the 
County Council will form a new business rate pilot under the proposed 75% 
share of business rates, and all West Sussex Districts and Boroughs will 

also be a part of the piloting arrangement.   
 

 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
4.24 The pilot bid is anticipated to provide an overall net gain to West Sussex 

authorities of up to £19m, though the exact gain will be dependent on the 
local business rate take during 2019/20.  The gain arises from retaining a 

greater share of our local business rates in West Sussex.  The winning bid 
submitted jointly by the West Sussex authorities outlined how the gain 
would be applied to significantly improve digital infrastructure in the 

County.   
 

4.25 The County Council, along with Adur/Worthing, Arun and Chichester 
District/Borough Councils has been operating a business rate pool since 
2015/16.  This pool will now cease and be replaced by the new pilot 

scheme. The gain from pooling since 2015/16 is about £11m subject to 
confirmation of the expected gain in 2019/20 at the year-end.  This gain 

has been invested in a number of local projects for the benefit of the whole 
County across the District/Borough authorities and the County Council.  
Therefore, this spending is treated wholly outside of the MTFS.  

 
West Sussex Local Tax Base 2019/20 

 

4.26 The budget assumes a 1.5% increase per annum in the council tax base 

(this is worth around £6.8m for 2019/20).  Chart 4 below shows how the 
assumed increase in tax base next year compares with previous years. 

 
Chart 4:  Change in the County Council’s tax base 
 

 
 

4.27 The latest figure received from our Districts and Boroughs indicates a tax 
base increase of 1.4%, as shown in the chart above.  If this remains the 

case, this is lower than the 1.5% assumed for budget preparation and 
service planning. However, the authority will continue to apply its Budget 

Management Reserve to cover the difference to avoid sudden and late 
reductions causing last minute service cuts.  A 1.7% rise has been assumed 

for 2020/21 onwards within the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
Assumptions will be reviewed during next year when the MTFS is refreshed. 
 

 
 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Collection Fund  

 
4.28 Districts and borough councils operate a collection fund for both council tax 

and business rates, which they are responsible for collecting.  The actual 

tax collected may be more or less than expected, meaning that a surplus or 
deficit must then be allocated to the responsible local authorities in the 

following year.  The surpluses or deficits for council tax and business rates 
are not yet all confirmed by our Districts and Borough partners, but for 
budget purposes we have assumed a total surplus of £3.0m for council tax 

and for business rates.  The latest figure received from our District and 
Boroughs indicates a surplus of £1.9m, £1.1m short of our assumption. 

Again, the budget assumes any variation from the assumed funding, when 
finally confirmed by the Districts and Boroughs will continue to be adjusted 
through the Budget Management Reserve.  This avoids late changes to the 

budget. 
 

Special and Specific Grants  
 

4.29 Most grants have now been announced and all known sums are set out in 

Appendix 4 of the Budget Pack. The overall change for those grants 
included within portfolio budgets is a rise of 3.4% or £24.0m, which 

includes changes in: 
 

 Improved Better Care Fund, an increase of £2.3m to £16.7m, or 
15.8%. 

 The Dedicated Schools Grant, which has increased by £15.4m to 

£597.1m or 2.6%.  This is largely due to an improved funding allocation 
through the new National Funding Formula (£8.9m), an increase in 

mainstream and SEND pupil numbers (£6.0m), and additional funding 
for special educational needs (£1.8m) offset by a reduction in early 
years funding to reflect the number of free entitlement hours taken up 

per the January 2018 census (-£1.3m). 
 The Public Health Grant has reduced by £0.9m to £33.1m, or 2.6%. 

 
4.30 Appendix 4 also highlights a number of non-portfolio specific grants, this 

includes New Homes Bonus funding of £3.9m.  These are used as part of 

the County’s overall core funding, rather than being allocated to a specific 
service.  

 
4.31 In a written statement on 28 January 2019, the Secretary of State 

announced additional funding in both 2018/19 and 2019/20 to help councils 

carry out Brexit preparations and two tier counties will receive £87,500 in 
each of those financial years.  

 
Savings Work 

 

4.32 Since 2010, and including the proposed savings within the 2019/20 budget, 
the authority will have achieved savings of nearly £240m (see Chart 5), 

though maintaining this level of saving is proving more difficult each year.    
 

 
 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

Chart 5: Cumulative Savings by West Sussex County Council 
  

 
 
Section Five: Revenue Budget Proposals for 2019/20 

 

5.1 After considering the Financial Settlement announcement, the budget 
assumptions for price inflation, business rates and council tax and the 

savings proposals, net revenue expenditure of £574.920m is proposed for 
2019/20, an increase of £41.0m (7.7%) compared to 2018/19, as shown in 
Table 4 below. The net revenue expenditure shown is based on the most up 

to date information at the time of writing and may be subject to change.  
This is because information is still awaited in some instances regarding 

funding, such as from Districts/Boroughs on business rate proceeds.    
 

Table 4: Summary of Change in Net Budget  

 

Item £m £m % 

 

Approved net revenue expenditure 2018/19  533.943  

Allowance for price rises 13.891  2.6 

Commitments and service changes  25.269  4.7 

Commitments and non-service changes 5.211  1.0 

 Business Rates Pilot 19.141  3.6 

Balancing the budget  -23.435  -4.4 

Change in Central Government Funding 0.900  0.2 

Net increase  40.977 7.7 

Net revenue expenditure 2019/20  574.920  

 
Changes to Portfolio Budgets 

 

5.2 The proposed changes to the budget for 2019/20 are explained by portfolio 
in the following paragraphs.  These changes include growth to meet 
changing demand pressures of £49.6m, the price changes of £13.9m  

 
 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
(detailed in paragraph 4.11 above) and balancing the budget activities of 

£23.4m. 
 
Adults and Health 

 
5.3 The Adults and Health budget for 2019/20 allows for net expenditure of 

£206.4m, which is a net increase of £11.6m compared with 2018/19.  
Around 95% of this relates to the cost of funding the social care needs of 
residents who meet the national eligibility criteria that were introduced by 

the Care Act in April 2015.  While that is a statutory requirement, the West 
Sussex Plan priority of Independence in Later Life remains an equally 

strong influence.  Its ambition for the county to “continue to be a great 
place to grow older”, is central to the proportion of the net revenue budget 
allocated to the portfolio having risen from less than 32% in 2015/16 to 

around 36% in 2019/20.   
  

5.4 That growth is the County Council’s response to significant service-related 
pressures: 

 

 Growth in demand for adult social care is at unprecedented levels, both 
because of increasing numbers of older people and customers with 

disabilities.  Currently around 14,000 people receive a service from adult 
social care, of whom approximately 9,000 have eligible care needs.  

Based on demography, it is forecast that the latter will grow by around 
130 in 2019/20.  

 
 Increasing life expectancy means that more people are living with more 

complex conditions, increasing cost pressures across all care groups.  

Within older people, for example, average weekly placement costs for 
residential care have risen in real terms by 3% per year during the last 
five years.  Over that period the corresponding increase for the average 

non-residential package has been almost 2.3%.  There is little likelihood 
of either of those rates reducing in the immediate future. 

 

 Pay is the largest element of care providers’ costs and so the impact of 
the National Living Wage continues to create knock-on implications for 
the County Council.  In line with past practice, the budget recognises 

this pressure and will enable fee increases to be paid to providers which 
allows for it.  Whilst this is a matter of choice for the County Council, in 

reality options are limited because it is competing for care in markets 
where it is a minority buyer and where demand from an affluent private 

market and the NHS is buoyant.     
 

5.5 Based on historical trend, growth of £9.3m would have been required in 

2019/20, but as a result of demand management initiatives linked to the 
Adult Social Care Improvement Plan, this figure has reduced by £2.0m.  

These will be supported by an increase in investment in technology, carers 
and falls prevention with the objective of promoting independence and thus 
reducing expenditure on formal social care.  In that way the amount that 

needs to be funded additionally reduces to £7.3m. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 

5.6 Compounding the County Council’s challenge, the Government’s Green 
Paper on adult social care continues to be delayed.  Having originally been 

due in the “summer of 2017”, the latest indication is that the paper will be 
out by April 2019.  Despite that the Chancellor of the Exchequer’s Budget 
Report in October 2018 confirmed that “in the longer term, the Government 

is committed to putting social care on fairer and more sustainable footing”.  
Given that intention, it is unfortunate that there is no certainty about what 

this might mean.  Although the Government’s announcement of an 
additional, non-ring-fenced £5.6m of support for social care in 2019/20 is 
welcome, this is a one-off allocation and so is no substitute for a 

sustainable on-going settlement. 
 

5.7 At the same time, the Government has still not made any commitment to 
retain the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) beyond 2019/20 and this 
makes it imprudent for the County Council to assume that it will be 

available to help support base budget costs.  This reverses a decision made 
as part of the 2018/19 budget, when we had assumed that funding would 

continue, and requires an extra £3.6m to be allocated to the portfolio.  The 
corollary to this is that an increased amount of money will be available next 
year through the iBCF to invest in service improvement.   

 

5.8 Savings of £4.6m are included to balance the County Council’s overall 
budget, as described in Appendix 3.   

 
5.9 The key explanations of the changes in the 2019/20 budget are shown in 

Table 5 below: 
 

Table 5: Adults and Health Budget Changes 
 

Item £m 

Growth for the effect of population change and rising complexity 
of needs 

3.9 

Growth for the National Living Wage 3.4 

Improved Better Care Fund adjustment 3.6 

Pay and price allowance 4.7 

Transfers between portfolios 0.8 

Transfers to reserves -0.6 

Savings  -4.6 

Other changes 0.4 

Net change 11.6 

 

5.10 As a contribution towards paying for the net growth, the budget proposes 

that the County Council again takes advantage of its ability to raise an 
additional 2% precept for adult social care.  This is the final year of the 

three year freedom provided by the Government, for which the County 
Council’s plans are in excess of the requirements that it will face, as Table 6 

below highlights. 
 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Table 6: Adults Social Care Precept 

 

Item £m £m 

1.Adults and Health budget 2019/20   194.8 

 

Add: Growth items including inflation (£4.7m), Demand 

pressures (£3.9m), National Living Wage (£3.4m), iBCF 

adjustments (£3.6m), transfers between portfolios 

(£0.8m), other changes (£0.4m)  16.8  

Less: Savings (-£4.6m), reserves transfers (-£0.6m),  -5.2  

Total changes  11.6 

Adults and Health budget 2019/20   206.4 

2.Items making the budget ‘higher than it would 

otherwise have been’ Excluding savings, reserves 

transfers and transfers between portfolios   

 

 

Inflation (£4.7m), Demand pressures (£3.9m), National 

Living Wage (£3.4m), iBCF adjustment (£3.6m)    

Total   15.6 

3. Value of 2% adult social care precept income   8.8 

4. Value of additional County Council contribution   6.8 

(i.e.£15.6m less £8.8m)    

 

  

  
Children and Young People 
 

5.11 The Children and Young People’s budget for 2019/20 allows for net 

expenditure of £100.2m, which is a net increase of £4.3m compared with 
2018/19.  Around 85% of this is spent on responsibilities relating to 
children’s social care, including the staffing teams carrying out those 

responsibilities.  The remaining 15% is spent on early help services, 
children’s mental health services (in partnership with Health) and services 

designed to reduce youth offending.  Reflecting the ambitions of the West 
Sussex Plan in relation to Best Start in Life, net growth of £4.3m is planned 
for the budget.  This represents an increase of 4.5% and will be the fourth 

consecutive year that the portfolio budget has been increased. 
 

5.12 The main reasons for that growth are as follows: 
 

 Demand for children’s social care both nationally and locally is 
continuing to rise significantly.  This has manifested itself in higher 

workloads which, coming at the same time as national shortages of 
qualified social workers, have led to unsustainably high caseloads for 

West Sussex social care staff.  In order to address this, there has been 
an increase in the social care establishment of 50 new posts, including 
37 social workers, as well as an annual retention payment for staff in 

hard-to-recruit-to teams.  The full financial impact of the scheme has led 
to the children’s social care budget being increased by £5.5m, in part 

funded by savings from the holistic review of the Integrated Prevention 
and Earliest Help service, as detailed in savings schedule (Appendix 3). 
 

 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 The increasing complexity of needs of the young people requiring care 

remains a substantial driver of costs.  Unit costs of external placements 
have increased by nearly 30% since 2014/15.  At the same time, the 

number of families accessing the Intentionally Homeless Service 
continues to increase with the net cost of support likely to be higher 
because of the impact of Universal Credit.  As a result, an additional 

£0.6m is being allocated to the portfolio in recognition of these 
pressures. 

 
 An additional £0.5m has been allocated to the portfolio on a temporary 

basis, recognising that Beechfield Secure Children’s Home remains 

closed and therefore will not achieve the surplus of income above 
expenditure previously budgeted for within the portfolio.  The funding is 

expected to be removed in 2020/21 once a formal final decision is made 
about the future of Beechfield.   

 

 Cissbury Lodge is a Council-run residential home for children with 
disabilities, which has been closed since October 2018.  The building 

work required for the home to be made fit for purpose will be completed 
in the 2019 calendar year. Those children who have been temporarily 
rehomed in external residential placements will then be moved back to 

Cissbury Lodge.  In addition, whilst efforts have been made to redeploy 
affected staff into funded vacancies elsewhere in the Council, this has 

not been possible in the majority of cases.  Together those two factors 
will cause a temporary net pressure for the portfolio of £1.0m in 
2019/20, £0.4m of which will be met from the Social Care Support 

Grant.  As with Beechfield, this funding is expected to be withdrawn in 
2020/21 once Cissbury Lodge is fully operational. 

 

5.13 Savings of £6.4m are included to balance the County Council’s overall 
budget as described in Appendix 3.  £0.6m of these are necessary because 

the amount of grant the County Council expects to receive in 2019/20 from 
the Government’s Troubled Families Initiative will be reducing as the 
programme comes towards its end in 2020/21. 

 

5.14 The key explanations of changes in the 2019/20 budget for the portfolio are 
shown in Table 7 below: 

 
Table 7: Children and Young People Budget Changes 
 

Item £m 

Additional investment in children’s social work 5.5 

Growth due to demand and rising complexity of needs 0.6 

Budget mitigation for Beechfield/Cissbury Lodge 1.1 

Reversal of Public Health Grant funding 1.1 

Pay and price allowance 2.2 

Transfers between portfolios -0.2 

Savings  -6.4 

Other changes 0.4 

Net change 4.3 

 
 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Corporate Relations 

 

5.15 The Corporate Relations budget provides for net spending of £44.5m, which 
is a net increase of £0.1m compared with 2018/19.  The majority of this 
relates to the Cabinet Member’s responsibility for a range of support service 

functions together with outsourced contracts for support services and 
information technology.  It also covers costs of democracy, including 

elections and members' allowances. 
 

5.16 The portfolio has seen growth in order to create a team to meet the 

Council’s obligations under the new General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR). The saving anticipated to be delivered through changes to business 

mileage has been deferred and will now be delivered through a more 
complete review of staff terms and conditions. 
 

5.17 Work continues to further integrate legal services into the Orbis partnership 
(with East Sussex, Brighton and Surrey) and deliver efficiencies in providing 

legal support to the council. The contracts team will work with Capita in 
order to deliver services more efficiently and to drive savings out through 
the delivery of the new IT strategy. The HR function will be looking to 

review the current arrangements for agency staff across the Council, both 
in terms of rates through the contractual arrangements, and more 

appropriate use of temporary contracts within the council. Learning and 
Development services will be reviewed with a view to consolidate the 
function and to provide a consistency in charging for training provided. 

 
5.18 Savings of £1.5m proposed in 2019/20 are attributable to the Whole 

Council Design projects: 
 
 The West Sussex Way, promotes the efficiency and effectiveness of 

service delivery and how we will rise to our cultural, performance and 
financial challenges that we must face in delivering our priorities to 

2022.  Through Whole Council Design (WCD) we will transform our 
service models, improve the performance of our services and achieve 
significant financial benefits over the next three financial years, whilst 

ensuring our resources are spent on achieving the West Sussex Plan 
outcomes for our residents. 

 
 To facilitate transformation and supporting activity the Council has a 

Service Transformation Reserve.  As at 31 March 2018 £11.5m was held 
in the reserve and during this year, £3.9m is scheduled for investment 
predominantly in Step Up (the enabling programme ahead of Whole 

Council Design), with a further £1.1m being used to generate savings 
through the voluntary severance scheme; this leaves £6.5m available to 

support other investment.  A further £6.5m is proposed to be 
transferred from the Budget Management Reserve on 1 April 2019, 
resulting in a further £13m being available for Whole Council Design. 

 
 This next phase of the Council’s transformation will build on the 

achievements of the Step Up Programme.  From the one-off investment 
initially estimated at £13m for Whole Council Design, annual savings 
of a minimum £17m are targeted by 2022.  At this early stage in 

delivery, £1.5m of this target is provided for in next year, following  

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
mobilisation in the current financial year.  Over the next twelve months, 

as projects are mobilised and benefits realised, the MTFS will be updated 
to reflect progress. 

 
 Of the £13m available in the reserve from next year, it is anticipated 

that the majority of the funds, estimated at £10m, will be needed for 

ICT investment and the resourcing of projects – one example being the 
replacement of the council’s core operating systems, including financial 

management and HR.  The proposed investment will be deployed during 
the MTFS period.  Any further investment needs will be funded through 
the top-slicing of transformational savings (over and above the £1.5m 

budgeted from 2019/20) and will be reflected in the MTFS. 
 

 Transformation inevitably involves significant up-front investment to 
deliver ongoing savings, and lead-in times have been recognised as far 
as possible in the above profiles.   

 
 Through the Council’s Transformation Board, governance arrangements 

will ensure that value for money can be assured, in line with our way of 
working.  The progression of the programme and its benefits realisation 
will be highlighted through the Council’s quarterly total performance 

monitor. 
 

 Much of the £17m WCD savings target referred to earlier will be 
achieved through improved efficiency and effectiveness.  A consequence 
of this service redesign, and of other service changes and reductions 

proposed in the budget, is that our workforce will reduce.  Natural 
wastage (turnover), appropriate redeployment and proactive vacancy 

management will assist to some degree, but nonetheless, we need to 
make appropriate provision for managing this change and the costs 
involved.  We have therefore set aside £3m of the total £13m reserve to 

cover early severance costs. 
 

 The Government acknowledges the difficulties that authorities can 
experience in managing such up-front costs and as a result, special 

provisions apply for utilising capital receipts to fund transformation and the 
capitalisation of severance costs.  The suitability of these options will be 
kept under review, in light of our financial outlook and the challenges 

ahead. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Table 8: Corporate Relations Budget Changes 

 

Item £m 

General Data Protection Regulation Team 0.1 

Additional IT costs  1.3 

Demand pressure within reactive maintenance budget 0.2 

Reversal of business mileage saving 0.2 

Pay and Price allowance 1.0 

Transfers between portfolios -1.4 

Transfers from reserves 2.0 

Savings  -3.3 

Net change 0.1 

 
Education and Skills 

 

5.19 The Education budget for 2019/20 allows for net expenditure of £19.8m, 
which is a net increase of £6.0m compared with 2018/19.  In line with the 

West Sussex Plan 2017/2022, we will continue to work to ensure young 
people are ready for school and ready for work.  The key explanations of 
the changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in Table 9 below: 
 

Table 9: Education and Skills Budget Changes 
 

Item £m 

Growth for the impact of increased demand for High Needs 
educational placements 

4.0 

Redistribution of central share costs previously charged to DSG 1.5 

Home to School Transport to meet the increasing number of 
High Needs pupils and living wage pressures 

2.4 

Replacement funding for Special Educational Needs Assessment 
Team (SENAT) following cessation of SEND Reform grant 

0.4 

Other pressures 0.1 

Removal of one-off funding received in 2018/19 to develop 
proposals relating to social mobility 

-0.2 

Pay and price allowance 0.5 

Transfers to reserves -1.8 

Savings -0.9 

Net change 6.0 

 

5.20 Based on an assumption that the number of pupils identified as needing 

additional support through an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) will 
continue to rise at the current rate it is projected that expenditure in High 

Needs is set to increase by a further £5.5m in 2019/20. Since the current 
year’s budget also includes one-off funding of £2.2m from the DSG Schools 
block and £0.8m from DSG reserves, this means that our underlying budget 

pressure next year stands at £8.5m. 
 

5.21 With our High Needs DSG funding expected to increase by £1.2m in 
2019/20, this leaves a budgeted shortfall on High Needs of £5.5m next  

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
year. £1.5m of this can be mitigated through the County Council now 

picking up corporate overhead costs that have previously been funded 
through the DSG. An additional £4.0m is being allocated to the portfolio in 

recognition of the remaining High Needs demand costs that are forecast to 
arise in 2019/20. 
 

5.22 The Home to School transport budget continues to come under pressure as 
a result of the continuing rise in SEND placements and higher contractual 

costs due to a growing shortage of drivers and the increased wage costs of 
escorts. £2.0m has been allocated to the portfolio to meet existing 
pressures in 2018/19 and a further £0.4m to meet growth in 2019/20. 

 
5.23 The increase in requests for Education Health and Care Needs Assessments 

(EHCNAs) has meant that more staff have been required in the Special 
Educational Needs Assessment Team (SENAT) to carry these out. The 
additional staff have been funded through the SEND Reform grant but with 

this grant set to end in March 2019, alternative base budget funding of 
£0.4m is required for next year.  

 
5.24 Other pressures (£0.1m) within the portfolio include 2 new associate 

education advisors for the Multi Agency Safeguarding hub, and an increase 

in the revenue cost of the education capital planning team, which have 
been partially offset by additional income within Home to School transport 

following the increase in post-16 transport charges in September 2018.  
 

5.25 The additional £1.8m DSG funding announced by the Secretary of State 

(see paragraph 2.6) in December 2018 meant that the County Council’s 
High Needs DSG allocation for 2019/20 increased by £3m rather than 

£1.2m. This additional £1.8m from DSG can be used to help meet the 
£4.0m High Needs demand costs in 2019/20 (paragraph 5.21), and 
therefore the County Council funding that has been replaced by these 

additional DSG monies has been transferred to reserves to help fund the 
creation of additional Special Support Centres in our mainstream schools in 

the capital programme.  
 

5.26 Planned savings total £0.9m. These include officer decisions in relation to 
the reprioritisation of budgets within the High Needs block and improved 

trading income from schools (£0.7m), and strategic decisions on the 
development of additional Special Support Centres at mainstream schools 

and the removal of non-statutory age pupils from Home to School Transport 
eligibility (£0.2m).   

 
5.27 The Dedicated Schools Grant has increased by £15.4m (2.6%) to £597.1m 

across both the Children and Young People (£48.1m) and Education and 

Skills portfolios (£549.0m) as per paragraph 4.29. 
 
Environment 

 
5.28 The Environment budget provides for net spending of £62.0m, which is a 

net decrease of £1.4m compared with 2018/19.  Working with customers 
and partners the Waste Management team will continue their work to 

reduce waste going to landfill through education aimed at changing  

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
customer behaviour, as well as the use of alternative disposal routes such 

as the Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) contract. Continuing work with our 
Mechanical and Biological Treatment (MBT) contractor to develop the plant 

is expected to increase production of RDF that can be diverted from landfill 
by 48,000 tonnes; delivering both towards our waste diversion and 
recycling targets and saving the council £0.3m per annum. 

 
5.29 In addition work to refine the processes at the plant and further increase 

the amount of waste that can be diverted from landfill along with the 
commercial agreements that sit behind these arrangements are expected to 
deliver the council £0.8m. 

 
5.30 The council has taken the decision to move away from the locally agreed 

payments made to Districts and Boroughs in respect of recycling credits and 
move to a rate of £61.12 per tonne based on a calculation method in the 
Environmental Protection (Waste Recycling) Payments (England) 

Regulations 2006. This change along with the retention of any additional 
income from the sale of recyclates will deliver a saving of £1.2m. 

 
5.31 The energy and sustainability teams continue to drive innovative and 

sustainable solutions to delivering the energy that the County requires 

particularly through the investment in our own renewable energy sources. 
2018/19 has seen the service expand the number of small scale 

installations at our schools saving the schools an estimated £50k per 
annum and delivering the council a saving of £90k in 2019/20. Work is also 
progressing on feasibility work to deliver large scale battery installations at 

a number of sites across the County.  
 

5.32 The key explanations of the changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in 
Table 10 below: 
 
Table 10: Environment Budget Changes 

 

Item £m 

Pay and price allowance 1.8 

Transfers between portfolios 0.2 

Transfers to reserves -0.6 

Savings -3.1 

Other changes 0.3 

Net change -1.4 

 
Finance and Resources 

 
5.33 The Finance and Resources budget provides for net spending of £12.8m, 

which is a net decrease of £2.8m compared with 2018/19.  The majority of 

this relates to the Cabinet Member’s responsibility for the Finance, 
Procurement and Performance functions.  It also covers the capital planning 

and projects and asset management and estates teams, as well as various 
corporate items, for example insurance and precept payments levied by 
external bodies. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
5.34 Transfers between portfolios in the main represent the movement of 

budgets as a result of the change in Cabinet responsibilities and the 
creation of the Corporate Relations portfolio. The key explanations of the 

changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in Table 11 below: 
 

Table 11: Finance and Resources Budget Changes 

 

Item £m 

Removal of one-off additional feasibility funding -0.8 

Removal of one-off hardship funding -0.1 

Increase in precepts and levies 0.1 

Pay and price allowance 0.3 

Transfers to reserves -1.2 

Transfers between portfolios 0.4 

Savings -1.5 

Net change -2.8 

 
Highways and Infrastructure 

 

5.35 The Highways and Infrastructure budget provides for net spending of 
£32.9m, which is a net decrease of £2.0m compared with 2018/19. This 
maintains and delivers highways and other infrastructure which businesses 

and local communities need to support economic growth and allows our 
customers to access services across the County. We will maintain, improve 

and, where appropriate, expand the highways network for the benefit of all 
residents and visitors to West Sussex.  
 

5.36 One-off funding of £0.5m utilised during 2018/19 to deliver a white lines 
and signage programme to improve the safety of the council’s roads is 

removed from the budget in 2019/20. Planned savings total £2.1m and 
include £0.5m linked to reducing demand for concessionary travel, a review 

of highway operation service levels (£0.4m), removal of public bus service 
subsidies which do not impinge upon school transport (£0.3m) and a review 
of on-street parking charges (£0.4m). 

 
5.37 The key explanations of the changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in 

Table 12 below: 
 

Table 12: Highways and Infrastructure Budget Changes 

 

Item £m 

Removal of one-off funding to deliver a white lines and signage 

programme to improve the safety of the council’s roads 

-0.5 

Pay and price allowance 0.8 

Transfers between portfolios -0.3 

Transfers from reserves 0.2 

Savings -2.1 

Other changes -0.1 

Net change -2.0 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Leader (including Economy)  

 
5.38 The Leader budget provides for net spending of £4.0m, which is a net 

increase of £0.1m compared with 2018/19. This budget supports economic 

development and the costs of running the Chief Executive’s office. Spending 
on economic development contributes to meeting the commitments set out 

in the Economic Strategy for West Sussex 2012-2020 and continuing to 
work collaboratively with our partners.  We will work with Members, 
communities, businesses, partners and other County Council Services to 

understand and support the progress of local priorities.   
 

5.39 The key explanations of the changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in 
Table 13 below: 

 
Table 13: Leader (including Economy) Budget Changes 

 

Item £m 

Pay and price allowance 0.1 

Transfers between portfolios 0.2 

Savings -0.2 

Net change 0.1 

 
Safer, Stronger Communities 
 

5.40 The portfolio budget provides for net spending of £38.4m, which is a net 
increase of £1.2m compared with 2018/19. The budget includes the WSFRS 

which aims to provide an assured 24/7 emergency response service around 
the County. WSFRS also has a dedicated resilience and emergency team 

which along with the Council’s support to community functions works to 
promote resilience and capacity across the localities of West Sussex.  The 
portfolio also includes the County Council’s Library Service, Archive Service, 

Registration and Customer services which are all directed to provide 
excellent services to the county’s residents. 

 
5.41 The one off funding given to promote work supporting the homeless has 

been reversed from the portfolio. A change to the funding available via the 

Public Health Grant has also led to a review of services previously funded 
via the grant and a reduction in the Intervention and Prevention work is 

anticipated.  
 

5.42 The success of the crowd funding site introduced this year has meant that 
projects previously supported by the council can now raise funds on this 

platform. 
 

5.43 Funding has also been allocated to the portfolio to continue work with and 
grow our volunteer network and infrastructure.  
 

5.44 The key explanations of the changes for the 2019/20 budget are shown in 
Table 14 below: 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Table 14:  Safer, Stronger Communities Budget Changes 
 

Item £m 

Reversal of one off funding to work with district and borough 
partners to develop options to address homelessness issues 

-0.6 

Reversal of Public Health Grant Funding 1.0 

Additional Funding to support Volunteers 0.2 

Pay and price allowance 1.1 

Transfers between portfolios 0.2 

Savings -0.8 

Other changes 0.1 

Net change 1.2 

 
Non-Portfolio 

 
5.45 For completeness, corporate items for commitments and service changes 

are given below in Table 15: 
 

Table 15:  Non-Portfolio Budget Changes  
 

Item £m 

Transfers to and from earmarked reserves (net) 6.5 

Transfers to and from earmarked reserves re 75% Business 

Rates Pilot 

18.1 

Reduction in the revenue contribution to capital -0.3 

Capital financing costs 0.3 

Reduction in contingency -0.2 

Forecast increase in the investment income budget following the 
0.25% increase in the base rate in August 2018 along with a 

saving arising from paying the LGPS contributions for 2019/20 in 
one lump sum up front  

-0.6 

Net change 23.8 

 

5.46 The contingency budget is generally held to cushion the impact of 

unexpected events or emergencies arising during the year, which were not 
known about at the time the budget was approved.  In addition, any late 

changes to the savings which are required to balance the budget will also 
be funded from the contingency budget.   
 

5.47 In the papers reviewed by the Performance and Finance Select Committee 
on 17 January 2019, the contingency was set at £3.6m.  As a result of the 

Home Office decision to remove the New Dimensions Grant from 2020/21, 
and subsequent discussion at Environment, Communities and Fire Select 
Committee, the proposed saving in the Safer, Stronger Communities 

portfolio of £0.2m to reduce the spend on the Search and Rescue team to 
the grant level has now been deferred. The contingency has been reduced 

by £0.2m in order to maintain a balanced budget. 
 

5.48 Following Formal Cabinet on 29 January 2019, there is a further change to 

the savings required to balance the budget.  The savings relating to the 
reduction in the Intervention and Prevention team (£0.4m) and the  

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Business Resilience team (£0.1m) have been removed for 2019/20 while 

work is undertaken to explore alternative funding and sponsorship options.  
The £0.5m required to balance the budget will be funded from the use of a 

one-off underspend on the Community Initiative Fund in 2018/19 (£0.2m) 
and the use of part of the Business Rates Levy Account surplus (£1.2m in 
total), which the council was notified of as part of the final settlement in 

December 2018 (£0.3m). 
 

5.49 In addition, £25,000 has been included within the non-portfolio budget for 
council tax support for care leavers.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Section Six: Robustness of Estimates, Adequacy of Reserves and the 
Management of Risk   

 

6.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires Chief Financial 

Officers to report to their authorities about the robustness of estimates and 
the adequacy of reserves when determining their budget and level of 

council tax.  Authorities are required to consider their Chief Financial 
Officers’ reports when setting the level of council tax.  The Director of 
Finance, Performance and Procurement has provided the following 

assurance: 
 

‘By the end of 2019/20 the County Council will have delivered nearly  

£240m of savings since austerity began with public finances.  
 
The savings proposals for 2019/20, £23.4m in total, have been 

assessed as robust with reliable plans supporting them and £5.4m of 
these were approved via Cabinet Member decisions following 

previews at the relevant Select Committee. Early agreement of 
savings plans allows maximum time for them to be delivered, 

reducing the risk of non-delivery.   For subsequent plans, there is 
time to further refine estimates to ensure robustness and consider 
any ability to bring plans forward to realise earlier savings.  

 
Transformation work will be the key to ensuring a future sustainable 

budget and the foundations for that work have been laid as set out 
in paragraph 5.18 above.   
 

All of the above comments are made in the context of a planning 
assumption that the Council will agree to a council tax increase of 

4.99% in 2019/20 followed by 1.99% in 2020/21, covering two of 
the four years of the MTFS period.  Of course, changing finances, 
new opportunities for service delivery or changes to the funding 

regime for councils due by 2020 may mitigate future requirements 
on council tax, but that remains to be seen and therefore cannot be 

relied on. 
 
This budget reinforces the need for on-going robust financial 

management, strict budgetary control and the on-going monitoring 
of both savings and investment delivery plans, with processes in 

place to promote these. We have done this in previous years and I 
believe our processes are robust for this purpose going forward. I 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
have also taken account of the estimated sum held within the 

budget management reserve, which provides a safety net against a 
number of critical assumptions around funding, the non or late 

delivery of savings in 2019/20 and any legislative or accounting 
changes imposing new burdens. The use of the budget management 
reserve provides a stable platform for our future service planning.  

The budget management reserve avoids any late swings in the 
funding available to services by underwriting budget funding 

assumptions. Assumptions can therefore be made around funding at 
an earlier stage in the budget process, knowing this reserve can 
address any shortfall that develops late in the process.    

 
The overall projected levels of reserves and balances are reviewed 

annually and are deemed to be adequate and forecast to stand at 
£181.4m by 31st March 2019.  
 

The general contingency for the revenue budget is £3.4m. Although 
this is assessed as adequate for the risks it is expected to cover, the 

contingency has been used to mitigate the impact of the late 
removal of £0.2m saving within the Safer, Stronger Communities 
portfolio relating to the Search and Rescue team.  The Cabinet 

Member will need to ensure work is undertaken urgently to identify 
alternative savings to replenish the contingency.  In addition, the 

contingency caters for any other significant inflationary increases 
which cannot be met from service budgets.  Risks from the external 
environment are mentioned below.   

 
The budget does not provide specific funding for any unforeseeable, 

extraordinary items of major expenditure, for example, the 
implications of flooding within the county. Subject to the magnitude 
of the extraordinary event, if such an event were to occur, it would 

have to be funded from existing general reserves (with a balance 
estimated at £20.3m by 31st March 2019) if the general 

contingency were exhausted.   
 

The expected future introduction of 75% business rate retention 
funding to finance local authorities from 1 April 2020 also highlights 
the need to strengthen reserves.  Whilst we don’t know the full 

details of the new system, we do know that business rates are a 
very volatile income source, varying considerably with the business 

cycle. The County’s reliance on funding from this source is likely to 
be increased several fold, when implemented.  To maintain a stable 
service provision, over the long term, against that background will 

require measures to ensure reserves remain robust and cater for 
this additional risk, including careful stewardship of the budget 

management reserve.   
 
Against such a challenging financial background, it will therefore be 

crucial that reserves, both general and earmarked, continue to be 
managed in the medium term in a way that gives due regard to the 

need to set a legally balanced budget.  

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 

A financial resilience index for local authorities has been under 
development by CIPFA over the summer following the financial 

challenges faced by other local authorities.  The index applies 15 
measures, including areas such as reserves, flexibility with budget 
and ratios on funding sources and compares the outcome for each 

authority. It does not translate these 15 measures into any ‘overall 
assessment’ or make specific comment on the results.   It is 

expected that there will be a requirement in future budgets to 
comment on the results of this CIPFA resilience index. As this index 
is still in development this requirement is not yet in place for the 

2019/20 budget.  
 

More will be said about the index, and what it means, in future 
budgets.  For the reasons listed in this section, I am comfortable as 
the County Council Chief Financial Officer that the authority is 

operating prudently and has strong financial resilience and that this 
is taken into account when preparing the 2019/20 budget and 

medium term service and financial plans.  However, the CIPFA 
resilience index will be carefully monitored, and the position it 
indicates that reserves are changing or being used slightly quicker 

than the typical County Council will be monitored if confirmed when 
the index is finalised.  

 
 
Katharine Eberhart  

Section 151 Officer’ 
 
Section Seven: Precept and Council Tax 
 

7.1 The 2019/20 council tax base is 332,430.70 Band D equivalents, and is set 
out across the District and Borough councils in Table 16 below.  The table 
also shows the sums due under precepts from the respective authorities. 

 
Table 16: Tax Base and Precept 2019/20 

 

District/Borough Council Tax base Precept 
£ 

Adur 21,195.00 £29,324,766.15 

Arun  61,281.00 £84,786,553.17 

Chichester 53,339.60 £73,799,070.37 

Crawley 35,216.30 £48,724,216.19 

Horsham 62,187.00 £86,040,067.59 

Mid Sussex 60,707.50 £83,993,075.78 

Worthing 38,504.30 £53,273,394.35 

Total 332,430.70 £459,941,143.60 

 

 
7.2 The impact of a 2.99% increase in Council Tax for General Fund purposes 

and a further 2% for Adult Social Care considered in the budget proposals 
outlined in the previous paragraphs imply a precept requirement of  
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
£459.941m and a Band D council tax of £1,383.57.   

 
7.3 The budget embodies the core principles of living within our means, 

protecting the vulnerable and bearing down vigorously on administration 
costs.   
 

Section Eight: Equality Act Considerations 

 

8.1 The County Council formulates its budget proposals having regard to the 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and the likely impact on those with 

protected characteristics, as set out in the Treating People as Individuals 
Policy. 

 
8.2 In the assessment of individual proposals and in the overall assessment of 

its plans for savings across portfolios the County Council must have regard 
to the public sector equality duty.  This will ensure that all decisions that 
will be finally taken include an understanding of the likely impact upon 

persons with protected characteristics and the steps that are planned to 
mitigate any adverse impact or otherwise address the commitments the 

County Council has to its duty.  Appendix 3 also mentions any requirement 
for an Equality Impact Assessment as part of the decision on the saving. 
 

8.3 The budget approval does not constitute a final decision about what the 
Council’s service priorities and service budget commitments will be, or 

about what sums must be saved within each service portfolio.  Specific 
executive decisions will be taken by the relevant portfolio holders and 
directors, and shall be made based on a clear understanding of what the 

potential impacts of doing one thing rather than another will be for the 
residents of West Sussex.  It will be open to directors and Cabinet Members 

at the time of taking those decisions to choose to spend more on one 
activity and less on another or, where necessary, to go back to County 
Council and invite it to reconsider the allocations to different service 

budgets within the overall Council budget that has been set. 
 

8.4 An overarching Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and is set 
out at Annex 3. 
 

Section Nine: Future Financial Risks 

 

9.1 There are a number of major sources of change ahead from the external 
environment.  These offer varying degrees of opportunity but also potential 

financial risk and instability over the medium term.  These include: 
 

 The potential impact from implementing the decision to leave the 
European Union and its influence on the UK’s economic performance and 
the state of the nation’s public finances.  Any impact is likely to feed into 

the next Spending Review which will set national spending allocations 
for local authorities from 1 April 2020.  

 
 The Government’s review of the needs assessment for local authorities, 

called the Fair Funding Review (FFR).  This assessment underlies how 

the Government allocates resources, and is expected to impact on the 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
starting point for the new funding system under 75% proposed business 

rate retention scheme.  It is a considerable time since any similar review 
was undertaken, which may mean significant change and volatility with 

funding.  The MTFS assumes significant losses are the probable outcome 
from the FFR.  This is based on experience with past reviews, where 
authorities with a much better than average local tax base (such as 

West Sussex) tend to be penalised with the Government assuming local 
council tax can replace government funding.  

 

 The Government’s implementation of the 75% business rate retention 
system (this is different from the 75% Business Rate pilot scheme for 
2019/20) and linked to the wider review of fairer funding for local 

government mentioned above. This is anticipated to be done in a cost 
neutral way nationally. County Councils are expected to increase their 

share of local business rates from the current 10% allocation, but will 
lose other funding streams to keep this change cost neutral. 

 

In the long run such a change provides an opportunity to increase the 
funding derived from the growth in business rates.  However in the short 

term, there are three consequences to highlight: 
 
 It will involve a reset of the business rate system and therefore a loss 

of part of the real term growth in business rate we currently use to 
help support the base budget.  

 Additional reliance on a volatile income source (business rates) which 
can vary from year-to-year for many reasons places a greater 
emphasis on ensuring the county’s reserves are strong and able to 

provide a short term safety net for any sudden drop in this source of 
income.  

 Whilst the scheme is expected to be designed to operate in a cost 
neutral way nationally, at local authority level, there will invariably be 
‘winners and losers’. 

 
 What the next Spending Review has in store for local government 

funding.  This sets the overall framework of funding allocations to 
Government Departments and the national total for local authorities.  
The next Spending Review is due to come into effect from 1 April 2020. 

The degree of any further austerity with public finance and how it will 
impact on County Council funding, can only be informed by our best 

estimates until the Spending Review is announced.  
 
 Service budgets already include an allowance for inflation, where 

appropriate.   But there remains a risk that either through general 
inflationary pressures or due to contractual matters, additional costs 

could add to service pressures in 2019/20.  Also, in the longer term, if 
actual inflation exceeds the Council’s assumptions in the MTFS, this 
could potentially add significantly to the budget pressures we face. 

 
 The demographic profile of the county indicates that we have a higher 

and growing proportion of older people, which will bring increased 

demand for council services, in particular adults’ social care.  In addition 
to this, we are also facing growing demand pressures from increased  

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
complexity of care needs, both of which may result in additional financial 

pressures.  
 

 Changes in legislation or accounting policies in the future may have a 

financial impact for the council.  Any developments will be closely 
monitored and if there is any impact, these could potentially be 
mitigated through reserves. 

 
9.2 The Council will continue to keep the MTFS under review given the high 

degree of uncertainty surrounding the potential impact from government 
policy, and the wider considerations on the state of public finances in 
future.  

 
Section Ten: Other Issues 

 
Human Resources Implications 

 
10.1 The savings proposals already submitted and agreed by Cabinet Members 

and those specified within the budget indicate a potential impact for up to 
65FTE, where known.  This figure may change as plans develop over the 
coming months.  This currently equates to approximately 1.1% of our 

workforce as at the end of December.  Full consultation has and will 
continue to occur when needed.   

 
Legal Implications 
 

10.2 The County Council has a legal obligation to deliver a balanced budget 

within a prescribed timeframe each year.  This is part of the set of legal 
obligations within the Local Government and Finance Acts 1992 and 2003 

which also describe the factors and financial considerations which must, in 
law, inform the calculation of the budget and any council tax precept.  The 
Chief Financial Officer has a responsibility to give formal notice to the 

Council if those provisions are at risk of not being adhered to.  Ultimately 
the Secretary of State has powers of intervention in local authorities which 

fail to meet their fiduciary duty.  This report outlines how the budget will be 
balanced with £23.4m of savings.  Despite the challenge of reduced 
government funding we continue to invest in priority areas to deliver the 

aims of the West Sussex Plan to benefit our residents.  
  

Recommended 

 
That, taking account of the priorities contained in the approved West 

Sussex Plan, Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Local Government 
Finance Settlement and the results of internal and external consultation, 

the following items be approved: 
 
(1) An increase in council tax in 2019/20 comprising: 

 2.00% for Adults’ Social Care, plus  
 2.99% to support other General Fund services  

 making a total increase of 4.99%  
 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

(2) Net revenue expenditure in 2019/20 of £574.920m (as set out in 
paragraph 5.1 and Appendix 1). 

(3) (a) Capital Strategy, setting out capital expenditure and proposed 
method of financing for the core programme and the income 

generating initiatives (which will be subject to their own 
business cases) for the period 2019/20 to 2023/24, as set out 
in Annex 2(a). 

(b) Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20, as set out 
in Annex 2(b). 

 (c) Prudential Indicators, as set out in Annex 2(c). 

(4) The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement’s assessment 

of the robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves 
(paragraph 6.1). 

(5) The following amounts be approved for the financial year 2019/20 in 
accordance with Section 42A of the Local Government Finance Act 

1992: 

 (a) That the budget requirement to meet net expenditure of the 

County Council for the financial year 2019/20 is £574.920m, 
and the council tax requirement for 2019/20 is £459.941m. 

 (b) That the following sums be payable for the year into the 

County Council’s revenue fund: 
     
  Business Rates Retention Scheme – County 

Council 
£84.745m 
 

 

  Business Rates Retention Scheme – 75% 
Business Rates Pilot 

£19.141m  

  New Homes Bonus Grant £3.933m  

  Social Care Support Grant £5.243m  

  Net surplus from District and Borough 

Collection Funds 

£1.917m  

 (c) The council tax base for the year 2019/20 is the aggregate 

amount calculated by the billing authorities to which the 
County Council issues precepts totalling 332,430.70 Band D 
equivalents*. 

 (d) The amount of council tax being the budget requirement at 
5(a) above, less the amounts receivable in 5(b) above, all 

divided by the council tax base at 5(c) above, shall be 
£1,383.57 to the nearest penny for Band D. 

 (e) The amount of council tax payable for dwellings listed in a 

particular valuation band, calculated in accordance with the 
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, shall be as 

follows: 
 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

  Valuation 

Band 

Amount Valuation 

Band 

Amount 

  A £922.38 E £1,691.03 

  B £1,076.11 F £1,998.49 

  C £1,229.84 G £2,305.95 

  D £1,383.57 H £2,767.14 

 (f) That the district councils be requested to make payments 

totalling £459.941m  to West Sussex County Council of sums 
due under precepts calculated in proportion to their council tax 

Band D equivalents as follows: 

  Adur District Council £29,324,766.15 

  Arun District Council £84,786,553.17 

  Chichester District Council £73,799,070.37 

  Crawley Borough Council £48,724,216.19 

  Horsham District Council £86,040,067.59 

  Mid Sussex District Council £83,993,075.78 

  Worthing Borough Council £53,273,394.35 

 (g) That the district councils be required to make payments of 
precept by equal instalments of the above sums due on or 

before: 

  5 April 2019 7 May 2019 5 June 2019 

  5 July 2019 5 August 2019 5 September 2019 

  7 October 2019 5 November 2019 5 December 2019 

  6 January 2020 5 February 2020 5 March 2020 

 (h) Additionally, it is noted that payments be made by the district 
and borough councils (or to them) in respect of the estimated 

surplus/(deficit) on their collection funds on 31 March 2019: 

      
   Council Tax* Business Rates* 

  Adur District Council (179,583.56) (140,629.24) 

  Arun District Council 243,000.00 (103,000.00) 

  Chichester District Council (165,877.00) 5,988.00 

  Crawley Borough Council 278,109.43 20,485.00 

  Horsham District Council 1,562,000.00 (44,000.00) 

  Mid Sussex District Council 592,900.00 0.00 

  Worthing Borough Council (51,768.65) (100,912.80) 

   

*  Note that these figures (council tax base, council tax and 

business rates collection funds) may not represent the final 

figures from the district and borough councils and may change.  

To avoid late changes to the budget, all subsequent changes of 

funding (positive or adverse) will be applied to the Budget 

Management Reserve.    
 

 Jeremy Hunt 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
Annexes 

 
Annex 1   - Budget Pack (printed separately and enclosed with the agenda): 
 

Appendix 1 

Appendix 2 

Appendix 3 

Appendix 4 

Appendix 5 

Appendix 6 

Summary of Revenue Budget and Precept 2019/20 

Analysis of Changes 

Balancing the Budget 

Grants Towards Specific Services 

Reserves 

Detailed Portfolio Budgets 
 

Annex 2(a)  -  Capital Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 

Annex 2(b) -  Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 

Annex 2(c)  -  Prudential Indicators 2019/20 – 2023/24 

Annex 3 -   Equality Impact Assessment 

Annex 4 -  Comments and recommendations from the Performance and    
Finance Select Committee 

 
 

Contact: Vicky Chuter 033 022 23414 
 
Background Papers 

 
None 
 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Capital Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 
 
1 Introduction 

 
1.1 In December 2017 CIPFA issued revised Prudential and Treasury 

Management Codes.  As a consequence, from 2019/20 all local authorities 
are required to prepare a separate Capital Strategy report.  The aim of this 
Capital Strategy is to ensure that all elected members of the County Council 

fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital 
strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.   

 
1.2 The Capital Strategy is reported alongside the budget report and the 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement for Council approval.  This 

ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles; and the policy and commercialism investments usually 

driven by expenditure on an asset. 
 
1.3 The Capital Strategy will provide the following:  

 
  The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities 

(section 2); 
  A high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 

service (section 3);  
  The expected income, costs and resulting contribution (section 4); 

  The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs and the 
payback period (MRP policy) (section 5); 

  For non-treasury investments, the cost against the current market value 

(section 6); 
  The risks associated with each activity (section 7);and 

  Knowledge and training (section 8). 
 

1.4 The Council will ensure that the concepts of proportionality as detailed within 

the CIPFA Codes of Practice (Prudential Code and Treasury Management 
Code) and the MHCLG ‘Statutory Guidance on Local Government 

Investments’ are adhered to.  The Director of Finance, Performance and 
Procurement will continually assess whether the Council is overdependent on 

its non-treasury (profit-generating) activities in achieving a balanced revenue 
budget and report on contingency plans, should the Council fail to meet the 
expected net profits. 

 
1.5 A capital strategy is the foundation of a proper long-term planning of capital 

investment in assets and how it is to be delivered.  The strategy should link 
in to the Council’s overall corporate objectives and strategic priorities and 
align with the Council’s Asset Management Strategy.  The strategy provides a 

set of objectives and a framework, within CIPFA codes and statutory 
legislation, by which new capital projects are evaluated and investment 

decisions made whilst ensuring funding is targeted towards meeting the 
Council’s priorities. 
 

 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
2 Corporate Governance arrangements 

 
2.1 Priorities for capital investment are set by members, with the detailed 

planning delegated to officers, who prepare a draft capital programme for 
ultimate approval by the full County Council.  The associated governance 

arrangements are set out in the Financial Regulations (Financial 
Regulation B, paragraphs 2.2 to 2.4).   
 

2.2 Projects that have had a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) and are included in 
the approved five-year capital programme are considered to be in the 

pipeline.  The preferred option/s will be developed into a Full Business Case 
(FBC) for a decision to proceed, in accordance with the approved capital 
programme governance, before the project can enter into the delivery stage. 

Schemes costing over £0.5m are also subject to a Cabinet Member Key 
Decision before proceeding. 

  
2.3 Each of the projects in delivery is subject to monthly highlight reports 

produced by the Project Manager.  The highlight reports are scrutinised 

through the capital governance arrangements and provide a RAG rating for 
each project.  Individual highlight reports are collated into a single 

Performance Report.  The Performance Report also includes a benefits 
realisation framework and identifies at least one benefit to be tracked 
throughout the lifecycle of each project’s investment as well as beyond the 

project’s completion.  Project benefits and measures are set out in each 
project’s Full Business Case, along with review dates for monitoring their 

delivery.  
  

2.4 Performance towards converting pipeline projects to delivery stage, through 

delivery of the approved project and the tracking of benefits is scrutinised 
through the capital governance arrangements.  Progress is reported to 

Cabinet Board and Performance and Finance Select Committee through the 
Quarterly Capital Performance Report.  
 

2.5 The capital programme covers a five-year period - with some recognised 
demand pressures extending beyond this period in line with the Asset 

Strategy.  The capital programme is constrained by the affordability of 
borrowing within the revenue budget, and the Council’s finite delivery 

capacity.  Therefore, robust prioritisation methodology to prioritise projects 
in future years is under development. 
 

2.6 For approval under the governance arrangements, schemes are assessed on 
the basis of business cases which follow the Treasury Green Book Five-Case 

Model, as set out below:  

Strategic – there is a robust ‘case for change’ which meets corporate 

objectives  
Economic – the scheme delivers value for money  

Financial – the scheme is affordable within capital and revenue resources 
Commercial – procurement arrangements and any deal structure have been 
considered 

Management – ensuring strong arrangements for the set-up and delivery of 
the project 

Page 76

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
3 Council’s Corporate Objectives and Priorities 

 
3.1 The West Sussex Plan 2017-22 sets out the five priority areas for the Council 

- Best Start in Life, A Prosperous Place, Strong, Safe and Sustainable 
Place, Independent for Later Life and A Council that Works for the 

Community.  The capital programme sets out how the County Council 

proposes to invest in the delivery of the Council’s vision for the county and 
its commitment to the communities of West Sussex.  The capital programme 

is aligned to the plan priorities, as set out in the paragraphs below. 
 
Giving Children the Best Start in Life  

 
The County Council is committed to ensuring that every child in West Sussex 

reaches their potential and aims to provide them with the foundation to do 
that.  A key element of that is the provision of modern, maintained and fit for 
purpose educational facilities.  The capital programme ensures that the 

correct numbers of school places are provided in the correct locations.  The 
Council may also invest in residential facilities for children and care leavers 

where there is a strong business case to do so. 
 
The capital programme also provides £6.7m for implementation of the SEND 

Strategy, focusing on provision for children with autistic spectrum disorder 
and social, emotional and mental health needs. 

 
We will also plan a wide programme of schools capital maintenance works 
across the West Sussex schools estate to ensure that schools remain 

structurally safe, secure and provide an environment where children are able 
to thrive.  

 
A Prosperous Place  

 

West Sussex has a dynamic business community and we are committed to 
ensuring continued economic growth and prosperity, working with our 

partners to understand the needs of businesses and provide the 
infrastructure and skills for them to succeed and grow in West Sussex.  The 
capital programme proposes a package of works designed to stimulate 

economic growth, by providing and contributing to significant job creation, 
delivering additional commercial floorspace in key locations and unlocking 

the potential for the provision of new homes.  The County Council’s 
investment leverages funding from the Government as well as other public 
sector and private sector partners, to support businesses in difficult 

economic times and to ensure that West Sussex remains open for business 
and thrives.  

 
In December 2016, the County Council purchased the former Novartis site in 

Horsham.  We continue to plan, working with a range of external advisors, 
with up to £50m investment, including the site purchase in 2016/17, of 
Horsham Enterprise Park. The project aims to create high value jobs and 

business and provide new housing in the area.  
 

The West Sussex local government area has been awarded pilot status in 
2019/20 to trial the proposed 75% business rates retention scheme.  The  

Page 77

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
County Council and the Districts and Boroughs made a joint submission to 
the Government seeking pilot status, and news of the success of this bid was 
contained in the provisional finance settlement announced on 13 December 

2018.  The extra business rates growth retained (estimated at £19.1m for 
2019/20) will be pooled by participating local authorities and used to make a 

strategic investment in the county’s economic infrastructure.  It is 
anticipated the funds will be applied to enhance the digital infrastructure and 
connectivity for business and residents in the county, starting in 2020/21. 

 
A Strong, Safe, and Sustainable Place  

 
£44.5m further investment in an innovative sustainable energy programme 
of works is proposed to provide a revenue return for the County Council.  As 

part of the Your Energy Sussex partnership, the County Council is proposing 
to invest in the installation of Solar farms and battery storage on unused 

Council land.  In addition, a schools solar programme will install solar 
panels on the schools estate helping to reduce energy bills for schools and 
provide a return on investment for the County Council.  

 
Horsham Combined Blue-Light Centre: work in partnership with the district 

council to relocate the fire station, create residential development space in 
the town centre and provide income-generating training facilities. 
 
Independence for Later Life  
 

The County Council is committed to working closely with partners to enable 
older people to remain independent for longer.  It aims to provide the 
technology and support structure to ensure that West Sussex remains a 

great place to grow older, by keeping people safe and secure.  It also aims to 
address social isolation by trying to keep older residents connected within 

their communities.  
 
A Council that Works for the Community  
 
The County Council is committed to serving the people of West Sussex, 

making it easier and better when they contact us and improving services to 
meet their needs.  The County Council is acutely aware that it is a guardian 
of its residents’ money and aims to ensure that everything it does is best 

value for money.  
 

The capital programme continues to invest in priority areas for local 
communities, including a continuation of the Footway Improvements 
programme (£4.5m) to address the condition of our footway assets in key 

areas across the county, aimed at reducing the number of slip, trips and falls 
in public places and helping to keep people safe and secure.  

 
The County Council has secured government investment and partnership 
engagement in a programme of works called the One Public Estate (OPE). 

Detailed planning has continued throughout 2018/19 and the programme 
aims to: improve service delivery through co-location and integration of 

services, rationalise the public estate, generate revenue savings and 
reductions in running costs, release land for new housing, jobs and economic  

Page 78

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
growth, and secure capital receipts from the disposal of surplus land and 
assets.  There is a capital allocation to deliver a wide range of projects. Initial 
schemes in progress that have been approved include:  

 
  Worthing (Centenary House): Redevelopment of the site to provide new 

accommodation for the County Council and Sussex Police, a multi-agency 
hub offering integrated and co-located public services, a new library and 
Coroner’s Court, community facilities, new housing and commercial or 

employment space.  
  Shoreham (Pond Road): Redevelopment of derelict care home, existing 

health centre and existing library to provide new multi-agency hub 
(including health), new library and community facilities, new housing and 
commercial space.  

  Regeneration of Crawley Town Centre: The focus for the County Council 
is the redevelopment of County Buildings, Telford Place, Crawley Town 

Hall and the Library to provide extra commercial space and several 
hundred new homes.  The project has now been expanded to include the 
fire station and Crawley College.  

  Chichester (Southern Gateway regeneration): This project centres on 
the redevelopment and regeneration of the Southern Gateway in 

Chichester, focusing on the area around the railway and bus stations, the 
former law courts, the County Council-owned former Kingsham School, 

the Police Station and the canal frontage.  
  The Brow, Burgess Hill: Redevelopment of The Brow, to provide new 

housing and a new health centre, potentially with co-located social care 

services.   
  Hurst Road, Horsham: Releasing fire station at Hurst Road, Horsham for 

redevelopment. 
  Further schemes are under development, including at Littlehampton 

Drayton where work is underway to develop a joint-highways and ‘blue-

light’ emergency services fleet maintenance facility.  
 

A programme of capital works to support the remodelling of Community 

Hubs (£5m) services is proposed. The programme will aim to transform 
existing sites into economic enablers, social hubs, cultural centres and digital 

connectors, whilst enhancing their role in supporting reading and learning for 
all ages.   

 
£12m has already been included in the 2018/19 capital programme for the 
phased purchase of commercial property.  A further £38m remains 

available for investment in properties meeting return criteria.  The purpose is 
to secure long-term assets, which will not only produce capital growth but 

also revenue income for the County Council.  
 
The capital programme continues to invest in the services that keep people 

safe, with a £13.8m investment in Corporate and Fire Fleet vehicles and 
£1.8m of Fire Equipment to support the work of the Fire and Rescue 

Service.   
 

3.2 The capital programme comprises large schemes and development projects 

supplemented by routine investment in the core business of the Council.  
This latter activity is managed through asset management plans.  Funding  

Page 79

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
for such work is made through annual ‘block allocations’ which are refreshed 
annually. Block allocations include property and highways asset 
maintenance, fleet and equipment asset replacement and other comparable 

projects.  Block allocations are approved by the County Council on the basis 
of a summary business case and subsequently planned and budgeted within 

the approved control totals.   
 

3.3 The main new schemes introduced into the programme since the last 

approval by County Council in December 2017 are investment in LED Street 
Lighting (£22m), which provides for more energy-efficient lamps whose 

brightness can more easily be controlled, and in-house social care (£3m), 
leaving the County Council at less risk of market volatility in cost and supply 
of care places.  Funding has also been provided for improved SEND provision 

at Woodlands Meed School, Burgess Hill (£20m) and the Horsham Combined 
Blue-Light Centre project (£25m).  These are subject to final approval of a 

Full Business Case. 
 

4 Expected Income, Costs and Resulting Contribution 

 
4.1 The County Council’s capital investment is not restricted to direct service 

provision through new community assets such as schools and highways.  It 
also invests in Income Generating Initiatives - which generate a cashable 
return and thus reduce the Council’s operating costs - and in cost-avoidance 

activities which minimise the future cost burden on local taxpayers.  
Examples of these activities include (as explored in more detail in Section 3): 

 
Income Generating Initiatives 

 

County Gigabit 
Your Energy Sussex 

Investment Property 
Horsham Enterprise Park 
Street-Lighting LED programme 

 
Cost Avoidance (Core Programme) 

 
SEND Development programme 
In-house social care for care leavers 

Woodlands Meed 
Brookhurst Wood (Waste Infrastructure) 

Operation Watershed 
Community Hubs 

 

4.2 Funding for Income Generating Initiatives is included in the capital 
programme, but is released only on approval of a Full Business Case.  Cost-

avoidance schemes are included within the core programme and are not 
subject to any additional governance. 
 

5 Cost and Funding of Capital Strategy 

 

5.1 The total value of schemes in the 2019/20 to 2023/24 capital programme is 
£705.0m.  This comprises £534.7m of the ‘core programme’ with the  

Page 80

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
remaining £170.3m being ‘Income Generating Initiatives’, as set out by 
portfolio in the table below.  These latter schemes are intended to generate 
revenue income for the County Council, and the will proceed subject only to 

the approval of a business case.  
 

18/19  19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 Total 

£m  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

1.0 Adults and Health 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.5 0.1 6.4 

0.0 Children and Young 
People 

0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 3.0 

1.2 Corporate Relations 1.3 16.0 2.1 0.0 0.0 19.4 

29.0 Education and Skills/ 
Children and Young 
People 

31.3 30.5 38.8 18.9 15.1 134.6 

0.7 Environment 1.2 3.0 2.3 0.0 0.0 6.5 

5.3 Finance and Resources 7.0 16.3 17.5 16.0 13.7 70.5 

38.7 Highways and 
Infrastructure 

33.8 45.0 57.9 35.7 37.5 209.9 

5.8 Leader including 
Economy 

7.7 8.2 4.0 12.0 2.0 33.9 

4.9 Safer, Stronger 
Communities 

9.0 16.7 7.7 8.0 9.1 50.5 

86.6 Total Core 92.8 138.3 133.0 93.1 77.5 534.7 

5.3 Corporate Relations 2.4 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 

7.2 Environment 2.7 13.0 7.8 14.9 9.1 47.5 

12.4 Finance and Resources  10.1 18.0 20.0 10.1 8.7 66.9 

0.0 Highways and 
Infrastructure 

0.0 3.7 3.7 7.6 7.0 22.0 

1.4 Leader including 

Economy 

1.0 6.8 7.7 15.0 0.0 30.5 

26.3 Total IGIs and Bold 
Ideas 

16.2 42.5 39.2 47.6 24.8 170.3 

112.9 Total Programme 109.0 180.8 172.2 140.7 102.3  705.0 

 
Further details of the individual schemes by portfolio are set out in 

Annex 2(a), Appendix A. 

 
5.2 Capital expenditure may be financed from a range of internal and external 

sources. Internal sources include capital receipts, revenue contributions, 
reserves and internal borrowing. External sources include private sector 
contributions, such as S106/CIL developer contributions, government grants 

(which may be ring-fenced for specific purposes or non-ring-fenced and 
available for general application by the County Council) and external 

borrowing.  The programme reflects capital spending plans at the date of 
formal member approval (15 February 2019).  During the course of the year 
additional funding (for instance, capital grants or developer contributions) 

may become available.   
 

5.3 The assumed funding profile for the programme to 2023/24 is shown below: 
 

18/19  19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 Total 

£m  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

1.0 Capital Receipts 3.8 3.8 7.7 22.3 36.9 74.5 

5.0 External Contributions 
including S106 

5.8 9.7 11.1 11.8 11.3 49.7 

27.4 Ringfenced 
Government Grant  

5.8 17.4 18.2 9.5 1.3 52.2 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
18/19  19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 Total 

£m  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

51.9 Non-Ringfenced 
Government Grant 

64.9 20.4 19.8 19.4 18.9 143.4 

5.1 Revenue Contributions 
to Capital Outlay 

2.1 19.4 6.8 2.3 10.5 41.1 

1.2 Core Borrowing  13.5 69.0 76.2 33.3 7.4 199.4 

21.3 IGI and Bold Ideas 
Borrowing  

13.1 41.1 32.4 42.1 16.0 144.7 

112.9 Total Financing 109.0 180.8 172.2 140.7 102.3 705.0 

 
5.4 Capital plans (set out in paragraph 5.3) highlight that a borrowing 

requirement of £26.6m is required to finance the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans in 2019/20, including: 

 
  Borrowing of up to £13.5m relating to the core programme; and  
  Additional borrowing of up to £13.1m relating to Income Generating 

Initiatives.  
 

5.5 Revenue Impact: The revenue impact (capital financing cost as a 
percentage of net revenue streams) of the recommended borrowing strategy 
relating to the Council’s ‘core’ capital programme (excluding IGIs, Bold 

Ideas, PFI and Finance Leases) is outlined below: 
 

 2019/20 
Estimate 

£m 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£m 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

Net Revenue Expenditure 574.9 580.9 593.3 607.3 620.0 

Capital Financing 

Charges – Excluding 
IGIs, PFI and Finance Leases 

27.3 27.8 29.9 32.6 33.8 

% Ratio 4.8% 4.8% 5.0% 5.4% 5.5% 

 
5.6 The implications of the capital programme outlined in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.3 

in terms of the council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit and Operational 

Boundary are detailed in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
which is set out in Annex 2(b) of the main budget report. 

 
5.7 The Council has considered long term capital planning and the implications 

this will have on both the level of borrowing and the revenue budget.  As at 

31 March 2018 the Council had external loans with the PWLB totalling 
£395.9m, with a maturity profile which stretches out to 2060.  As originally 

approved within the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the 
Council intends to repay any loan as it falls due; including the annual 
repayment of £7m in respect of the £70m PWLB loan taken out in April 2011.  

This can be demonstrated in Annex 2(a), Appendix C, which extends out to 
2060 and assumes that from 2024/25 onwards the Council has an annual 

core programme borrowing requirement of £20m to cover our essential 
requirements and continues to hold useable reserves, provisions and working 
capital (£130m each year from 2039/40 onwards).  This assumption is based 

on the Council’s historic level of core borrowing and provides for essential 
core funded schemes only, and will be continually reviewed in the coming 

years.  The Council’s external core programme debt at the end of this period 
would be £313m, as at today’s value, after utilising the internal cash  

Page 82

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
balances relating to useable reserves, provisions and working capital.  On a 
time value basis, taking into account the impact of inflation and other 
economic changes, the debt outstanding at 2060 is forecast to be around a 

quarter of its valuation at current prices (£77m).  Annex 2(a), Appendix D 
graphically sets out the debt projections to 31 March 2060. 

 
5.8 Within the IGI borrowing figures, the borrowing need gradually reduces over 

the period to 2060, due to both the application of capital receipts generated 

by some of the IGI projects, along with other projects generating revenue 
returns to reduce the associated borrowing need.  

 
5.9 A list of the relevant Prudential Indicators for 2019/20 to 2022/23 is set out 

in Annex 3(c) of the main budget report, including new commercial 

investment indicators. 
 

6. Non-Treasury (Commercial) Investments  

 
6.1 The Council’s capital investment plans (Section 3) includes a portfolio of non-

treasury (commercial) investments.  This portfolio will generate a revenue 
return to the Council, which will meet the objectives of the West Sussex Plan 

(2017-2022) in supporting financial sustainability and protecting the 
provision of services to the residents of West Sussex.  The Council’s Income 
Generating Initiatives (and Bold Ideas) will only be agreed when supported 

by approved business cases and subject to members’ obtaining appropriate 
assurance regarding the security of capital sums involved; scrutiny being 

undertaken by the Performance and Finance Select Committee. 
 

6.2 Examples of the Council’s non-treasury investments include (but are not 

limited to) the following: 
 

  The purchase of land and property for investment purposes. 
  Working in partnership with other Council’s to improve energy efficiency 

and reducing energy costs for the local residents and small to medium-

sized businesses in Sussex (including solar farms and solar panel 
installations). 

  Third party loans and investments made for service purposes. 
 

6.3 Business cases for all schemes will set-out the economic and/or regeneration 
benefits for the community, together with the funding arrangements and all 
associated revenue costs (for instance the cost of borrowing) applicable to 

the schemes.  Business cases will demonstrate the ongoing stewardship, 
sustainability, affordability and benefits of any proposed project.  Funding 

arrangements may include (but not limited to) the following: 
 

  External borrowing; when evidenced that any income return will first 

cover all associated revenue (capital financing) costs. 
  Share capital in companies associated with the project(s). 

  Capital receipts generated by the project(s). 
 

6.4 As part of the Capital Programme which was approved by County Council in 

February 2017, the Council planned to invest up to £50m in Commercial 
Property over the period 2018/19 to 2022/23; to meet the objectives of the  

Page 83

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
West Sussex Plan (as set out in paragraph 3.1) along with maintaining and 
growing the capital value of the investment.  The principles of the Council’s 
Commercial Property strategy include: 

 
  Ensuring the portfolio of assets is prudently balanced to minimise the risk 

of income fluctuation and loss of capital value.  This will be achieved by 
investing in a range of assets and in a range of locations; 

  Ensuring that the rate of return exceeds that which could be achieved 

through traditional sources of investments; 
  A comprehensive due diligence process to minimise the risks in building 

an investment portfolio, to ensure both the quality of the asset and the 
incumbent tenant.  This would include building and site specific surveys, 
estimates of future maintenance costs and estimates of any future capital 

refurbishment requirements; and 
  Appropriate governance arrangements to ensure decisions are made in a 

streamlined and efficient way, within a transparent and risk aware 
environment. 

 

6.5 The Council will act prudently in making any non-treasury (commercial) 
investment, including a rigorous evaluation of potential opportunities and 

risks against the principles outlined above.  The assessment of the Council’s 
income generating initiatives and the associated capital financing costs will 

be disclosed over the life-cycle of the MTFS as a minimum; but also assessed 
over the longer-term (as set out in the Prudential Indicators – Annex 2(c) 
within the main budget report).  

 
7. Risks 

 

7.1 Preparation, financing and delivery of a multi-year capital programme 
involves a series of risks.  The major ones, and their mitigations, are set out 

below: 
 

Key Risk Mitigation 

Schemes’ total costs are 

above budget 

Preparation of monthly highlight reports 

scrutinised through the governance 
arrangements 
Reporting via monthly Total Performance 

Monitor 

Lack of capacity prevents 

timely delivery of 
schemes 

Use of multi-disciplinary consultancy (MDC) for 

professional services 
Monthly highlight reports for timely 

identification of slippage 

Unaffordability of 

financing costs in revenue 
budget 

Preparation of Treasury Management Strategy 

Schemes taken forward 
do not support West 
Sussex Plan objectives 

Inclusion of members on Capital and Assets 
Board to align prioritisation 

High priority scheme not 
reflected in existing 

capital plans 

Flexibility in capital governance to allow 
change in priorities 

Page 84

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
Key Risk Mitigation 

Expiry of time limited 

S106 contributions 

Monitoring system in place to ensure that 

contributions are spent within appropriate time 
period  

Spending is not in line 
with grant conditions 
(e.g. Local Growth Fund) 

Monitoring of spending against agreed profiles 
and grant conditions 
Negotiation with grant-awarding bodies where 

conditions may not be met 

Availability of feasibility 

and other revenue 
funding constrains capital 

plans  

Creation of Feasibility Reserve 

Outline Business Cases to include feasibility 
funding requirement 

Outline Business Cases 

do not fully reflect cost of 
scheme 

Rigorous challenge of Outline Business Cases 

through the capital programme governance 
arrangements 

Interest rate volatility 
regarding borrowing 

Regular monitoring of interest rates 
Use of external advisors 

Implications of Brexit 
both on delivery and 
financing of capital 

programme 

Regular monitoring and awareness 

 
8. Knowledge and Training 

 

8.1 The Council uses professional advisory services as necessary in the 
preparation and delivery of its capital programme.  For example, these 
include: 

 
  Faithfull + Gould (multi-disciplinary consultant) 

  Savills (property advisory services) 
  Montagu Evans (valuers) 
  Link (treasury management advisory) 

 
8.2 CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires that staff with responsibility for treasury 

management and property investment receive adequate training.  Staff 
undergo regular professional training to ensure their skills are regularly 
updated.  Future training needs are periodically reviewed as part of staff 

appraisals and personal development plans.  Training options for officers 
include professional qualifications from CIPFA and other appropriate 

organisations; attendance at workshops and seminars run by the Council’s 
appointed treasury management advisor; and on the job training. 
 

 
Jeremy Hunt 

 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

 

 
Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Capital Programme Portfolio Pages 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



 

 

 
Appendix B – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement 2019/20 
Appendix C – Illustrative External Debt/Internal Borrowing Projections 
Appendix D – Graphical Illustration of Debt Projections to March 2060 

 
 

Contact: Vicky Chuter 033 022 23414 
 
Background Papers 

 
None 

 
 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

1,009 Adults and Health 1,492 1,539 1,700 1,495 128 6,354

0 Children and Young People 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 3,000

1,181 Corporate Relations 1,282 16,000 2,141 0 0 19,423

28,966 Education and Skills 31,324 30,442 38,875 18,896 15,062 134,599

752 Environment 1,176 3,064 2,300 0 0 6,540

5,254 Finance and Resources 6,994 16,361 17,462 15,993 13,705 70,515

38,714 Highways and Infrastructure 33,830 44,981 57,869 35,746 37,463 209,889

5,787 Leader (including Economy) 7,670 8,278 4,000 12,000 2,000 33,948

4,889 Safer, Stronger Communities 9,042 16,663 7,650 7,996 9,144 50,495

86,552 TOTAL PROGRAMME 92,810 138,328 132,997 93,126 77,502 534,763

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

5,310 Corporate Relations 2,370 1,000 0 0 0 3,370

7,280 Environment 2,700 13,000 7,800 14,924 9,036 47,460

12,366 Finance and Resources 10,115 18,000 20,000 10,076 8,729 66,920

0 Highways and Infrastructure 0 3,700 3,700 7,600 7,000 22,000

1,420 Leader (including Economy) 1,000 6,780 7,720 15,000 0 30,500

26,376 TOTAL PROGRAMME 16,185 42,480 39,220 47,600 24,765 170,250

112,928 Total Capital Programme 108,995 180,808 172,217 140,726 102,267 705,013

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

1,000 Capital Receipts 3,850 3,750 7,750 22,250 36,852 74,452

5,014 External Contributions including S106 5,812 9,732 11,050 11,820 11,300 49,714
27,461 Ringfenced Government Grant 5,856 17,349 18,210 9,490 1,328 52,233

51,901 Non-Ringfenced Government Grant 64,823 20,425 19,865 19,356 18,858 143,327

5,075 Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay 1,032 3,432 4,632 2,377 10,532 22,005

0 Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay from 75% Pilot 1,000 16,000 2,141 0 0 19,141

1,181 Core Borrowing 13,537 68,990 76,149 33,333 7,390 199,399

21,296 IGI and Bold Ideas Borrowing 13,085 41,130 32,420 42,100 16,007 144,742

112,928 TOTAL PROGRAMME 108,995 180,808 172,217 140,726 102,267 705,013

£000 £000 %

External Sources and Service Portfolio Direct Funding 

Government Grants
Adults and Health 992
Education and Skills 1,550
Leader (including Economy) 734
Highways and Infrastructure 2,580

5,856 5.37%
External Contributions
Education and Skills 950
Highways and Infrastructure 4,141
Leader (including Economy) 721

5,812 5.33%

Total 11,668 10.71%

Corporate Funding
- Capital Receipts 3,850
- Government Grant 64,823
- Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay 1,032
- Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay from 75% Pilot 1,000
- Borrowing - Corporate 26,622
Total Corporate Funding 97,327 89.29%

TOTAL CAPITAL PAYMENTS 108,995 100%

FINANCED FROM

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2023/24

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20

FINANCING

CORE CAPITAL PROGRAMME (Expenditure)

INCOME GENERATING INITIATIVES & BOLD IDEAS 
(Expenditure)

Page 87

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Boundary Close 136 0 0 0 0 0
NHS Transfer/A Place to Live - 38 Alinora Crescent 21 0 0 0 0 0
Tempe 102 0 0 0 0 0
Westergate Extra Care 750 750 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 1,009 750 0 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
In-House Social Care 0 500 500 1,000 1,000 0
NHS Capital Grants 0 242 700 700 495 128
Social Care Grant 0 0 339 0 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 742 1,539 1,700 1,495 128

TOTAL PROGRAMME 1,009 1,492 1,539 1,700 1,495 128

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
A Place to Live Grant 21 0 0 0 0 0
NHS Grant 136 242 440 0 0 128
Social Care Grant 750 750 339 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 102 500 760 1,700 1,495 0
External Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding 1,009 1,492 1,539 1,700 1,495 128

* All projects approved subject to business case

Adults and Health

Financing

Approved Budget Profiled

Project

Page 88

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 0 0 0 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Care Leavers Accommodation 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0

TOTAL PROGRAMME 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Corporate Resources 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0

Total Funding 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0

* All projects approved subject to business case

Children and Young People

Project

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Page 89

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Broadband 1,181 282 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 1,181 282 0 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Digital Infrastructure (Business Rates Pilot) 0 1,000 16,000 2,141 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 1,000 16,000 2,141 0 0

TOTAL PROGRAMME 1,181 1,282 16,000 2,141 0 0

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Corporate Resources 744 1,282 16,000 2,141 0 0
External Contributions 437 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding 1,181 1,282 16,000 2,141 0 0

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Income Generating Projects
County Gigabit 5,310 2,370 1,000 0 0 0

Total IGIs and Bold Ideas Projects 5,310 2,370 1,000 0 0 0

* All projects approved subject to business case

Corporate Relations

Project

Approved Budget Profiled

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Income Generating Initiatives and Bold Ideas

Page 90

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Academies Programme 131 0 0 0 0 0
Age of Transfer - Storrington 431 0 0 0 0 0
Basic Need Programme 18,899 14,904 3,100 0 0 0
Community Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 7,095 0 0 0 0 0
Devolved Formula Capital Grant 1,694 0 0 0 0 0
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 466 0 0 0 0 0
Schools Access Initiative 250 250 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 28,966 15,154 3,100 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Future Years Basic Need 0 6,650 14,500 15,137 10,017 9,781
Future Years Capital Maintenance 0 6,720 6,187 5,538 5,034 4,081
Future Years DFCG 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200
Manor Green Primary SEND Provision 0 250 200 0 0 0
SEND Development Programme 0 350 2,255 1,000 2,595 0
Titnore Lane - Land 0 0 0 0 50 0
Woodlands Meed 0 1,000 3,000 16,000 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 16,170 27,342 38,875 18,896 15,062

TOTAL PROGRAMME 28,966 31,324 30,442 38,875 18,896 15,062

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Basic Need Grant 27,863 43,776 0 0 0 0
Capital Maintenance Grant 6,961 6,270 5,648 5,088 4,579 4,081
Devolved Formula Capital Grant 1,694 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200
Special Educational Needs & Development Grant (SEND) 650 350 2,255 0 750 0
Healthy Pupils Capital Grant 466 0 0 0 0 0
Government Grant - Woodlands Meed 0 0 0 6,000 0 0
Corporate Resources -11,170 -21,222 21,339 26,587 12,317 9,781
External Contributions 2,502 950 0 0 50 0

Total Funding 28,966 31,324 30,442 38,875 18,896 15,062

* All projects approved subject to business case

Education and Skills

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Project

Page 91

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Carbon Reduction Programme 582 0 0 0 0 0
Downslink 71 0 0 0 0 0
Faygate 18 643 0 0 0 0
General Aftercare Works 30 33 34 0 0 0
Westhampnett Gas Scheme 51 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 752 676 34 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Baystone Farm 0 0 550 0 0 0
Faygate 0 0 780 0 0 0
Brookhurst Wood - Site HA 0 500 1,700 2,300 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 500 3,030 2,300 0 0

TOTAL PROGRAMME 752 1,176 3,064 2,300 0 0

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Local Enterprise Partnership Grant 20 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 732 1,176 3,064 2,300 0 0
External Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding 752 1,176 3,064 2,300 0 0

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Income Generating Projects
Your Energy Sussex - Halewick Lane 293 0 0 0 0 0
Your Energy Sussex - Schools Solar PV Programme 4,673 0 0 0 0 0
Your Energy Sussex - Westhampnett Solar Farm 2,314 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Projects 7,280 0 0 0 0 0

Proposed Income Generating Projects *
Waste Infrastructure 0 0 1,200 1,800 0 0
Your Energy Sussex - Solar Farms and Battery Storage 0 2,700 11,800 6,000 14,924 9,036

Total Proposed Projects 0 2,700 13,000 7,800 14,924 9,036

Total IGIs and Bold Ideas Projects 7,280 2,700 13,000 7,800 14,924 9,036

* All projects approved subject to business case

Environment

Approved Budget Profiled

Project

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Income Generating Initiatives and Bold Ideas

Page 92

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Accommodation Optimisation - County Hall 81 0 0 0 0 0
Gypsy and Travellers  Improvement Programme 450 0 0 0 0 0
Sompting Waste Management 61 250 0 0 0 0
Staff Capitalisation - Property 1,225 0 0 0 0 0
Structural Maintenance 2,203 0 0 0 0 0
Targeted Minor Asset Improvement Plan 1,000 0 0 0 0 0
Electric Vehicles 59 0 0 0 0 0
North Mundham Alternative Provision 175 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 5,254 250 0 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Accessibility Audit 0 500 1,500 0 0 0
Capital Improvements Programme 0 1,173 5,320 7,000 8,110 1,300
Future Years Staff Capitalisation - Property 0 1,021 1,041 1,062 1,083 1,105
Future Years Structural Maintenance 0 3,500 2,200 2,300 2,300 1,000
Future Years Gypsy and Travellers Improvement Programme 0 150 300 300 300 300
One Public Estate 0 400 6,000 6,800 4,200 10,000

Total Proposed Starts List 0 6,744 16,361 17,462 15,993 13,705

TOTAL PROGRAMME 5,254 6,994 16,361 17,462 15,993 13,705

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Corporate Resources 5,254 6,994 16,361 17,462 15,993 13,705
External Contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Funding 5,254 6,994 16,361 17,462 15,993 13,705

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Income Generating Projects
Propco: Barnham 359 0 0 0 0 0
Propco: Orchard Street 83 115 0 0 0 0
Investment Properties - Churchill Court, Manor Royal, 
Crawley 11,924 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Projects 12,366 115 0 0 0 0

Proposed Income Generating Projects *
Investment Property Opportunities 0 10,000 13,000 13,000 2,076 0
Propco Others 0 0 5,000 7,000 8,000 8,729

Total Proposed Projects 0 10,000 18,000 20,000 10,076 8,729

Total IGIs and Bold Ideas Projects 12,366 10,115 18,000 20,000 10,076 8,729

* All projects approved subject to business case

Finance and Resources

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Income Generating Initiatives and Bold Ideas
Approved Budget Profiled

Project

Page 93

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
A2300 Corridor  Enhancement Capacity, Burgess Hill 1,030 1,020 0 0 0 0
A259 Corridor Enhancement Capacity, East Arun 5,313 6,899 1,311 0 0 0
A284 Lyminster Bypass 725 250 6,408 8,500 0 0
Annual Works Programme 24,082 2,858 0 0 0 0
On-Street Parking 200 0 0 0 0 0
Crawley Transport Package Phase 1 135 0 0 0 0 0
Flood Management 120 148 258 0 0 0
Footway Improvement Programme 1,369 0 0 0 0 0
National Cycle Network 2 258 0 0 0 0 0
Operation Watershed 300 0 0 0 0 0
Pothole Action Fund 2,392 0 0 0 0 0
Road Safety Improvements 893 1,532 0 0 0 0
Shoreham Footbridge Replacement 21 0 0 0 0 0
Staff Capitalisation 1,219 0 0 0 0 0
West of Horsham 625 1,666 4,011 0 0 0
Worthing Sustainable Transport Package 32 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 38,714 14,373 11,988 8,500 0 0

Proposed Projects*
A2300 Corridor  Enhancement Capacity, Burgess Hill 0 0 3,110 8,210 9,210 0
A259 Clympwick Bridge 0 0 500 500 0 0
A27 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
A29 Re-alignment 0 1,350 11,250 22,500 10,100 10,300
Annual Works Programme 0 14,777 14,777 14,777 14,777 14,777
Development and Infrastructure Future Fund 0 0 0 0 0 1,000
Footways Improvement Programme 0 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 0
Future Years Operation Watershed 0 300 300 300 300 0
Future Years Staff Capitalisation 0 1,280 1,306 1,332 1,359 1,386
Traffic Signals Refurbishment Programme 0 250 250 250 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 0 19,457 32,993 49,369 35,746 37,463

TOTAL PROGRAMME 38,714 33,830 44,981 57,869 35,746 37,463

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Flood and Coastal Erosion Grant 120 148 258 0 0 0
Pothole Grant 2,570 0 0 0 0 0
Road Safety Grant 893 1,532 0 0 0 0
Local Enterprise Partnership Grant 5,039 900 12,707 8,610 7,540 0
Local Transport Maintenance Grant 11,043 11,043 11,043 11,043 11,043 11,043
Additional Highways Maintenance Grant 6,083 0 0 0 0 0
Local Integrated Transport Grant 3,734 3,734 3,734 3,734 3,734 3,734
Local Transport  Incentive Fund Grant 2,300 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 4,889 12,332 8,871 23,432 1,659 11,386
External Contributions 2,043 4,141 8,368 11,050 11,770 11,300

Total Funding 38,714 33,830 44,981 57,869 35,746 37,463

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Proposed Income Generating Projects *
LED Street lighting 0 0 3,700 3,700 7,600 7,000

Total IGIs and Bold Ideas Projects 0 0 3,700 3,700 7,600 7,000

* All projects approved subject to business case

Approved Budget Profiled
Income Generating Initiatives and Bold Ideas

Highways and Infrastructure

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Project

Page 94

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

Project

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Broadband (Growth Is Digital) 3 0 0 0 0 0
Chichester University 350 0 0 0 0 0
Crawley Growth Programme 1,280 796 1,164 0 0 0
Worthing Public Realm 231 169 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 1,864 965 1,164 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Crawley Growth Programme 3,923 6,105 4,114 0 0 0
Growth Programme 0 600 3,000 4,000 12,000 2,000

Total Proposed Starts List 3,923 6,705 7,114 4,000 12,000 2,000

TOTAL PROGRAMME 5,787 7,670 8,278 4,000 12,000 2,000

Financing 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Local Enterprise Partnership Grant 3,923 734 0 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 1,864 6,215 7,414 4,000 12,000 2,000
External Contributions 0 721 864 0 0 0

Total Funding 5,787 7,670 8,278 4,000 12,000 2,000

Income Generating Initiatives (IGIs) and Bold 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Income Generating Projects
Bold Ideas - Creative Bognor 900 0 0 0 0 0
Horsham Enterpise Park 520 0 0 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Projects 1,420 0 0 0 0 0

Proposed Income Generating Projects *
Experience West Sussex 0 0 500 0 0 0
Horsham Enterprise Park 0 1,000 6,280 7,720 15,000 0

Total Proposed Projects 0 1,000 6,780 7,720 15,000 0

Total IGIs and Bold Ideas Projects 1,420 1,000 6,780 7,720 15,000 0

* All projects approved subject to business case

Leader (including Economy)

Approved Budget Profiled

Approved Budget Profiled

Page 95

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 to 2023/24

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In-Flight Projects
Accommodation Pressures WSFRS 114 0 0 0 0 0
Breathing Apparatus - Cleaning Facilities 50 0 0 0 0 0
Energy Efficiency 0 0 0 0 0 0
Equalities and Diversity 172 0 0 0 0 0
Fire Equipment 1,167 558 0 0 0 0
Fleet 3,286 2,000 1,405 0 0 0

Total In-Flight Approved Projects 4,789 2,558 1,405 0 0 0

Proposed Projects*
Community Hubs 0 3,000 2,000 0 0 0
Future Years Fire Equipment 0 400 350 350 350 344
Future Years Fleet 0 684 2,208 2,300 3,846 4,800
Horsham Combined Blue Light Centre 100 1,900 10,200 5,000 3,800 4,000
Self-Service Library Terminals 0 500 500 0 0 0

Total Proposed Starts List 100 6,484 15,258 7,650 7,996 9,144

TOTAL PROGRAMME 4,889 9,042 16,663 7,650 7,996 9,144

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding
Fire Grant 16 0 0 0 0 0
YES Grant 0 0 0 2,400 0 0
Corporate Resources 4,841 9,042 16,163 5,250 7,996 9,144
External Contributions 32 0 500 0 0 0

Total Funding 4,889 9,042 16,663 7,650 7,996 9,144

* All projects approved subject to business case

Safer, Stronger Communities

Approved Budget Profiled

Financing

Project

Page 96

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App A



 

 

 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement – 2019/20 

 
1.1 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Capital and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003, the Council is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue to repay long-term borrowing, namely its ‘Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP)’.  The 2008 amendment to these regulations gives local 
authorities the flexibility to set MRP at a level it considers to be prudent. 
 

1.2 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has 
issued statutory guidance (updated 2018) on determining a prudent level of 

MRP, which presents four ready-made options for the calculation, but 
makes clear that other methodologies are permissible.  The guidance 
distinguishes between historic capital expenditure notionally supported by 

central government through the provision of Revenue Support Grant 
(‘supported borrowing’), and self-financed ‘unsupported’ borrowing.  

Transitory provisions of the MHCLG guidance permit the treatment of any 
self-financed borrowing prior to 1 April 2008 as supported for the purposes 
of the MRP calculation.  

 
1.3 The Council has adopted the Asset Life Annuity method (MHCLG option 3b) 

for the calculation of MRP on unsupported borrowing.  Under this approach 
the debt is repaid over a period equal to the useful life of the asset financed 

by the borrowing.  Annuity rates are linked to rates published by the Public 
Works Loans Board (PWLB).  MRP on outstanding supported borrowing is 
made on a 2% annuity basis over a 40-year period. 

 
1.4 Private Finance Initiatives and Finance Leases may be arranged to finance 

the acquisition of non-current assets as an alternative to borrowing where 
this is financially or operationally advantageous and is in accordance with 
the strategy for the capital programme.  In line with MHCLG guidance and 

to mitigate the impact of the move to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) on the Council’s revenue account, it is the policy of West 

Sussex County Council to make an annual MRP charge equal to the portion 
of the PFI unitary charge or lease payment taken to the Balance Sheet to 
reduce the liability. 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App B



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Illustrative External Debt/Internal Borrowing Projections 

 
(Excluding short-term borrowing from the Chichester Harbour Conservancy) 

 

 

Year Ending 

Existing 

PWLB  

Debt  

 £’m 

Core 

Borrowing 

(New) 

£’m 

IGI 

Borrowing 

(New) 

£’m 

New 

Borrowing 

(Total) 

£’m 

 

Internal 

Borrowing 

£’m 

 

Total 

Borrowing 

£’m 

31 March 2019 388.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 89.4 478.2 

31 March 2020 381.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 114.6 496.4 

31 March 2021 374.8 0.0 40.6 40.6 179.7 595.1 

31 March 2022 371.3 17.1 122.8 139.9 178.8 690.0 

31 March 2023 361.3 47.7 163.3 211.0 177.7 750.0 

31 March 2024 361.3 58.0 195.5 253.5 160.0 774.8 

31 March 2025 361.3 66.0 183.8 249.8 156.5 767.6 

31 March 2026 337.2 96.3 171.3 267.6 154.0 758.8 

31 March 2027 332.5 108.0 167.4 275.4 149.9 757.8 

31 March 2028 286.4 158.2 163.4 321.6 147.9 755.9 

31 March 2029 286.4 164.5 159.2 323.7 142.9 753.0 

31 March 2030 239.2 216.9 154.9 371.8 137.9 748.9 

31 March 2031 195.9 264.7 150.4 415.1 132.9 743.9 

31 March 2032 124.9 339.2 145.8 485.0 127.9 737.8 

31 March 2033 92.2 374.3 141.1 515.4 122.9 730.5 

31 March 2034 40.0 428.3 136.2 564.5 117.9 722.4 

31 March 2035 40.0 389.0 131.1 520.1 152.9 713.0 

31 March 2036 40.0 388.7 125.9 514.6 147.9 702.5 

31 March 2037 40.0 389.2 120.5 509.7 142.9 692.6 

31 March 2038 40.0 390.4 114.9 505.3 137.9 683.2 

31 March 2039 40.0 391.7 109.2 500.9 132.9 673.8 

31 March 2040 40.0 391.4 103.2 494.6 130.0 664.6 

31 March 2041 40.0 387.3 97.1 484.4 130.0 654.4 

31 March 2042 40.0 382.2 90.9 473.1 130.0 643.1 

31 March 2043 40.0 375.9 84.5 460.4 130.0 630.4 

31 March 2044 25.0 384.3 77.9 462.2 130.0 617.2 

31 March 2045 25.0 376.6 72.0 448.6 130.0 603.6 

31 March 2046 25.0 367.8 66.1 433.9 130.0 588.9 

31 March 2047 25.0 357.8 60.7 418.5 130.0 573.5 

31 March 2048 25.0 346.5 55.5 402.0 130.0 557.0 

31 March 2049 25.0 334.0 50.7 384.7 130.0 539.7 

31 March 2050 25.0 321.6 46.2 367.8 130.0 522.8 

31 March 2051 25.0 308.5 41.8 350.3 130.0 505.3 

31 March 2052 25.0 297.8 37.8 335.6 130.0 490.6 

31 March 2053 25.0 290.1 34.1 324.2 130.0 479.2 

31 March 2054 25.0 283.5 31.4 314.9 130.0 469.9 

31 March 2055 10.0 291.4 30.0 321.4 130.0 461.4 

31 March 2056 10.0 283.2 28.5 311.7 130.0 451.7 

31 March 2057 10.0 284.3 27.1 311.4 130.0 451.4 

31 March 2058 10.0 284.5 25.5 310.0 130.0 450.0 

31 March 2059 0.0  293.7 23.9 317.6 130.0 447.6 

31 March 2060 0.0 292.9 22.2 315.1 130.0 445.1 

 

 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App C



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Graphical Illustration of Debt Projections to 31 March 2060 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App D



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (2019/20) 
 
1 Background 

 
1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget which broadly means 

cash raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus 

monies are invested in counterparties, financial instruments or externally 
managed pooled funds commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite, 

providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the 

funding of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide 
to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow 

planning, to ensure the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  
The management of longer term cash may involve the arrangement of long 
and/or short term loans (external borrowing) or may use longer term cash 

flow surpluses in lieu of external borrowing (internal borrowing).  On 
occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any external debt previously 

drawn may be repaid and/or restructured to meet the Council’s risk or cost 
objectives. 
 

1.3 In December 2017 CIPFA issued revised Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes.  As a consequence, from 2019/20 all local authorities 

are required to prepare a separate Capital Strategy report which will 
provide the following:  

 

 A high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 

of service;  
 An overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 

 The implications for future financial sustainability. 
 

1.4 The aim of the Capital Strategy is to ensure that all elected members of the 

County Council fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and 
resulting capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk 

appetite.  The Capital Strategy is reported alongside the Budget Report and 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for Council approval.  Details 
of the Council’s borrowing needs arising from the capital plans along with 

associated Prudential Indicators are also set out in the Capital Strategy. 
 

1.5 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines 
treasury management as: 
 

“The management of the Council’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 

effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”. 

 

1.6 Treasury management aims to manage risk; accordingly the successful 
identification, control and monitoring of risk are integral elements to  

Page 103

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
treasury management activities and include credit and counterparty risk, 
liquidity risk, market and interest rate risk, refinancing risk and legal and 
regulatory risk. 

 
1.7 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is 

critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or 
the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-
to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will 

see a balance of the interest costs of external debt and the investment 
income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since 

cash balances generally result from reserves and balances it is paramount 
to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will 
in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 

 
1.8 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 

treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
investments (arising usually from capital expenditure) and are separate 
from the day-to-day treasury management activities.  Further details are 

set out in the Capital Strategy. 
 

1.9 Brexit: The Council’s 2019/20 Treasury Management Strategy Statement is 
recommended on the assumption of an agreement being reached between 
the UK and the European Union (EU) in accordance with the original Brexit 

timetable.  Both the borrowing and investment strategies contained within the 
attached report (including forecasts for investment income) may therefore 

need to be revisited if these current Brexit assumptions do not materialise. 
 

1.10 During 2018 the overall balance of risks to the UK economy was neutral, 

based on a reasonably orderly Brexit through to the end of the original two-
year negotiation period (March 2019) and the following transitional period 
ending around December 2020.  The risks of a no-deal Brexit, or conversely a 

compromise agreement that removes all threats of economic and political 
disruption, may materially change market forecasts (in either direction) for 

both UK gilt yields (and related borrowing costs) and the path of the UK Bank 
Rate (and corresponding short-term investment rates).  For example, in the 
event of an orderly non-agreement exit it is likely the Bank of England 

would take action to cut the UK Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effect of this situation.   

 
1.11 The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement will keep under 

review the risks arising from various Brexit outcomes; including a 

negotiated deal by 29 March 2019, an extension to Article 50, or a no-deal 
scenario.  In addition to differing economic and interest rate forecasts (for 

each scenario) and credit risks relating to approved counterparties (for 
example a UK sovereign downgrade following a no-deal Brexit would 
negatively impact UK banks), there are potential liquidity risks that on the 

date the UK leaves the European Union the Council is temporarily (or for an 
extended period in a no-deal scenario) unable to access funds invested with 

counterparties and/or externally managed pooled funds that operate in a 
non-UK jurisdiction. 
 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
1.12 Dependent on how the UK exits from the EU, the Director of Finance, 

Performance and Procurement may approve a temporary increase to the 
monetary limits (as contained within Section 7 of this report) for UK banks 

and UK-domiciled externally managed pooled funds to ensure effective cash 
flow management and liquidity arrangements on the Brexit leave date (and 

any immediate transitional period thereafter) is maintained.  Additionally, 
the Council may lose access to specific counterparties named within the 
treasury management strategy (for example the European Investment 

Bank). 
 

2  Reporting Requirements 

 
2.1 Treasury Management Reporting: In accordance with CIPFA’s ‘Treasury 

Management Code of Practice’ the Council is required to receive and 
approve, as a minimum, three main reports each year, which incorporates a 

variety of policies, estimates and actuals, including: 
 
(a) The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) detailing how 

the Council’s investments and borrowings are to be organised; 
including the annual investment strategy which approves the 

parameters on how investments are to be managed.  Details of the 
Council’s capital plans (including relevant prudential indicators) and 
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time) are set out in the 
Council’s Capital Strategy. 

 
(b) A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report – Updating the Council with 

the progress of the capital position, treasury management activity and 

performance, and whether any policies and/or prudential and treasury 
indicators require revision; delegated to the Performance and Finance 

Select Committee in accordance with governance arrangements 
approved in February 2014.  Additionally, the Regulation, Audit and 
Accounts Committee receive quarterly reports on compliance with the 

treasury management strategy.  
 

(c) An Annual Treasury Management Report – Providing details of actual 
treasury operation as compared to the estimates within the strategy, 
together with a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators; 

delegated to the Performance and Finance Select Committee as 
approved by County Council in July 2018. 

 
2.2 Before recommendation to County Council, the TMSS report received 

appropriate scrutiny from the Performance and Finance Select Committee.  

In addition, the Council maintains a Treasury Management Panel comprising 
the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and four other elected 

members.  The Panel functions as an advisory body supporting the Director 
of Finance, Performance and Procurement in implementing the Council’s 
borrowing and investment strategies and reviewing all treasury 

management reports. 
 

2.3 Treasury management issues reported within the attached 2019/20 TMSS 
include the Council’s: 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
Capital Issues: 

 

 Capital plans; and 
 Borrowing and repayment strategy forecast projections. 

 

Treasury Management Issues: 
 

 Current treasury position (attached at Appendix A); 
 Treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 

Council; 
 Prospects for interest rates as provided by the Council’s treasury 

management advisor (attached at Appendix B);  

 The borrowing and repayment strategy; 
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 Debt rescheduling; 
 The investment strategy; 
 Creditworthiness policy; and 

 Policy on the use of external service providers. 
 

2.4 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003; 
CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes; and the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (MHCLG) MRP and 

Investment Guidance. 
 

3 Training 

 
3.1 CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Director of Finance, Performance and 

Procurement to ensure that members with responsibility for treasury 
management receive adequate training in treasury management.  Future 

training for members responsible for the scrutiny of the Council’s treasury 
management policies and activities, and members acting in an advisory role 
to the Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement, remain under 

constant review. 
 

3.2 Additionally, the training needs of treasury management officers are 
periodically reviewed as part of staff appraisals and personal development 
plans.  Ongoing training options for officers include professional 

qualifications from CIPFA and other appropriate organisations; attendance 
at workshops and seminars run by the Council’s appointed treasury 

management advisor; and on the job training in line with the approved 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) as provided by the Principal Finance 
Officer (Treasury Management & Insurance). 

 
4 Treasury Management Advisors 

 
4.1 The Council uses Link Asset Services (Link Treasury Services Ltd) as its 

external treasury management advisor.  The Council recognises that 

responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and therefore will ensure that undue reliance is not 

placed upon its external service providers.  The Council recognises however 
that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to a wide range of specialist skills and 

resources including: 

Page 106

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
 Credit advice; 
 Investment advice; 
 Debt management advice; 

 Capital and financial accounting advice; and 
 Economic and interest rate forecasting. 

 
4.2 The Council will ensure that the terms of the appointment of external 

treasury management advisors and the methods by which their value will 

be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subject to regular 
review.  The contract with Link Asset Services commenced on 1 November 

2016 and is subject to triennial reviews, with the next review scheduled 
during 2019/20 (to include an option to extend for an additional two years 
following a review of the service received across the period). 

 
5 Capital Programme (2019/20 to 2023/24) 

 
5.1 The Council’s capital expenditure and financing plans as contained within 

the approved Capital Programme set out in the Capital Strategy are the key 

drivers of treasury management activity.  The output of the Capital 
Programme is reflected in the Council’s prudential indicators (which are 

included within the Capital Strategy) which are designed to provide 
members with an overview and confirm such expenditure and financing 
plans. 

 
5.2 The table below is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, 

both those agreed previously and those forming part of the current budget 
cycle for approval by County Council in February 2019: 
 

Capital 

Expenditure by 

Service 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£’m 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Est. (i) 

£’m 

Adults and Health 1.0 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.5 0.1 

Children & Young 

People 
0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 

Corporate 

Relations 
1.2 1.3 16.0 2.1 0.0 0.0 

Education & Skills 29.0 31.3 30.5 38.8 18.9 15.1 

Environment 0.7 1.2 3.0 2.3 0.0 0.0 

Finance and 

Resources 
5.3 7.0 16.3 17.5 16.0 13.7 

Highways and 

Infrastructure 
38.7 33.8 45.0 57.9 35.7 37.5 

Leader 5.8 7.7 8.2 4.0 12.0 2.0 

Safer, Stronger 

Communities 
4.9 9.0 16.7 7.7 8.0 9.1 

Core Programme 86.6 92.8 138.3 133.0 93.1 77.5 

Income Generating 

Initiatives (ii) 
26.3 16.2 42.5 39.2 47.6 24.8 

Total Capital 

Expenditure 
112.9 109.0 180.8 172.2 140.7 102.3 

 

(i) 2023/24 estimate includes subsequent years spend. 

(ii) IGIs represent the Council’s non-treasury (commercial) investment plans. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
5.3 Capital expenditure as reported above may be financed from a range of 

external and internal sources.  External sources include private sector 
contributions (such as s106 developer contributions) as well as government 

grants; internal sources include capital receipts, revenue contributions and 
reserves set aside for capital purposes. 

 
5.4 Borrowing is required to meet the cost of any capital expenditure not 

financed by internal and/or external funding sources.  The table below 

summarises how the Council’s capital expenditure plans will be financed 
across the period through to 2023/24, with any funding shortfall resulting in 

a borrowing requirement: 
 

Financing the 

Capital 

Programme 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£’m 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Estimate 

£’m 

Capital 

Expenditure 
112.9 109.0 180.8 172.2 140.7 102.3 

Financed By:       

Government 

Grants 
-79.3 -70.7 -37.8 -38.0 -28.9 -20.2 

External 

Contributions 
-5.0 -5.8 -9.7 -11.1 -11.8 -11.3 

Capital Receipts  -1.0 -3.8 -3.8 -7.7 -22.3 -36.9 

Revenue Funding -1.1 -2.1 -19.4 -6.8 -2.3 -10.5 

Capital 

Expenditure 

Reserve 

-4.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Financing (Excl. 

Borrowing)  
-90.4 -82.4 -70.7 -63.6 -65.3 -78.9 

Borrowing (Core) -1.2 -13.5 -69.0 -76.2 -33.3 -7.4 

Borrowing (IGIs 

and Bold Ideas) 
-21.3 -13.1 -41.1 -32.4 -42.1 -16.0 

Total Financing -112.9 -109.0 -180.8 -172.2 -140.7 -102.3 

 
5.5 The above financing table excludes other long-term liabilities, such as 

existing PFI schemes (Crawley Schools; Street Lighting and Waste 

Management) and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing 
instruments within their contractual terms; and so the Council is not 

required to separately borrow for them. 
 

6 Borrowing and Repayment Strategy 

 
6.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 5 provide details of the 

service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures 
that the cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional 
codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and 

the Council’s capital strategy.  This will involve both the organisation of the 
Council’s cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of 

appropriate borrowing facilities.  
 

6.2 The borrowing strategy covers the relevant prudential and treasury 

indicators, and the current and projected debt positions.  The key objectives 
of the Council’s current borrowing strategy are:  

Page 108

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
(1) Ensure that future external debt is affordable within revenue budget 

constraints; with the timing of when to arrange new debt governed by 
the Council’s long-term cash flow forecasts (as per the requirements of 

the capital plans through to 2023/24); and 
 

(2) Potentially borrowing in advance of need so that external debt (fixed-
rate funding) is arranged whilst interest rates are lower than they are 
projected to be over the next few years. 

 
6.3 For all new external debt arrangements, the Council will first ensure that 

due diligence is given to both the affordability of such debt in the revenue 
budget and the future plans regarding the repayment of the debt; including 
the possible use of capital receipts or as per the agreed terms and 

conditions of any new debt arrangements (including ‘annuity’ and ‘equal 
instalments of principal’ loan structures). 

 
6.4 Approved Funding Sources: The Council’s primary objective when 

borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance between 

securing low interest borrowing costs whilst achieving cost certainty over 
the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans 

should the Council’s long-term capital plans change is a secondary 
objective. 

 
6.5 There is no counterparty risk associated with borrowing, except that 

associated with money laundering.  In conjunction with advice received 

from its treasury management advisor the Council will keep under review 
the following fixed or variable rate long-term and short-term (in lieu of 

long-term) borrowing options as sources of finance for the approved capital 
programme, including: 
  

 Borrowing against internal resources held by the Council (including 
usable reserves and working capital) in lieu of external borrowing; 

 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and any successor body; 
 Borrowing from other UK local authorities (particularly with regard to 

borrowing for Income Generating Initiatives on a short-term basis); 

 Borrowing from the money markets (institutional lenders authorised by 
the Prudential Regulation Authority and/or the Financial Conduct 

Authority to operate in the UK); 
 Borrowing from multilateral development banks (including the European 

Investment Bank); and 

 Borrowing from the UK Municipal Bond Agency plc and/or other special 
purpose companies created to enable local authority bond issue. 

 
6.6 The Council is in the process of arranging forward starting loans in line with 

the approved 2018/19 borrowing strategy, where the interest rate is agreed 

in advance (fixed in context with current rates) but the cash is received in 
later years.  The arrangement of such debt will therefore enable certainty of 

cost to be achieved without suffering an investment ‘cost of carry’ in the 
intervening period.  The approval to arrange forward starting loans will 
continue into 2019/20. 

 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
6.7 Capital finance may additionally be raised by other methods that are not 

borrowing but may be classed as other debt liabilities (including leasing). 
 

6.8 Current Portfolio Position: In December 2010, County Council took a 
decision to introduce an internal borrowing strategy whereby the Council’s 

capital borrowing need is not fully funded by external debt, but rather cash 
supporting the Council’s usable reserves and working capital have been 
used as a temporary funding measure in lieu of external borrowing.  The 

Council’s internal borrowing at the end of 2017/18 amounted to £69.8m, 
and is forecast to rise to £89.4m by the end of 2018/19. 

 
6.9 Capital plans (paragraph 5.4) highlight that a borrowing requirement of 

£26.6m is required to finance the Council’s capital expenditure plans in 

2019/20 including: 
 

 Borrowing of up to £13.5m relating to the core programme; and  
 Additional borrowing of up to £13.1m relating to Income Generating 

Initiatives.  

 
6.10 In accordance with CIPFA’s Prudential Code, the Council’s underlying 

borrowing need (the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has 
not yet been financed) is represented by its Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR).  Capital expenditure financed through debt is subject to a minimum 
revenue provision charge (the Minimum Revenue Policy) which is set out in 
the Capital Strategy. 

 
6.11 An analysis of the Council’s levels of usable reserves, provisions and 

working balances show these are likely to be sufficient to maintain an 
internal borrowing strategy throughout 2019/20, with the need to 
externally borrow for the capital programme thereafter.  The table below 

details the estimates of these year-end balances through to 2023/24, 
assuming no new external debt or optional refinancing of existing debt is 

arranged: 
 

Balance Sheet 

Projections 

(at 31 March) 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£’m 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Estimate 

£’m 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 
549.8 550.1 605.5 666.1 681.5 669.6 

CFR – Commercial (IGIs) 36.6 52.0 92.1 122.8 163.3 195.4 

Capital Financing 

Requirement  
586.4 602.1 697.6 788.9 844.8 865.0 

Less: PFI Schemes and 

Leases 
-103.2 -100.2 -97.0 -93.4 -89.3 -84.8 

Borrowing CFR (i) 483.2 501.9 600.6 695.5 755.5 780.2 

Existing Borrowing Profile 

(PWLB) 
-388.8 -381.8 -374.8 -371.3 -361.3 -361.3 

Short-Term Borrowing 

(ii) 
-5.0 -5.5 -5.5 -5.5 -5.5 -5.5 

Over(-) / Under 

Borrowing 
89.4 114.6 220.3 318.7 388.7 413.4 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
Balance Sheet 

Projections 

(at 31 March) 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£’m 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Estimate 

£’m 

Over(-) / Under 

Borrowing 
89.4 114.6 220.3 318.7 388.7 413.4 

Usable Reserves -181.4 -204.7 -143.4 -140.8 -138.0 -120.0 

Provisions  -12.0 -11.0 -10.0 -10.0 -10.0 -10.0 

Working Balances -63.3 -64.9 -66.5 -68.2 -69.9 -70.0 

Investment(-) / 

Borrowing 
-167.3 -166.0 0.4 99.7 170.8 213.4 

 
(i) The ‘Borrowing CFR’ excludes other long-term liabilities (PFI schemes and 

finance leases) that form part of the Council’s total borrowing requirement but 

include a borrowing facility so that the Council is not required to borrow 

separately for them. 

(ii) Money held and invested on behalf of the Chichester Harbour Conservancy 

(CHC) and its associated charities; repayable to CHC on any given notice. 

6.12 The Council has previously approved that a proportion of its usable reserves 
(including PFI/MRMC reserve balances) are held in long-term strategic 

investments; as a result the Council’s external debt and internal borrowing 
projections (including CFR forecasts; and internal borrowing as a 
percentage of the CFR) are summarised below: 

 

Debt Projections 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£’m 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Estimate 

£’m 

Gross External Debt 

(1- Apr) 
506.2 497.0 487.5 517.9 610.1 667.1 

Repayment of Existing 

Debt 
-6.7 -6.5 -7.0 -3.5 -10.0 0.0 

External Debt (Core 

Borrowing) 
0.0 0.0 0.0 17.1 30.6 10.3 

External Debt (IGIs) 0.0 0.0 40.6 82.2 40.5 32.1 

PFI/Finance Lease 

Movement 
-2.5 -3.0 -3.2 -3.6 -4.1 -4.5 

Gross External Debt 

(31- Mar) 
497.0 487.5 517.9 610.1 667.1 705.0 

Internal Borrowing (at 31 

March) 
89.4 114.6 179.7 178.8 177.7 160.0 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 
586.4 602.1 697.6 788.9 844.8 865.0 

Internal Borrowing 

(%) 
15.2% 19.0% 25.8% 22.7% 21.0% 18.5% 

 
6.13 The benefits of internal borrowing will be regularly monitored against the 

potential for incurring additional costs through deferring external borrowing 
into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise.  

Whilst this strategy has remained prudent against a continual backdrop of 
low investment returns and heightened counterparty risk, there will be a 
future point in time when internal borrowing will have to be externalised.  

As shown in the table above, under the Council’s current capital plans, 
usable reserves and long-term strategic investment assumptions, it is  

Page 111

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
forecast that the Council will be required to reintroduce external borrowing 
in 2020/21. 
 

6.14 Revenue Impact: The revenue impact (capital financing cost as a 
percentage of net revenue streams) of the recommended borrowing 

strategy relating to the Council’s ‘core’ capital programme (excluding IGIs, 
Bold Ideas, PFI and Finance Leases) is outlined below: 
 

 2019/20 

Estimate 

£’m 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£’m 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£’m 

2022/23 

Estimate 

£’m 

2023/24 

Estimate 

£’m 

Net Revenue Expenditure  574.9 580.9 593.3 607.3 620.0 

Capital Financing 

Charges – Excluding 

IGIs, PFI and Finance Leases 

27.3 27.8 29.9 32.6 33.8 

% Ratio 4.8% 4.8% 5.0% 5.4% 5.5% 

 
6.15 In accordance with this recommended borrowing strategy, the Council 

forecasts that the costs of external borrowing (interest charges) in 2019/20 
will be: 

 
 Core Programme: £17.5m (£17.8m in 2018/19) 
 IGIs and Bold Ideas: Nil (unchanged from 2018/19)  

 PFI schemes and finance leases: £9.7m (£9.9m in 2018/19) 
 

6.16 Borrowing in Advance of Need: A decision to borrow in advance will be 
within forward approved CFR estimates and arranged to take advantage of 

favourable borrowing rates (given such rates are forecast to rise in the 
future) thereby ensuring that value for money can be demonstrated and 
that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  Risks associated 

with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and 
subsequent reporting through quarterly compliance reports (and annual 

report to the Performance and Finance Select Committee). 
 

6.17 The Authorised Borrowing Limit (paragraph 6.20) constraints borrowing in 

advance of future capital need by limiting such borrowing to within CFR 
estimates over a three year planning period, therefore confirming that it is 

not being taken for revenue profit (investment of the extra sums borrowed) 
or speculative purposes. 
 

6.18 Limits to Borrowing Activity: Within the prudential indicators there are a 
number of key indicators to ensure that the Council operates its activities 

within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council ensures that its 
gross external debt does not, except in the short-term, exceed the total of 
the CFR in the preceding year plus estimates for any additional CFR for 

2019/20 and the following two financial years.  Based on the gross external 
debt projections (paragraph 6.12) the Director of Finance, Performance and 

Procurement reports that the Council complied with this prudential indicator 
in 2018/19 and does not envisage difficulties over the period of the capital 
programme. 

 
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
6.19 The ‘Operational Boundary' is the limit (Prudential Indicator) beyond which 

external debt is not normally expected to exceed, as set out in the table 
below: 

 

Operational Boundary 

 

Estimate 

2018/19 

£’m 

Estimate 

2019/20 

£’m 

Estimate 

2020/21 

£’m 

Estimate 

2021/22 

£’m 

Estimate 

2022/23 

£’m 

Estimate 

2023/24 

£’m 

External Debt (including 

CHC) 
393.8 387.3 380.3 393.9 414.5 424.8 

Income Generating 

Initiatives (IGIs) 
0.0 0.0 40.6 122.8 163.3 195.4 

PFI Schemes/ Finance 

Leases 
103.2 100.2 97.0 93.4 89.3 84.8 

Operational Boundary 497.0 487.5 517.9 610.1 667.1 705.0 

 
6.20 The ‘Authorised Borrowing Limit’ is a further key Prudential Indicator that 

reports the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents the limit beyond 

which external debt (including overdrawn bank balances and short-term 
borrowing undertaken for unexpected cash flow movements) is prohibited, 

as approved by County Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, 
whilst not desired, could be afforded in the short-term (e.g. when 
borrowing in advance of capital need) but is not desirable in the long term. 

 
6.21 This limit is a statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003.  The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all councils’ plans or those of a specific council; although to-date 
this power has not yet been exercised. 

 
 

Authorised Borrowing 

Limit 

 

Estimate 

2018/19 

£’m 

Estimate 

2019/20 

£’m 

Estimate 

2020/21 

£’m 

Estimate 

2021/22 

£’m 

Estimate 

2022/23 

£’m 

Estimate 

2023/24 

£’m 

Gross Debt (inc. IGIs) 454.7 549.9 610.1 651.6 655.7 660.2 

PFI Schemes/ Finance 

Leases 
103.2 100.2 97.0 93.4 89.3 84.8 

Authorised Borrowing 

Limit 
557.9 650.1 707.1 745.0 745.0 745.0 

 
Gross debt estimates allow for external borrowing in advance of need for up to 
a maximum of two years; furthermore gross debt includes additional 

headroom (£40m) for unexpected cash flow movements.  For example, the 
‘Authorised Borrowing Limit’ for 2019/20 (£650.1m) equals the maximum 

external debt forecast in any one financial year over a three year period (i.e. 
the ‘Operational Boundary’ over the period 2019/20 to 2021/22; therefore 
£610.1m for 2021/22) plus £40m. 

 
6.22 In addition, the ‘Maturity Structure of External Borrowing’ Treasury 

Indicator are limits that highlight the existence of any large concentrations 
of external debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest 
rates, and is designed to protect against excessive exposures to interest 

rate changes in any one period, in particular over the course of the next ten 
years.  It is calculated as the amount of projected debt that is maturing in 

each period as a percentage of total projected external debt.  The maturity  

Page 113

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
period of borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest date on which 
the lender can require payment.   
 

6.23 The upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of external debt in 
2019/20 (with actual split as at 30 September 2018 included for 

comparison) are set out below: 
 

Treasury Management 
Actual 

30/09/18 

Lower  

Limit 2019/20 

Upper 

 Limit 2019/20 

Debt Maturity:    

Over 30 Years 6% 0% 40% 

Over 25 to 30 Years 0% 0% 25% 

Over 20 to 25 Years 4% 0% 25% 

Over 15 to 20 Years 8% 0% 25% 

Over 10 to 15 Years 54% 0% 65% 

Over 5 to 10 Years 19% 0% 45% 

Over 1 to 5 Years 6% 0% 35% 

Under 12 Months 3% 0% 25% 

 
6.24 Borrowing for Cash-flow Purposes: The Council continues to approve the 

use of short-term loans (normally for up to one to three months) to cover 
unexpected cash-flow shortages.  Short-term borrowing for cash-flow 
purposes, up to a maximum of £40m, will be limited to the following 

external funding sources: 
 

 Borrowing from other UK local authorities (excluding Police and Crime 
Commissioners, Fire Authorities and Local Authority Pension Funds);  

 Borrowing from the money markets (financial institutions authorised by 

the Prudential Regulation Authority to operate in the UK). 
 

6.25 Additionally, the Council holds and invests money on behalf of third parties 
including the Chichester Harbour Conservancy and its associated charities.  
The Council reports any such money as short-term borrowing given the 

requirement that it is available for repayment at any future point in time. 
 

6.26 Debt Rescheduling: As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably 
cheaper than long-term fixed interest rates there may be opportunities to 
generate savings by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt.  Any 

savings generated will need to be considered in light of the Council’s current 
treasury position (Balance Sheet projections; paragraph 6.11) and the 

actual cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  The rationale for 
undertaking any debt repayment or rescheduling would be one or more of 
the following: 

 
 The generation of cash savings and/or discounted cash flow savings; 

 Helping to fulfil the treasury management strategy; 
 Enhancing the balance of the debt portfolio (amending the maturity 

profile and/or the balance of volatility). 
 
 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
6.27 Reporting: All borrowing (and rescheduling) activity will be reported 

quarterly to the Regulation, Audit and Accounts Committee and Treasury 
Management Panel meetings within the prescribed compliance reports.  

 
6.28 As at 31 March 2018 the Council had external loans with the PWLB totalling 

£395.9m, with a maturity profile which stretches out to 2059.  As originally 
approved within the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
the Council intends to repay any loan as it falls due; including the annual 

repayment of £7m in respect of the £70m PWLB loan taken out in April 
2011.  A projection of the Council’s longer term borrowing requirement up 

to 2060 is set out in the Capital Strategy and this assumes an annual core 
programme borrowing requirement of £20m from 2024/25 and useable 
reserves, provisions and working capital of £130m form 2039/40 onwards.   

  
7 Annual Investment Strategy (Treasury Investments) 

 
7.1 CIPFA and the MHCLG have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to 

include both financial and non-financial investments.  This section deals 

solely with financial investments, as managed by the Council’s Treasury 
Management Team.  Non-financial investments are dealt with in the 

separate Capital Strategy report. 
 

7.2 The Council’s main treasury management activity continues to be the 

investment of its surplus funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held; all treasury investments are 

made under statutory provisions granted to the Council by the Local 
Government Act 2003 (Section 12; ‘Power to Invest’).  
 

7.3 At 30 September 2018 the Council’s investments amounted to £266.8m 
(Appendix A).  In the past twelve months the Council’s average investment 

balance was £293m (including Local Enterprise Partnership monies) but is 
forecast to average around £175m throughout 2019/20. 
 

7.4 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice and MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government 

Investments.  The Council’s investment priorities will be the security first, 
liquidity second and then investment return (‘SLY’ investment principles).  

Accordingly the Council will look to strike an appropriate balance between 
risks and return; minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults 
against the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. 

 
7.5 In accordance with the CIPFA and MHCLG guidance, and in order to 

minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable 
credit criteria in order to generate a list of high creditworthy counterparties 
which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risks.  

In assessing credit ratings (as provided by Link Asset Services) the Council 
employs the ‘Lowest Common Denominator (LCD)’ approach, meaning that 

it uses the lowest rating of those published by Fitch Ratings Ltd, Moody’s 
Investors Service Ltd or Standard & Poor’s. 
 

 
 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
7.6 Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is 

important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector in relation 
to the economic and political environments in which institutions operate.  

The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of markets.  To achieve this consideration the Council will engage 

with its treasury management advisors to maintain a monitor on market 
pricing such as ‘credit default swaps’ and overlay that information on top of 
credit ratings. 

 
7.7 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price 

and other such information pertaining to institutions (banks, corporates 
etc.) in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability 
of potential investment counterparties.  The Council continues to remain 

alert for any signs of credit or market distress that might adversely affect 
its treasury management activities and corrective action will be taken when 

deemed appropriate to ensure the security of the total investment portfolio. 
 

7.8 Accordingly, the Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement will 

comply with the following strategy when investing funds, whether directly 
or via the London money market.  Investments arranged via the London 

money market will be made through approved brokers.  The current list of 
approved brokers comprises: 

 
 BGC Partners (including Martin Brokers) 
 CBRE Limited 

 Institutional Cash Distributors (ICD) Ltd 
 King and Shaxson Limited 

 Tradition (UK) Limited 
 TP ICAP plc (including ICAP and Tullett Prebon Europe Ltd) 

 

7.9 Creditworthiness Policy: The primary objective governing the Council’s 
investment criteria is the security of its investments, although the yield or 

investment return is also a key consideration (paragraph 7.4).  After this 
objective the Council will ensure that: 
 

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it 
will invest in and the criteria for choosing investment counterparties 

with adequate security (including monitoring their security); and 
 

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments; for this purpose it will set 

out procedures for determining maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed.  These procedures also apply to the Council’s 

prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested. 
 

7.10 The credit risks associated with making unsecured bank deposits remain 

evident (due to bail-in legislation) relative to the risks of other investment 
options available to the Council (including bank secured, local authority and 

non-bank corporate deposits).  In addition to the risks associated with bail-
in, from January 2019 the largest UK banks (those with more than £25bn of 
retail/Small and Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits) are required by 

UK law to separate core retail banking services from their investment and 
international banking activities; this being known as ‘ring-fencing’.  Whilst  

Page 116

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can 
choose to opt-up.  Several banks are very close to the threshold so may 
come into scope in the future regardless.   

 
7.11 Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global 

financial crisis to improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by 
changing their structure.  In general, simpler activities offered from within a 
ring-fenced bank will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day core 

transactions; whilst more complex and ‘riskier’ activities are required to be 
housed in a separate non-ring-fenced bank. This is intended to ensure that 

an entity’s core activities are not adversely affected by the acts or 
omissions of other members of its group. 
 

7.12 While the structure of the banks included within this process may have 
changed, the fundamentals of credit assessment have not.  The probability 

of a bail-in of a ring-fenced bank is smaller than a non-ring-fenced entity 
from the same banking group; but the loss incurred as a result of a bail- in 
would likely be higher.  This is because retail (ring-fenced) banks will 

typically have more capital to protect against losses, but fewer wholesale 
deposits and senior unsecured creditors to share losses with.  The Council 

will continue to assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does 
others and those with sufficiently high ratings (and other credit metrics 

considered, paragraphs 7.6 and 7.7) will be considered for investment 
purposes.   
 

7.13 At 30 September 2018, 57% of the Council’s investment portfolio is 
invested in short-term unsecured bank deposits and short-term money 

market funds (excluding externally managed pooled funds) in accordance 
with the policies as contained within the 2018/19 TMSS.  The Director of 
Finance, Performance and Procurement confirms that the Council will not be 

holding any investment at 31 March 2019 that will be in breach of the 
recommended 2019/20 strategy. 

 
7.14 Under MHCLG Investment Guidance investments are categorised as either 

‘Specified’, ‘Non Specified’ (both categories being approved as suitable for 

Council treasury investment) or ‘Loans’.   Specified investments are 
designed to offer high security and high liquidity, with the minimum of 

formalities.  The MHCLG Guidance defines specified investments as those: 
 
 Denominated in Sterling; 

 With a maximum maturity of one year (365 days); 
 Not defined as capital expenditure by legislation; and 

 Invested with one of: 
 
- The UK Government (including Gilts, Treasury Bills and DMADF). 

- A local authority in England, Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland. 
- An institution or investment scheme of ‘high credit quality’. 

- Supranational Institutions (e.g. The European Investment Bank).  
 

7.15 For investments to be regarded as specified, the Council defines ‘high credit 

quality’ as institutions and securities meeting the following criteria: 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
(a) UK Institutions (Banks, Building Societies and Corporates): Minimum 

long-term credit rating of A-; rated by at least two of the three rating 
agencies; Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (S&P). 

 
(b) Non-UK Banks: Minimum long-term credit rating of A+; rated by at 

least two of the three rating agencies (Country holding a sovereign 
rating of at least AA+). 

 

(c) Non-UK Corporates: Minimum long-term credit rating of A-; rated by 
at least two of the three rating agencies (Country holding a sovereign 

rating of at least AA+). 
 

(d) Money Market Funds: Holding a AAA credit rating; rated by at least 

two of the three rating agencies and holding assets exceeding £1bn.  
New EU regulations implemented in 2018/19 changed fund valuation 

methodology from only Constant Net Asset Valuation (CNAV) to both 
Low Volatility Net Asset Valuation (LVNAV) and CNAV.  As a 
consequence the Council approves the use of Money Market Funds that 

operate under a CNAV (funds that invest exclusively in government 
securities) or operate under a LVNAV (all other liquidity funds). 

 
(e) UK Local Authorities: Assumed AA- rating (unless actual rating exists 

from any of the three rating agencies). 
 

(f) UK Registered Social Landlords (formerly Housing Associations): 

Minimum long-term credit rating of A-; rated by at least one of the 
three rating agencies. 

 
(g) Externally Managed Pooled Funds: Holding a AAA credit rating; rated 

by at least one of the three rating agencies. 

 
7.16 Any investment not meeting the ‘Specified’ investment criteria listed above 

will be treated as if it were unrated (‘Non-Specified’ investment; paragraph 
7.45).  For secured investments the credit rating relevant to the specific 
investment (covered bonds) or underlying collateral (reverse repurchase 

agreements) will be used as opposed to the individual rating of the 
bank/building society issuing the security. 

 
7.17 Monitoring Credit Quality: Credit rating information is supplied by Link 

Asset Services (the Council’s treasury advisor) on all active counterparties 

that comply with the criteria listed above.  Any counterparty failing to meet 
the criteria will be omitted from the counterparty (dealing) list.  Any rating 

changes, rating ‘watches’ (notification of a likely change) or rating 
‘outlooks’ (notification of the longer term bias outside the central rating 
view) are provided to officers almost immediately they occur and this 

information is considered before actual dealing arrangements.  Where an 
institution has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet any of 

the approved investment criteria then: 
 
 No new investments will be made after the date of notification; 

 Any existing investments that can be immediately recalled or sold at no 
cost (financial penalty) will be; 

Page 118

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
 Full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty; and 
 Details will be reported to the Director of Finance, Performance and 

Procurement, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and 
Treasury Management Panel members (and all authorised signatories). 

 
7.18 Where an institution is placed on negative rating watch (notification of a 

possible rating downgrade) the reasons for the rating action will be 

evaluated.  Unless there is sufficient cushion to absorb a two-notch 
downgrade to the long-term credit rating (to remain at or above the 

Council’s minimum approved rating criteria) then decisions on new 
investments will be subject to approval by the Director of Finance, 
Performance and Procurement.  This policy will not apply to negative 

‘outlooks’, which indicate a longer term view rather than an imminent 
change to an institution’s rating. 

 
7.19 If an institution is placed on negative rating watch and is at (or likely to fall 

below) the Council’s minimum rating criteria then no investments will be 

arranged until the outcome of the review is announced.  Again, this policy 
will not apply to negative ‘outlooks’. 

 
7.20 Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 

require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the 
above policies rely primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a 
pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use; additional market 

information (see paragraphs 7.6 and 7.7) will be applied before making any 
specific investment decisions from the approved pool of counterparties.  

This additional market information will be applied to compare the relative 
security of differing investment counterparties. 
 

7.21 The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement and the Council’s 
treasury management advisor will continue to analyse and monitor market 

indicators and credit developments on a regular basis and respond as 
necessary to ensure the security of the capital sums invested.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 

concerns about its credit quality, even though it may meet the approved 
minimum credit rating criteria (as set out in paragraphs 7.15 and 7.25). 

 
7.22 Liquidity Management: The Council uses purpose-built short-term cash 

flow forecasting software (SAP Treasury Management Module) to determine 

the maximum period for which funds may prudently be invested.  The cash 
flow forecast is entered on a prudent basis with income under-estimated 

and expenditure over-estimated.  Additionally, the Council seeks to 
maintain a smooth profile of maturing investments, allowing it to cover 
unexpected items of expenditure and to react to favourable market 

conditions as they arise.  Monetary limits on long-term investments are set 
by reference to the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and 

long-term forecasts of usable reserve balances. 
 
 

 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
7.23 To assist liquidity management the Council operates a number of interest 

paying bank call (instant-access) accounts and money market funds where 
cash is deposited at competitive overnight interest rates and can be 

withdrawn without notice; these funds are therefore highly liquid.  
 

7.24 Investment Policy: The Director of Finance, Performance and 
Procurement, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and the Treasury Management Panel, recommends a 

continuation of the existing investment strategy be approved in 2019/20. 
 

7.25 The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement will undertake the 
most appropriate form of investments in keeping with the approved 
strategy objectives, income and risk management requirements and the 

Council’s Treasury Indicators.  Accordingly the Council may invest its 
surplus funds over a range of maturity periods with any of the approved 

counterparty types listed below, subject to maximum monetary and 
duration limits (covering both ‘Specified’ and ‘Non-Specified’ investments) 
as shown, to ensure that prudent diversification of the investment portfolio 

is achieved: 
 

Institution/Issue 

Credit Rating 

Unsecured                        

Bank Deposits 

Secured Bank, 

Government Issues,                      

UK Local Authorities and 

Non-Bank 

Cash Limit Time Limit Cash Limit Time Limit 

UK Government 
 

Unlimited 50 Years 

Local Authorities £25m 20 Years 

AAA £15m 2 Years £25m 10 Years 

AA+ £15m 1 Year £25m 5 Years 

AA £15m 1 Year £25m 4 Years 

AA- £15m 1 Year £25m 3 Years 

A+ £15m 1 Year £15m 2 Years 

A £15m 6 Months £15m 1 Year 

A- £15m 100 Days £15m 6 Months 

BBB+ No Approval £10m 100 Days 

RBS Banking Group - 

Ring-Fenced Bank only 

(Part Nationalised) 

£15m 1 Year (as AAA rating above) 

Money Market Funds  £25m (i) Overnight £25m (ii) Overnight 

Housing Associations 

(rated A- or higher) 
 £15m 5 Years 

 

(i) Maximum monetary limits per fund approved as £25m or 0.5% of the 
fund’s total assets under management (AUM), whichever is lower. 

(ii) Maximum monetary limits per fund that invest in government 

securities only approved as £25m or 2% of the fund’s total assets 
under management (AUM), whichever is lower. 

 

Externally Managed Cash Limit Time Limit 

Pooled Funds See Note (iii) 

No Defined Maturity. 
Withdrawals made on:       

-Liquidity requirements 
-Fund performance  

Page 120

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
(iii) Maximum monetary limits for externally managed pooled funds 

(including ultra-short dated bond, equity, multi-asset and property 
funds) will be approved as £25m (AAA rated funds), £15m (all other 

funds) or 5% of the fund’s total assets under management (AUM), 
whichever is lower. 

 
7.26 Banks Unsecured: Includes bank current accounts, call (instant-access) 

accounts, notice accounts, fixed-term deposits, certificate of deposits and 

senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than 
multilateral development banks (for example the European Investment 

Bank).  These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in 
should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. 
 

7.27 Banks Secured: Includes covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements 
(repos) and other collateralised arrangements with banks and building 

societies.  These investment types are secured against the bank’s assets, 
which consequently limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of 
insolvency and means that they are exempt from bail-in.  Covered bonds 

will be considered when secured against a ‘pool’ of residential and/or low 
loan-to-value mortgages held by the issuing bank.  Covered bonds differ 

from mortgage or asset-backed securities because the bank which issues 
the bond remains responsible at all times for paying dividends and repaying 

capital.  The Council’s investments are therefore protected firstly by having 
a direct call on the ‘pool’ and secondly by a call on the general assets of the 
issuer. 

 
7.28 The Council accepts repo/reverse repo as a form of collateralised lending 

and will be based on the GMRA 2000 (‘Global Master Repo Agreement’).  
Should any investment counterparty not meet the Council’s senior 
unsecured rating (as set out in paragraph 7.25) then a 102% 

collateralisation will be required.  Acceptable collateral will include index 
linked gilts, conventional gilts, UK treasury bills, delivery by value (a basket 

of gilts covering differing maturity periods) and corporate bonds (subject to 
a minimum A- bond issue rating). 
 

7.29 For secured bank deposits, where there is no investment specific credit 
rating but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit 

rating, then the higher of the collateral credit rating or the counterparty 
credit rating will be used in determining monetary and duration limits (as 
set out in paragraph 7.25).  The combined secured and unsecured 

investments in any one bank will not exceed the monetary limit approved 
for secured investments. 

 
7.30 Government Backed: Loans, deposits, bonds and/or bills issued or 

guaranteed by national governments, regional and local authorities and 

multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to bail-
in and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency; statutory provisions set 

out in the Local Government Act 2003 preventing a UK local authority 
default.  Investments with UK local authorities can be made for up to 
twenty years (but may include early repayment conditions for both lender 

and borrower).  The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement will  
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
approve a local authority as suitable for long-term investment (greater than 
one year) before the investment is placed. 
 

7.31 In any future period of significant market stress the Council will maintain 
required levels of security by restricting new investments to those 

organisations of high credit quality only and reducing maximum duration 
limits in accordance with the prevailing market conditions.  If there are 
insufficient financial institutions of high credit quality then the Council’s 

surplus cash will be deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt 
Management Office (DMO) and UK treasury bills, or other local authorities.   

 
7.32 Registered Social Landlords (RSLs): Loans, deposits and/or bonds either 

issued on an unsecured basis, or guaranteed by or secured against the 

assets of the RSL (formerly known as Housing Associations).  These bodies 
are tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and as 

providers of public services they retain a likelihood of receiving government 
support if needed. 
 

7.33 Corporates: Loans, bonds and/or commercial paper issued by companies 
other than banks, building societies and RSLs.  These investments are not 

subject to bail-in but are exposed to the risk of the company going 
insolvent.  The Council approves the use of investments issued by 

corporates that hold credit ratings in accordance with the approved 
investment policy (as set out in paragraphs 7.15 and 7.25) up to a 
maximum of £15m per company (£10m for corporates rated BBB+). 

 
7.34 Money Market Funds:  Pooled investment vehicles consisting of unsecured 

money market deposits and similar instruments, unless the fund consists of 
government securities only (paragraph 7.36).  Such funds have the 
advantage of providing wide diversification of investment risks and high 

liquidity, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager.  Fees of 
between 0.10% and 0.20% per annum are deducted from the interest paid 

to the Council. 
 

7.35 The Council continues to use short-term money market funds that offer 

same-day liquidity and aim for no (or very low) asset value volatility as an 
alternative to instant access bank accounts, subject to approved monetary 

limits per fund set as £25m or 0.5% of the fund’s total assets under 
management (calculated against the previous working day’s closing assets 
total) whichever is lower. 

 
7.36 In times of significant market stress the Council may consider the use of 

money market funds that invest in government securities only as an 
alternative to Debt Management Office (DMO) deposits, up to a limit per 
fund of £25m or 2% of the fund’s total assets under management, 

whichever lower (calculated as per paragraph 7.35).  Such funds will be 
treated as a separate counterparty to a standard cash money market fund 

provided by the same sponsor. 
 

7.37 Externally Managed Pooled Funds: Shares in diversified investment 

vehicles which may consist any of the investment types listed above 
(paragraphs 7.26 to 7.33) plus (but not limited to) equity shares, emerging  

Page 122

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
market debt, and infrastructure/property.  These funds allow the Council to 
diversify its investment portfolio into asset classes other than cash without 
the need to own and manage the underlying investments (undertaken by a 

professional fund manager in return for a fee). 
 

7.38 Ultra-short dated bond funds (enhanced cash funds) provide an alternative 
to short-term money market funds in the management of cash-flow liquidity 
(up to 12 months) with the potential of increasing investment returns; 

whilst introducing the potential for short-term capital volatility not evident 
in money market funds.  Equity, multi-asset and property funds provide the 

potential for enhanced returns over the longer-term, but are significantly 
more volatile when viewed in the short-term.  Consequently all externally 
managed pooled funds may experience times of displaying capital losses 

when viewed over a short-term horizon, contravening ‘SLY’ investment 
principles. 

 
7.39 Selection of funds will be subject to credit risk appraisal undertaken by the 

Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement and will be reported to 

the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and the Treasury 
Management Panel.  The Council’s current investments in such funds are 

listed in Appendix A. 
 

7.40 Because these funds have no defined maturity date and may be subject to 
experiencing periods of capital loss, their performance and continued 
suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be regularly 

monitored by the Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement.  Any 
compliance issues arising from pooled fund investments (for instance 

periods of capital loss) will be reported within quarterly compliance reports 
to the Regulation, Audit and Accounts Committee. 
 

7.41 The Council’s Main Provider of Banking Services: The Council currently 
banks with Lloyds Bank plc (Lloyds ring-fenced bank), the contract being 

effective up to 30 September 2022.  Lloyds currently meets the Council’s 
minimum credit criteria, however should its credit rating fall below the 
minimum rating criteria as prescribed in this strategy report (paragraph 

7.15) the provider may continue to be used for short-term (overnight) 
liquidity requirements and business continuity arrangements. 

 
7.42 Balances held within current accounts will be aggregated together with 

investments held with the Council’s banker on a daily basis, and should 

remain within set counterparty monetary limits as prescribed within this 
strategy report (paragraphs 7.25 and 7.43).  Occasionally however, the 

Council is in receipt of ‘large’ amounts of income which cannot be deposited 
into separate investment counterparties due to intra-day dealing deadlines.  
In such instances the Council approves that an operational breach of the 

Council’s main banker’s set monetary limits may occur for a maximum 
period of one working day, with corrective action being taken on the next 

available working day as appropriate. 
 

7.43 Country, Group and Sector Limits: Due care will be taken to consider the 

county, group and sector exposure (in addition to duration and monetary  
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 
 
exposure).  Specific limits for which investments may be placed are set out 
below: 

 

 Cash Limit 

UK Central Government Unlimited 

Any single UK Local Authority (excluding individual Fire Authorities 

and Police and Crime Commissioners) 
£25m 

Any single financial institution, including UK building societies £25m 

Any single corporate or RSL: Rated A- or above £15m 

Any single corporate (including RSLs): Rated BBB+ £10m 

Maximum % invested in UK domiciled institutions/organisations 100% 

Maximum investment amount per banking group £25m 

Maximum corporate exposure £50m 

Maximum RSL exposure (rated above A-)  £25m 

Maximum money market fund exposure (excluding pooled funds) £115m 

Maximum externally managed pooled fund exposure £100m 

Maximum investment total for non-UK countries £90m 

Maximum investment per individual non-UK country £30m 

Maximum invested in negotiable instruments held in a broker’s 
(including King & Shaxson) nominee account  

£100m 

 
7.44 Investments in multilateral development banks, short-term money market 

funds and externally managed pooled funds do not count against the limit 
for any single non-UK country as shown above (£30m), since the risk is 
diversified across many countries. 

 
7.45 Non-Specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the MHCLG 

definition of a ‘Specified’ investment (or ‘Loan’) is classified as ‘Non-
Specified’.  Having considered the rationale and risks associated with non-
specified investments, the following have been determined appropriate for 

the Council’s use: 
 

 Long-term (greater than one year) investments 
 Investments with credit ratings below A- (corporates) 
 Investments in externally managed pooled funds (not rated AAA) 

 Investments denominated in foreign currencies (Euros) 
 Investments that are defined by legislation as capital expenditure 

 
7.46 The following monetary limits will be applied to Non-Specified treasury 

investments in 2019/20; including a continuation of the £75m limit 

approved as being available for long-term investment (originally approved 
in 2018/19): 

 

Investment Type 
Cash Limit 

£’m       

Total long-term investments (greater than one year) 75.0 

Total investments with corporates rated below A- 30.0 

Total investments within externally managed pooled funds, 

including ultra-short dated bond funds (not rated AAA); 
60.0 

Total investments denominated in foreign currencies  2.8 

Total investments defined as capital expenditure 0.2 

Page 124

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
7.47 Long-Term Investments: Long-term investments including gilts, covered 

bonds, corporate bonds, supranational bank bonds, local authority loans, 
RSLs deposits/bonds, externally managed pooled funds and an equity 

investment with the UK Municipal Bond Agency are approved by the 
Council.  The maximum monetary limit for long-term investments with any 

one organisation is set at £15m (£25m for individual UK local authorities).  
At 30 September 2018 the Council had £58.1m invested for greater than 
one year including: 

 
 £26.0m invested with three UK local authorities; 

 £24.0m invested in externally managed property funds; 
 £7.9 invested in a Nationwide Building Society covered bond; and 
 £0.2m equity held with the UK Municipal Bond Agency. 

 
7.48 As required by the Prudential Code, the Council is required to set limits for 

total funds invested for greater than 365 days.  These limits are set with 
regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for 
the early sale of an investment (potentially incurring additional costs) and 

are based on the availability of funds after each year-end (as detailed in the 
Council’s Balance Sheet Projections; paragraph 6.11).  The resulting 

treasury indicator is shown below: 
 

 

 

Upper 

Limit 
2018/19 

Upper 

Limit 
2019/20 

Upper 

Limit 
2020/21 

Upper 

Limit 
2022/22 

Upper 

Limit 
2022/23 

Upper 

Limit 
2023/24 

Maximum 

Invested for a 
Year or longer (£) 

£75m £75m £65m(i) £55m £45m £45m 

 

(i) Upper limits for future years to be reviewed on an annual basis. 
 

7.49 No long-term investment will be arranged with any bank or building society 
on an unsecured basis. 
 

7.50 Non-Sterling Investments: Occasionally the Council may receive grant 
funding denominated in Euros and subsequently incurs expenditure in 

Euros.  To remove the exchange rate risk associated with converting such 
funds into Sterling, these can be held in a Euro denominated bank account.  
The Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement may therefore make 

investments denominated in Euros up to a maximum limit of €3.2m (£2.8m 
equivalent based on a 1.1428 exchange rate). 

 
7.51 Investments Defined as Capital Expenditure: Investments defined by 

legislation as capital expenditure, such as company shares, are covered by 

the Council’s non-treasury (commercial) investment policy as set out in the 
Capital Strategy.  The Council does however hold a £0.2m equity 

investment in the UK Municipal Bond Agency plc; a capital finance company 
established in 2014 by the Local Government Association.  This capital 

investment was originally approved in February 2015 in light of the 
Council’s significant borrowing requirement in the period up to 2025, having  
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
the aim of providing the Council with a viable borrowing alternative to the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). 

 

7.52 Policy on Financial Derivatives: The Council has previously made use of 
financial derivatives that are embedded into investments, to reduce interest 

rate risks through the use of forward dated deals and to increase income 
through the use of callable deposits.  The ‘General Power of Competence’ in 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removed much of the uncertainty over 

local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (those not 
embedded into an investment), including swaps and options.  The CIPFA 

Treasury Management Code of Practice requires the Council to clearly state 
their policy on the use of financial derivatives in the annual strategy. 
 

7.53 The Council does not intend to use standalone financial derivatives unless 
they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of financial 

risks the Council is exposed to.  Embedded derivatives, including those 
present in externally managed pooled funds and forward starting 
investments, will not be subject to this policy; however the risks they 

present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management 
strategy.  Should this position change the Director of Finance, Performance 

and Procurement, after seeking a legal opinion on the use of standalone 
financial derivatives, will develop a detailed and robust risk management 

framework governing their use and will ensure that treasury management 
officers have the appropriate training. 
 

7.54 Loans: Loans to third parties (individuals and/or non-rated companies) will 
be approved based on the economic and social benefits to the Council and 

the residents of West Sussex; or following an external credit assessment of 
the company involved.  At 31 March 2018 the Council had one outstanding 
loan with the Littlehampton Harbour Board, which commenced in March 

2015 and is being repaid annually over a period of twenty years.  Interest 
applicable to this loan is being received to fully recover costs incurred by 

the Council and not to generate additional income.   
 

8 Investment Income (2019/20) 

 
8.1 In accordance with interest forecasts provided by Link Asset Services 

(Appendix B) the Bank of England’s Bank Rate is expected to average 
around 1.00% during 2019/20; a consequence of two 0.25% rate increase 
during the period (forecast in May 2019 and February 2020).  

 
8.2 The Council is expected to have an average investment portfolio of £175m 

throughout 2019/20 (paragraph 7.3).  Given the Bank Rate forecast and 
the continuation of the Council’s 2018/19 investment strategy (approval to 
invest up to £75m in long-term local authority investments and externally 

managed pooled funds) it is forecast that the portfolio will attract an 
average interest rate of 1.69%.  The Council therefore expects to receive 

investment income totalling £2.0m in 2019/20 (as shown in the table 
below): 
 

 
 

Page 126

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



 

 

 
 
 

Average 
Portfolio 

£’m 

Interest 
Rate 
(%) 

 
Interest 

£’m 

Liquidity Portfolio 35.0 0.97 0.3 

Short-Term Investment Portfolio 90.0 1.16 1.1 

Long-Term Investment Portfolio 50.0 3.10 1.6 

Gross Interest Return 175.0 1.69 3.0 

Less transfers to specific reserves   -1.0 

Investment Income (2019/20)   2.0 

 

8.3 If actual levels of investments and interest rates differ from the forecasts 
then performance against the budget will be correspondingly different.  
Given the constraints on the Council’s 2019/20 revenue budget, the 

Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement will monitor the 
investment income budget throughout the period and report any changes to 

the above forecast within monthly Total Performance Monitors (TPMs). 

 

Jeremy Hunt 

 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

 
 

Contacts:  

 

Vicky Chuter, 033 022 23414  

Jon Clear, 033 022 23378 
 

Appendices 

 
Appendix A West Sussex County Council - Treasury Portfolio 

Appendix B Economic and Interest Rate Forecast (Link Asset Services) 
 

Background Papers 

 
None 
 

Page 127

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
West Sussex County Council - Treasury Portfolio 

 
 

 30/09/18 
Portfolio 

 £’m 

External Borrowing:  

- Fixed Rate: Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 392.1 

- Fixed Rate: PWLB (on behalf of the Littlehampton Harbour Board) 0.3 

- Variable Rate: Short-Term (Chichester Harbour Conservancy) 4.6 

Total External Borrowing 397.0 

  

Other Long Term Liabilities (i):   

- PFI 101.5 

- Finance Leases 1.7 

  

Total Gross External Debt 500.2 

  

Internally Managed Investments:  

  

(i) Bank Unsecured (Short Term)  

- Cash Deposits (Fixed-Term) 75.0 

- Cash Deposits (Notice Accounts) 14.7 

- Certificate of Deposits 10.0 

- Short Term Money Market Funds 52.5 

  

(ii) Bank Secured  

- Long Term Covered Bonds 7.9 

  

(iii) Local Authority  

- Short Term Investments 42.0 

- Long Term Investments 26.0 

  

(iv) Non-Bank  

- Corporate Bond (Senior Unsecured) 4.5 

- UK Municipal Bond Agency: Long Term Equity 0.2 

  

Externally Managed Investments:  

  

- Federated Cash Plus Fund (Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund) 10.0 

- Hermes Property Unit Trust (Property Fund) 9.5 

- Lothbury Property Trust (Property Fund) 4.8 

- The Local Authorities’ Property Fund / CCLA (Property Fund) 9.7 

  

Total Investments 266.8 

(i) Other Long Term Liabilities: Expected position at 31 March 2019. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2b: App A



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Economic and Interest Rate Forecast (Link Asset Services) 
 

1 Prospect for Interest Rates  
  
1.1 The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (Link Treasury Services Ltd) 

as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to assist the Council in 
formulating a view on interest rates.  The following table gives their central 

view (updated November 2018): 
 

 

1.2 The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ending 

30 June 2018 meant that it came as no surprise that the Bank of England’s 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) came to a decision in August 2018 to 
make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial crash 

(to 0.75%).  At this meeting the MPC emphasised again that future Bank 
Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower equilibrium 

rate (where monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary) than 
before the crash; indeed they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten 
years’ time but they declined to give a medium term forecast. 

1.3 UK Growth whilst remaining healthy since that meeting is expected to 
weaken somewhat during the last quarter of 2018.  At their November 2018 

meeting the MPC left the Bank Rate unchanged but expressed some 
concerns regarding future inflationary pressures.  Against this backdrop 

Link Asset Services do not consider that the MPC will increase Bank Rate in 
February 2019 ahead of the March deadline for Brexit, but forecast the next 
increase in May 2019 (+0.25%) followed by increases in February and 

November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.  However, the 
cautious pace of these rate increases is dependent on a reasonably orderly 

Brexit. 

1.4 The overall longer run future trend is for UK gilt yields and PWLB borrowing 
rates to rise, albeit gently.  However, over about the last 25 years we have 

been through a period of falling bond yields as inflation subsided to, and 
then stabilised at, much lower levels than before, and central banks 

implemented substantial quantitative easing purchases of government and 
other debt after the financial crash of 2008.  Quantitative easing,  
 

Page 131

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App B



 

 

 
conversely, also caused a rise in equity values as investors searched for 
higher returns and purchased riskier assets.   

1.5 In 2016 we saw the start of a reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in 

bond yields after the US Presidential election in November 2016; yields 
then rose further as a result of the big increase in the US government 

deficit aimed at stimulating even stronger economic growth.  That policy 
change also created concerns around a significant rise in inflationary 
pressures in an economy which was already running at remarkably low 

levels of unemployment.  Unsurprisingly, the Fed has continued on its 
series of robust responses to combat its perception of rising inflationary 

pressures by repeatedly increasing the Fed rate to reach 2.00 – 2.25% in 
September 2018.  It has also continued its policy of not fully reinvesting 
proceeds from bonds that it holds as a result of quantitative easing when 

they mature.  We have therefore seen US 10-year bond Treasury yields rise 
above 3.2% during October 2018 and also seen investors causing a sharp 

fall in equity prices as they sold out of holding riskier assets. 

1.6 Rising bond yields in the US have also caused some upward pressure on 
bond yields in the UK and other developed economies.  However, the 

degree of that upward pressure has been dampened by how strong or weak 
the prospects for economic growth and rising inflation are in each country 

and on the degree of progress towards the reversal of monetary policy 
away from quantitative easing and other credit stimulus measures.  From 

time to time, gilt yields (and therefore PWLB borrowing rates) can 
additionally be subject to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, 
sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and sharp changes in 

investor sentiment.  Such volatility could occur at any time during the 
forecast period. 

1.7 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many 
external influences weighing on the UK.  Interest rate forecasts (and future 
MPC decisions) will be liable to further amendment depending on how 

economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the 
next year.  Geopolitical developments (especially in the EU) could also have 

a major impact.  Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the 
three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments. 

 
2 Investment and Borrowing Rates 

 
2.1 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a 

gently rising trend over the next few years.  The suggested budgeted 

earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods up to about 
three months during each financial year are as follows: 

 

Average Earnings  

per Financial Year 

Nov-18 

Forecast 

2018/19 0.75% 

2019/20 1.00% 

2020/21 1.50% 

2021/22 1.75% 

Page 132

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App B



 

 

 
Average Earnings  
per Financial Year 

Nov-18 
Forecast 

2022/23 1.75% 

2023/24 2.00% 

Later years 2.50% 

 
2.2 Borrowing Advice: Borrowing rates have been volatile so far in 2018/19 

and have increased modestly since the summer.  The policy of avoiding new 

borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served well over the 
last few years.  This however needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid 

incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when authorities may not be 
able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 
refinancing of maturing debt. 

 
2.3 There will remain a cost of carry to any new long-term borrowing that 

causes a temporary increase in cash balances as this position will, most 
likely, incur a revenue cost – the difference between borrowing costs and 
investment returns. 

 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2a: App B



This page is intentionally left blank



Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Capital Programme 31-Mar-18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Expenditure - Service (Core) 87,346 86,552 92,810 138,328 132,997 93,126 77,502
Income Generating Initiatives (Commercial Investment) 11,420 26,376 16,185 42,480 39,220 47,600 24,765
Capital Expenditure (i) 98,766 112,928 108,995 180,808 172,217 140,726 102,267

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) - Service 560,500 549,794 550,084 605,525 666,091 681,553 669,609
CFR - Income Generating Initiatives (Commercial) 15,404 36,608 52,016 92,114 122,816 163,292 195,383
Capital Financing Requirement (Closing Balance) 575,904 586,402 602,100 697,639 788,907 844,845 864,992

Gross External Debt 400,489 393,850 387,335 380,319 393,901 414,495 424,765
Income Generating Initiatives (Commercial) 0 0 0 40,587 122,816 163,292 195,383
PFI Schemes and Finance Leases 105,656 103,161 100,235 97,020 93,407 89,342 84,885
Actual Debt/Operational Boundary (ii) 506,145 497,011 487,570 517,926 610,125 667,130 705,033

Gross External Debt (inc. Commercial) 454,765 549,890 610,110 651,626 655,690 660,148
PFI Schemes and Finance Leases 103,161 100,235 97,020 93,407 89,342 84,885
Authorised Borrowing Limit N/A 557,926 650,125 707,130 745,033 745,033 745,033

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Revenue Impact 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Financing Costs (Corporately Funded) 26,673 27,213 27,334 27,750 29,938 32,634 33,805
Net Revenue Expenditure 530,308 533,943 574,919 580,938 593,295 607,319 620,000
Ratio (%) 5.0% 5.1% 4.8% 4.8% 5.0% 5.4% 5.5%

(i) 2017/18 actual capital expenditure includes PFI notional investment, as per Note 6 of the Council's "Statement of Accounts"
(ii) The Operational Boundary  represents the Council's forecast of its gross external debt (including PFI and Finance Lease liabilities)

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Commercial Investments (iii) 31-Mar-18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Forecast Income 2,695 4,366 5,680 6,828 7,447
Net Revenue Expenditure 574,919 580,938 593,295 607,319 620,000
Commercial Income to Net Service Ratio (%) 0.5% 0.8% 1.0% 1.1% 1.2%

Forecast Income 2,695 4,366 5,680 6,828 7,447
Cost of Borrowing (Capital Financing) 1,594 2,174 3,471 4,502 5,585
Investment Cover Ratio 1.7 2.0 1.6 1.5 1.3

(iii) New investment property opportunities and Your Energy Sussex (inc. solar farms and solar panels) income generating schemes only.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
31-Mar-18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Maximum % Gross Borrowing at Fixed Rates 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Maximum % Gross Borrowing at Variable Rates 1% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
31-Mar-18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Under/Over(-) Borrowing (iv) 69,759 89,391 114,530 179,713 178,783 177,716 159,959
Under/Over(-) Borrowing as a % of CFR 12.1% 15.2% 19.0% 25.8% 22.7% 21.0% 18.5%

Actual Lower Limit Upper Limit Lower Limit Upper Limit
31-Mar-18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20

Debt Maturity (v):
Over 30 Years 6% 0% 30% 0% 40%
Over 25 to 30 Years 4% 0% 30% 0% 25%
Over 20 to 25 Years 0% 0% 30% 0% 25%
Over 15 to 20 Years 13% 0% 30% 0% 25%
Over 10 to 15 Years 48% 0% 70% 0% 65%
Over 5 to 10 Years 19% 0% 40% 0% 45%
Over 1 to 5 Years 7% 0% 35% 0% 35%
Under 12 months 3% 0% 25% 0% 25%

(iv) The Council's gross external debt as compared with the Capital Financing Requirement
(v) These percentages reflect maximum values to allow for new external and/or debt restructuring. They do not reflect actual maturity values.

Actual Upper Limit Upper Limit Upper Limit Upper Limit Upper Limit Upper Limit
31-Mar-18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Maximum invested for a year or longer (£) £33.8m £75m £75m £65m (vi) £55m £45m £45m

(vi) The upper limits for future years to be reviewed on an annual basis.

Upper Limit for Principal Sums                                        
Invested over 365 Days

Internal Borrowing Forecast

TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS

Maximum % Gross Borrowing at Fixed and Vairiable 
Rates

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20

Maturity Structure of External Debt

Page 135

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2c



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Report Budget 

Title of proposal Budget  2019/20 

Date of 

implementation  
1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 

EIR completed by: 
Name: 

Tel: 

 Steve Harrison  

03302 223391 
  

1. Decide whether this report is needed and, if so, describe how you have assessed 
the impact of the proposal. 

The budget and the service plans and commitments which it is designed to deliver make up 
the most significant strategic decision of the County Council. In setting the budget the 
County Council must be aware of and consider a range of statutory and other legal 

responsibilities which must inform the decision and the Council must explain how that 
process of consideration is undertaken. The public sector equality duty is an important 

element of this process of delivering a rational and lawful budget. 
 
The discharge of the public sector equality duty –the duty to have regard to the impact of 

proposals on persons and groups with protected characteristics – is achieved through a 
number of measures, most particularly the application of detailed consideration of such 

impact in relation to the planning and implementation of service changes, especially where 
those changes mean reductions in current service levels or reductions in the funds available 
to deliver them. That impact is best understood and assessed using detailed service and 

customer information held or secured by those leading the planning and implementation of 
service change. The information is then used to support the decisions which give effect to 

service plans. The budget decision is taken on the basis that this arrangement for 
discharging the public sector equality duty is in place. 
 

Where statutory or some other customer or public consultation is required to help the 
impact assessment work, this will be included as part of change planning and 

implementation. Where specific service user data is required to better understand the 
potential impact on those with protected characteristics this is secured. Different levels of 
assessment or different forms of data gathering will be used dependent upon the needs of 

the particular service plan under consideration. The overall budget proposal explains how 
these different approaches apply in relation to the body of service plans. 

 
The County Council published a list of major (strategic) saving in the Autumn of 2018. 

These are savings plans where a Cabinet Member decision is required.  Where identified as 
required to support the decision being proposed a clear process was followed of 
consultation to inform the decision, to include the range of legal responsibilities to be met.  

All of the proposals were available for pre-scrutiny by the relevant Select Committee, 
including consideration of the information from relevant consultations and impact 

assessment. The Performance and Finance Select Committee in November 2018 considered 
the plans for the consideration of all savings proposals. 
 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy report provided to the Performance and Finance Select 
Committee in October (updated in November) set out the considerable financial challenges 

the County Council faces in 2019/20 and for the following three years.  The authority now 
has a £nil allocation from the Government in terms of its Revenue Support Grant, a 
situation that means that further significant reductions must be considered to achieve a 

Page 137

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



balanced budget. Impact assessment is undertaken in that context. 

 
However, the scale of the savings for 2019/20 at £24m also needs to be seen in the context 
of an overall budget of around £575m per the draft budget and future investment to meet 

service demand and other pressures which is estimated to increase the net budget by 
around £48m by 2022/23 compared to the current year, despite assumed continued 

reductions in funding support provided by the Government.   
 
The savings measures included in the budget papers to balance the budget contain a 

further reference to how the equality impact work will be addressed as part of each 
proposed saving. 

 
The background to the budget for 2019/20 is continued reductions in our funding from 
Government and a further rise in demand pressures for essential services on which many of 

our more vulnerable residents rely. Given the legal duty to ensure the budget is realistic 
and balanced, a programme of planned and well considered savings is essential to ensure 

this is done with the minimum adverse impact for residents.    
 
The context is a further reduction in our funding from Government which exceeds the 

national average reduction for 2018/19: 
 

Table:  Settlement Funding Assessment 

 

FUNDING ITEM 
2018/19 

£m 

2019/20 

£m 

Change 

£m 

Change 

% 

West Sussex:  
Settlement Funding 

Assessment 

88.4 78.0 -10.4 -11.7 

England: 

Settlement Funding 
Assessment 

16,943.1 15,958.2 -984.9 -5.8 

 
The average reduction is 5.8 % nationally in 2019/20, but is 11.7% for the County 

Council’s core funding (the Settlement Funding Assessment).  2019/20’s budget will be the 
tenth year the County Council has had to address reduced resources from Government. 
This has occurred at the same time significant pressure has been apparent from a rising 

demand for council services.  For example, West Sussex has a high and increasing 
proportion over 65 year olds within the County. Our proportion of over 65 year olds is 

22.6%, compared with the national average of 18% of the population.   
 
The emphasis within the budget planning continues to be on delivering efficiency measures, 

cost reductions and income generation with a view to protecting front line services and 
council priorities to the maximum extent possible. The over-arching aim has been to avoid 

arbitrary or across the board budget reductions, as these would be more difficult to assess 
in terms of impact on the broad range of responsibilities, including the public sector 
equality duty.  Instead the focus is on very specific measures in order to both understand 

impact and address any adverse impact for services or support.  In all cases, unless stated 
otherwise, the service will prepare an impact assessment to inform the eventual decision 

based on the Council’s standard approach to the approach to its public sector equality duty 
so that the decision making has full regard to such assessment. 

 
 

Page 138

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



2. Describe any negative impact for customers or residents. 

Service reductions and funding constraints, combined with service demand pressures will 
present risks of negative customer impact. Efforts have been made when compiling the two 

year savings programme to minimise the impact on residents generally and on those with a 
protected characteristic. For example:  

Introducing measures to manage the pressure arising from ever higher demand for services.  

A key example would be £2.0m of additional demand is planned to be offset from demand 
management reduction initiatives linked to the Adult Social Care Improvement Plan.  These 

will be supported by an increase in investment in technology, carers and falls prevention 
with the objective of promoting independence and thus reducing the need for expenditure 
on other areas of social care.  

Of the total savings  planned for 2019/20 a significant number arise from measures that are 
deemed to be efficiencies from the following broad categories: 

• Contractual (£1.6m) 

– Savings arising from procurement work, collaboration with procurement or 
improved contractual terms     

• Fees, charges and other income streams (£1.3m) 

– Opportunities to increase income via increased charges, cost recovery or new 

avenues such as sponsorship or commercial income from property   

• Operational Changes (£10.8m) 

– Optimising all opportunities within current arrangements to deliver better value for 

money, such as by changing processes.   

• Restructure (£1.6m) 

– Staffing restructure, removing vacant posts or other redesign of the service, 
including voluntary severance. 

The above areas would be expected to have no or only a minimal impact on any group with 

a protected characteristic.   

Strategic decisions, where the relevant Cabinet Member has made a decision in a key area 

amount to around £8.7m.  Every effort has been made to indicate the nature of these 
decisions at an early point in planning for 2019/20, to provide for consultation and 
maximise consideration of measures to mitigate any adverse effects of the proposals.  

Efforts have been made to continue to provide residents with a core service, even in areas 
where a reduction to a discretionary activity has needed to be considered. Work will be done 

on equalities impacts and how to mitigate any potentially harmful effects within the 
individual case for decisions to be taken and their implementation.  

A number of the strategic decisions on savings which have been highlighted by the authority 
within its forward plan and member decision process will have a potentially adverse impact 
on some groups.  This includes decisions around Supported Housing (budget reduction of 

£1.7m in 2019/20) and the Local Assistance Network (budget reduction of £0.6m in 
2019/20). However, the County Council proposes to mitigate the impact by adopting a 

phased approach, working with its partners in the district and borough councils, service 
providers and the voluntary and community sector, to reconfigure existing service contracts. 
The County Council will explore alternative funding streams and develop other ways of 

supporting people who rely on these services with the supporting aim to minimise the 
potential risk of increased pressure in other areas. 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



3. Describe any positive effects which may offset any negative impact. 

 
The report highlights significant continued or new investment in services to support the 

West Sussex Plan and which should have a positive impact for residents including those with 
a protected characteristic.   

For example, Within the revenue budget for 2019/20, to support the Best Start in Life and 

Independence for Later Life aims, additional funding is proposed for both younger and 
older residents across the county. The net investment for Children and Young People is 

£4.2m (4.8%) whilst for Adults and Health the net investment of £11.8m (6.1%) provides 
additional funding to meet the forecast demands on these services.   These represent the 
net sums, whilst the total new gross investment for Children and Young People is £8.7m, 

whilst for Adults and Health the extra investment of £8.5m which provides additional 
funding to meet the existing and ongoing demands placed upon these services.  

The authority will have raised the Adults Social Care Levy to the maximum permissible over 
three years. The 2% levy proposed in the draft budget takes the charge over the three 
years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 to the maximum 6% allowed by Government. The 

sum generated from this levy has been fully invested in support of Adults Social Care, 
helping to meet the rising cost pressures and customer numbers, as shown within the 

budget report for each of the three years the Levy has been used.  

Some of the additional costs within Children’s services are being incurred due to the 
temporary close of Cissbury lodge, whilst building work is undertaken to ensure the property 

is fit for purpose in future as a residential premise for children with disabilities.  

Longer term, the County Council is working on service transformation plans to address the 

issue of reduced Government funding whilst protecting services as far as possible.  

Transformation work will be the key to ensuring a future sustainable budget and the 
foundations of that work have been established. From one-off investment initially estimated 

at £13m, annual (recurring) savings of a minimum £17m are targeted by 2022.  At this 
early stage in delivery, £1.5m of this target is provided for in next year, following 

mobilisation late in the current financial year. The work on Whole Council Design (WCD) will 
focus on savings largely achieved through improved efficiency and effectiveness, reducing 
the Council’s staffing requirement.  Natural wastage (turnover), appropriate redeployment 

and proactive vacancy management will be used in this regard, with a view to minimising 
disruption to front line services. 

The County Council is also seeking to enhance income streams, such as the returns via 
business rates, where the County Council and Districts/Boroughs benefit from additional 

revenues arising from economic growth under the business rate retention system.  We 
have very positive assumptions about the growth in revenue from this source of funding. 
This assumption, couple with a council tax rise of 2.99% for core services and 2% for the 

Adults Social Care Levy means that other funding streams are being used to offset the 
continuing reduction in our core financial support from Government.  The County Council’s 

total increase in council tax is 4.99%, and has been set at a rate just below the level 
where a referendum would be required.  This increase generates an additional £21.9m, 
which helps protect services and mitigates the financial impact of reduction on our core 

funding from Government.   

West Sussex CC also submitted a pilot bid, in collaboration with the West Sussex Districts 

and Boroughs, to be a 75% business rate area for 2019/20. This does not directly benefit 
the County Council in the short term, as the estimated additional funds from a successful 
bid are earmarked for shared use with the Districts and Boroughs.  However, the additional 

investment on project work which invests in the economy and makes West Sussex a more 
attractive location to do business will help build an economic base that will be of benefit to 

Page 140

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



all residents. 

As well as the revenue budget, the County Council will be asked to agree an updated 
capital programme for 2019 to 2024. The capital programme sets out how the County 
Council proposes to invest in the delivery of the Council’s vision for the county and its 

commitment to the communities of West Sussex.  This includes the provision of modern, 
maintained and fit for purpose educational facilities. The capital programme ensures that 

the correct numbers of school places are provided in the correct locations.  The Council 
may also invest in residential facilities for children where there is a strong business case to 
do so. We will also plan a wide programme of schools capital maintenance works across 

the West Sussex schools estate to ensure that schools remain structurally safe and secure 
and provide an environment where children are able to thrive.  

 

The Council is committed to ensuring continued economic growth and prosperity, working 
with our partners to understand the needs of businesses and provide the infrastructure and 

skills for them to succeed and grow in West Sussex. The capital programme proposes a 
package of works designed to stimulate economic growth, directly providing or contributing 

to the creation of over 10,000 jobs, delivering nearly 600,000 square metres of 
commercial floorspace in key locations and unlocking the potential for over 15,000 new 
homes. These investments provide a basis for a stronger financial position from which to 

develop plans for services. 

 

4. Describe whether and how the proposal helps to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation. 

  

One of the key aims of developing specific savings proposals, rather than simply assume 

across the board budget savings, is that savings which balance the budget can be planned 
for on the basis of protecting front-line services and delivery of West Sussex plan priorities 
as far as possible.  

In preparing the savings outlined, it is believed that no individual group whether it be by 
age, sex, race, disability, gender reassignment (including transgender), sexual orientation, 

religion or belief or any other identifiable group will suffer from discrimination, harassment 
or victimisation as a direct consequence. The focus on elimination will be addressed in 
service plan and implementation. 

 

5. Describe whether and how the proposal helps to advance equality of opportunity 

between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

The savings identified by services will be expected to maintain equality of opportunity 

between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.  This is part of 
the work that will take place ahead of the individual equality impact work on each saving 

area.  

 

6. Describe whether and how the proposal helps to foster good relations between 
persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

The savings identified by services will be expected, where possible, to foster good relations 
between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 
This is part of the work that will take place ahead of the individual equality impact work on 

each service area. 
 

Page 141

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



7. What changes were made to the proposal as a result? If none, explain why. 

Strategic savings decisions were published in the Autumn (in the forward plan) and have 
had a consultation phase were appropriate as well as being previewed at the relevant 

Select Committee.  Changes to proposals will have been addressed in the evaluation of 
consultation and representations and recorded in specific decision reports of identified for 
clarification in service plan implementation. One example is the decision to change the 

implementation timeline for changes to the Supported Housing contract arrangements. 
 

 

8. Explain how the impact will be monitored to make sure it continues to meet the 

equality duty owed to customers and say who will be responsible for this. 

Through equality impact work at individual service level and also business planning and 

performance framework planning processes.  Hence each Directorate will be responsible for 
monitoring the impact on revenue measures.  
 

 
 

To be signed by a Director or Head of Service to confirm that they 
have read and approved the content. 

Name 

  

Date  9th January 2019 

Your position Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement 

 

Page 142

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



 

    
 

Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 to 2022/23, Draft 

Revenue Budget 2019/20, Draft Capital Strategy 2019/20 and Draft 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 

 

Comments from members 
 

Comments from all member session held on 9 January 2019 

Questions were asked about the proposed increase in Council Tax and whether 

national government had a realistic view of the pressures being faced by local 
government to provide services.  A question was also asked about whether the 

government could be lobbied to remove the Council Tax capping limit so that 
local decisions could be made without any pre-determination of a Council Tax 
increase.   

 

Questions were asked about the capital programme, the borrowing 

requirements and revenue commitment to fund the debt.  Members were 
assured that the detail of the figures are included in the budget report but that 

the programme remains within the financial envelope approved at County 
Council in February 2018. 
 

Concerns were expressed that the savings decisions already taken could result 
in increased expenditure in other budget areas and that this needs to be fully 

explored.  This was raised again by members with specific reference to 
decisions pre-viewed by the Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee in 

December 2018.  Members were concerned that the unintended consequences, 
risks and costs have not been fully identified and reviewed.  Other members 
also expressed concern regarding other savings decisions and the need for 

comprehensive financial and risk assessments being needed for all savings 
decisions.  It was explained that risks and financial implications are identified by 

officers when pulling together a business case and that a summary of the 
findings should be included as part of a decision report.  
 

Some concerns were expressed about decisions being taken forwards before 
scrutiny or a published decision; this was with particular reference to the 

Intervention and Prevention Team, and also recommendations from scrutiny not 
being taken into account.  Members were assured that the correct governance 

processes are being followed. 
 

Clarification was sought around the additional £19m received through the 
Business Rate Retention scheme and whether this had to be spent in 2019/20. 
Officers explained that this money was to be spent on the digitisation project 

and could be spent over a few years.  The project is being developed and the 
profiling of expenditure would take place as part of the project planning, at the 

moment £1m is expected to be spent in 2019/20.  
 

Members asked questions about the transformation programme and the 
implications this has for staffing numbers. Officers explained this is work in 
progress and would be reported through the 6mthly up-dates presented to 

PFSC as part of the Total Performance Monitor.  

 

 
 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 5
Annex 4



Comments from Performance and Finance Select Committee 

On 17 January 2019 
 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

The committee welcomes bringing the work and review of savings proposals 

forward in 2020/21 in order to enable earlier consultation with stakeholders and 
input by the wider membership. The committee also supported the need for 

increased consultation and dialogue with all those affected and stressed the need 
for full impact assessments, including finance and risk, to take place.   
 

The committee would like to see the Cabinet looking at more innovative ways to 
raise revenue as well as identifying savings to be made. They would like to see a 

balance between savings and increased revenue. 
   

Cabinet Board need to look closely at proposals in relation to Council Tax and 
any future increases. 

 

Need to continue to lobby Government for extra funding. 

 

Recognise a dependency on Business Rate revenues in future which should be 

closely monitored. 
 

Revenue Budget Proposals 

Committee reiterated the need to continue to exert pressure on Government in 

relation to funding streams, particularly in relation to Adult Social Care and 
Education Fair Funding review. 
 

Whole Council Design 
 Need clear measurements to show how effectiveness and staff 

productivity has been improved. 
 Outcomes achieved should be shared with members. 

 Need a process put in place to monitor the progress of the programme 
(Total Performance Momitor) 

 Welcome the member day on 22 March and encourage all to attend 

 

Concerns were expressed over the savings included in the papers in relation to 

the Fire Intervention and Prevention Team, particularly the ‘drive safe, stay 
alive’ programme.  Before any savings are made a review of alternative service 

provision is needed to ensure the service continues. 
 

Re-iterated the need to review the savings proposals and identify any 
alternatives for providing services and also the need to undertake appropriate 
stakeholder engagement earlier in the budget process. 

 

Members raised a number of queries around the Community Initiative Fund 

(CIF) and welcomed the future review that would be scrutinised by the 
Environment, Communities and Fire Select Committee.  

 

Capital Strategy 

Raised the need to look carefully at property investments and returns. Each case 
should be considered separately in terms of risks. If appropriate scrutiny of 

individual business cases should take place. 
 
 

Page 144

Agenda Item 5
Annex 4



Treasury Management Strategy 

The committee raised a reminder to all members that when considering and 

reviewing the capital programme the revenue implications of borrowing need to 
be considered. 
 

Overview 

Concerns were expressed regarding the risks around the savings decisions for: 
 Local Assistance Network, 
 Supported Housing, 

 Integrated Prevention and Early Help Team 
 Search and Rescue 

 CIF funding 
 Reduction of Youth Services 
 Solar farms 

 Income Generating Initiative property investments. 
 

Commented that possible further savings may be found in the Communications 
budget. 
 

 
 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 5
Annex 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Committee: Pay Policy Statement 2019/20

Background

1 The Localism Act requires each local authority to produce a Pay Policy 
Statement (the ‘statement’) explaining its approach to the pay of its ‘chief 
officers’ and its ‘lowest paid’ employees and the relationship between the two.  
The statement has to be published and accessible to the public.  The 
statement must be approved annually before 31 March each year prior to the 
financial year to which it relates.

Pay Policy Statement from 1 April 2019

Legislative changes 

2 As in previous years, legislative changes have been expected in relation to 
public sector exit payments and as a consequence wording of the Pay Policy 
Statement may need to change.  At the time of updating the Pay Policy the 
timeline for the proposed changes remains uncertain.  Authority has been 
given to the Director of Human Resources and Organisational Change and the 
Director of Law and Assurance to approve any changes to the wording of the 
Pay Policy Statement relating to changes in legislation.    

 
Amendments

3 The Pay Policy Statement 2019/20, attached at Appendix 1 to this report, 
sets out the pay determination arrangements for all staff.  Only minor changes 
to the Pay Policy Statement have been made since it was last updated in July 
2018 and these are summarised below and the changes are highlighted in 
strike-through text:

(a) Paragraph 4.5: Superfluous text has been removed, which also ensures 
consistency of wording with paragraph 4.4.

(b) Paragraph 4.7:  The date of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations has been deleted in light of there being three 
versions of the Regulations, all of which may be applicable to this 
paragraph of the Pay Policy Statement.

Notes

4 Paragraph 6.2: The 2018/19 Pay Policy Statement made provision for a Pay 
Award for Strategic Management Grade, Tier 1, effective from April 2018 and 
thereafter every two years.  At the time of writing this report this provision 
has not been implemented and so has been replicated within the 2019/20 Pay 
Policy Statement. 

5 Paragraph 6.3: The 2018/19 Pay Policy Statement made provision for a Pay 
Award for staff on Strategic Management Grades, Tiers 2 and 3, effective from 
January 2019 and thereafter every two years.  At the time of writing this 
report this provision has not been implemented and so has been replicated 
within the 2019/20 Pay Policy Statement. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



6 The County Council publishes information relating to the remuneration of staff 
over a level defined by government guidance in the Annual Report and 
Accounts and on the West Sussex Data Store (Finance section) on the County 
Council’s website.

7 Paragraph 14.2 highlights that in addition to the above information, the 
County Council is due to publish its next Gender Pay report by 31 March 2019.

8 As at 31 March 2018 the Chief Executive’s taxable earnings were 1:7.97 times 
the median full-time equivalent taxable earnings of all other staff (excluding 
staff in schools).

9 As at 31 March 2018 the Chief Executive’s taxable earnings were 1:12.65 
times the lowest full-time equivalent taxable earnings of all other staff 
(excluding staff in schools).  

10 The pay multiples between the highest paid salary and the median earnings 
from 31 March 2014 to 31 March 2018 are set out at Appendix 2. 

Recommended

That the proposed revisions to the Pay Policy Statement, as set out at 
Appendix 1, be approved.

Lionel Barnard

Chairman of the Governance Committee

Contact: Colin Chadwick 033 022 23283

Background Papers

None

Page 148

Agenda Item 7



Proposed amendments from the current version (July 2018) are shown with 
deletions struck through (paragraphs 4.5 and 4.7).

West Sussex County Council Pay Policy Statement
 
For financial year 1 April 2019 - 31 March 2020
As approved by the County Council on 15 February 2019

1. Aim of the Pay Policy
 
1.1 The County Council’s pay policy aims to ensure value for money whilst 

enabling the County Council to deliver high quality services to the residents 
of West Sussex.

1.2 The County Council seeks to set pay rates that are competitive, but will 
determine pay at an appropriate level in accordance with relevant 
legislation, overall affordability, and other relevant factors in recruiting and 
retaining its workforce. 

2. Governance Arrangements

2.1 The Governance Committee determines the terms and conditions of 
employment for all staff.

2.2 The Scheme of Delegation provides for the Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Change to manage, review and apply the County 
Council’s Human Resources strategy and policies and to determine, with the 
Chief Executive, the appropriate pay and conditions for the appointment of 
staff. The responsibilities of specific members of the Cabinet are as 
described in this Statement. 

2.3 The Chief Executive is required to keep the Governance Committee 
informed of any matters of significance relating to staff terms and 
conditions.

3. Scope of the Pay Policy Statement

3.1 This pay policy statement meets the statutory duty to provide the County 
Council with a description of the policy on staff remuneration for annual 
approval. It provides information on remuneration arrangements for staff 
directly employed by the County Council, excluding staff in schools. 

3.2 The County Council defines its lowest paid employees as those staff paid on 
the first spinal column point of the County Council’s pay grades for National 
Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services staff. 

3.3 The relationship between the remuneration of the lowest paid employees 
and that of the Council’s senior officers is as described in this statement 
and by reference to published data requirements.

Page 149

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



4. Grading, or Fixed Pay Point, Structure

4.1 For staff on Strategic Management Grade (SMG) Tier 1 (i.e. the Chief 
Executive/Head of Paid Service) a single fixed pay point and grading is 
determined by the Leader, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, and 
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Change using (a) the local 
SMG job assessment method and (b) reference to benchmarking 
remuneration arrangements, including Hay evaluation scores, of relevant 
comparator organisations.

4.2 For staff on Strategic Management Grades (SMG), Tiers 2 and 3 (i.e. 
Executive Directors and Directors) a single fixed pay point and grading is 
determined by the Chief Executive and the Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Change (other than in the case of the Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Change – in which case it will be the Chief 
Executive alone), using (a) the local SMG job assessment method and (b) 
reference to benchmarking remuneration arrangements, including Hay 
evaluation scores, of relevant comparators where available. This method 
applies a number of weighted criteria and internal and external 
benchmarking. 

4.3 For staff on Strategic Management Grade (SMG) Tier 4 (i.e. Heads of 
Service or equivalent posts that report in to a SMG Tier 1, 2 or 3 post) a 
single fixed pay point within SMG Tier 4 Hay pay range is determined using 
(a) the HAY job evaluation scheme (b) reference to benchmarking 
remuneration arrangements of relevant comparators (c) the levels of skills 
and experience of the role holder.

4.4 For staff on Hay Grades the County Council uses the Hay job evaluation 
scheme to allocate jobs to the appropriate Hay pay grade. 

4.5 For staff on NJC pay grades the County Council uses the NJC formal job 
evaluation procedures to identify the relative worth of roles within the 
council and to allocate roles to the appropriate council pay grade. 

4.6 For staff appointed on Uniformed Fire Fighters, Teachers (Centrally 
Employed), Soulbury and Youth Worker terms and conditions, grading is 
established using a national framework.

4.7 Salaries for staff who have transferred into the authority under Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) or 
Cabinet Office Statement of Practice (COSOP) arrangements are those 
applicable at time of transfer and, by agreement, may also be determined 
in accordance with the local pay framework described above.

4.8 NJC and Hay pay grades are published on the County Council’s website.

5. Pay Progression 

5.1 Staff on NJC and Hay grades are eligible for annual incremental increases to 
base pay until they reach the top of the grade for their role. There is no 
further base pay progression once the employee reaches the maximum of 

Page 150

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



the grade, with the exception of a small number of staff who retain an 
entitlement to an additional long service increment, in accordance with the 
rules of a scheme which is no longer current.

5.2 Incremental progression is subject to ‘satisfactory’ performance and this 
will be defined within the Council’s Performance Management 
Policy/Procedure. 

5.3 Pay progression for Uniformed Fire and Rescue Service, Teachers (Centrally 
Employed), Soulbury and Youth and Community Worker roles are is based 
on assessment against national standards and/or terms and conditions of 
service. 

5.4 Pay progression for newly qualified social workers is determined by the 
Continuous Professional Development (CPD) and Pay Progression Policy. 
Progression is subject to satisfactory completion of an Assessed and 
Supported Year (AYSE). 

5.5  Pay progression can also be achieved where an agreed career grade 
scheme is in place. Employees must satisfy specified criteria. 

5.6 In exceptional circumstances staff increments may be accelerated within an 
employee’s grade at the discretion of the Director in consultation with the 
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Change on the grounds of 
special merit or ability. 

5.7 The pay progression arrangements for staff who have transferred into the 
authority with protected terms and conditions are those applicable at time 
of transfer. 

6. Local Pay Awards

6.1 There is no automatic annual cost of living increase for staff on SMG or Hay 
grading arrangements.

6.2 Pay awards for Strategic Management Grade, Tier 1 are determined locally 
by the Leader and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources every 
two-years. Any pay increase will be effective from April 2018; and will be 
subject to (a) good or exceptional performance determined by the Leader in 
an appraisal and performance based on delivery of corporate objectives 
and/or (b) reference to benchmarking remuneration arrangements of 
relevant comparators. Any pay award will follow consultation with the 
officer concerned. 

6.3 Pay awards for staff on Strategic Management Grades, Tiers 2 and 3 are 
determined locally by the Chief Executive and Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Change (other than in the case of the Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Change – in which case it will be the Chief 
Executive alone).  Any pay increase will be effective from January 2019; 
thereafter from April 2020; and thereafter every 2 years. Any pay increase 
will be subject to (a) good or exceptional performance in an appraisal and 
performance based on delivery of corporate objectives and/or (b) reference 

Page 151

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



to benchmarking remuneration arrangements of relevant comparators. Any 
pay award will follow consultation with the staff concerned. 

6.4 The pay awards for staff on Strategic Management Grades, Tier 4, are 
determined locally and are approved by the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Director of Human Resources and Organisational Change.  Any pay 
award will follow consultation with the staff concerned.  

6.5 The pay awards for staff on Hay pay grades are determined locally and are 
approved by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Change; and following consultation with the 
staff concerned and UNISON. 

6.6 The total sum available for any pay increase for staff on SMG or Hay 
grading arrangements is decided annually by the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Director of Finance, Performance and Procurement 
(S151 Officer) and Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Change. This is based on consideration of appropriate market and other 
relevant information, including the performance of the County Council and 
affordability. 

6.7 In exceptional circumstances; and as approved by the Leader in the case of 
SMG Tier 1; and as approved by the Chief Executive in the case of SMG Tier 
2 to 4 and Hay grades - an unconsolidated additional payment may be 
made to recognise exceptional performance.

7. Market Supplements 

7.1 The County Council may pay a market supplement, in addition to base 
salary, in order to recruit or retain staff with special skills experience or 
knowledge. 

7.2 Market supplements are applied, reviewed and withdrawn in accordance 
with the County Council’s market supplement policy which is published on 
the County Council’s website.

8. Remuneration on Appointment and Promotion 

8.1 It is the County Council’s policy to appoint at the minimum of the relevant 
pay range – where a pay range as opposed to a single spot pay point 
exists, unless: 

 the individual is deemed to be immediately capable of performing the 
role at the optimum level required for the post; 

 the market value for the individual’s experience and/or skills demands a 
higher entry point; 

 appointment above the minimum of the grade is required to ensure pay 
parity with other employees performing the role, with similar skills and 
experience; or 

Page 152

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 nationally determined arrangements apply to remuneration on 
recruitment and promotion. 

8.2 The Governance Committee has delegated the authority to determine 
standard terms and conditions for staff and to delegate to appropriate roles 
the determinations of salaries on appointments as set out in this 
Statement.  

9. Other elements of the Remuneration Package 

9.1 Allowances and Enhancements

The County Council pays allowances to staff for additional responsibilities 
and duties as required to deliver services. The Allowances and 
Enhancements Policy is published on the County Council’s Website.

Allowances for Uniformed Firefighters, Teachers (centrally employed by the 
County Council), Soulbury and Youth and Community Workers are 
determined in accordance with national arrangements, and as amended 
locally.

Staff who have transferred into the authority are covered by the applicable 
terms in place at time of transfer and as amended locally.

The Director of Law and Assurance is the Returning Officer for County 
Council elections and is eligible to receive election fees for carrying out 
these duties.

9.2 Annual Leave

Annual leave entitlements vary according to the terms and conditions of 
employment. Annual Leave entitlements are published on the County 
Council’s website.

9.3 Pension Scheme

Membership is determined by the relevant conditions of service and is 
subject to the rules of the scheme. The County Council operates the 
following pension schemes: Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 2015, the 
Fire Fighters Pension Scheme (now closed to new entrants) (FPS), the New 
Fire Fighters Pension Scheme (NFPS) (now closed to new entrants), the 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 2015, the NHS Pension Scheme and the 2015 
NHS Pension Scheme.

9.4 Abatement of Pension

Staff who are employed or re-employed by the County Council and who are 
in receipt of pension either under the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS), or the Fire Fighters Pension Scheme (FPS and NFPS) are subject to 
the rules on abatement of pension for the relevant scheme. The Abatement 
of Pension Policy is published on the County Council’s website.

Page 153

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



9.5 Staff in receipt of an NHS or Teachers’ pension are subject to the relevant 
Pension Scheme Regulations on abatement.

10. Termination of Employment

10.1 The County Council has determined that a vote by the Council on severance 
payments above a defined threshold is not required. This is due to the fact 
that the Governance Committee determines all pay policies including those 
affecting severance payments. 

10.2 Redundancy 

The County Council’s policy on redundancy, redundancy payments and re-
employment is determined by the Governance Committee and is available 
on the County Council’s website.

Staff who have transferred into the authority are covered by the applicable 
terms in place at time of transfer.

10.3 Settlements of employment-related claims

In exceptional circumstances, and specifically so as to settle a claim or 
potential dispute, the Director of Law and Assurance can agree payment of 
a termination settlement sum in consultation with the Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Change.

11. Pay Protection

11.1 The County Council’s pay protection policy is approved by the Governance 
Committee. The policy provides a mechanism for assisting employees to 
adjust to a reduction in pay as a result of organisational change, job 
evaluation or redeployment as a result of ill health or disability.

11.2 Staff who have transferred into the authority with protected terms and 
conditions are covered by the applicable terms in place at time of transfer.

12. Remuneration of staff on a Contract for Services, or engaged via a third 
party Agency

12.1 The County Council intends that individuals engaged via a Contract for 
Services are remunerated at a rate consistent with pay of directly employed 
staff performing a comparable role. However the County Council may 
reflect market factors in remuneration levels, whilst ensuring value for 
money.

13. Employment Tax

13.1 The Council encourages the direct employment of staff and pays them via 
the payroll system in order to ensure that appropriate deductions for 
income tax and national insurance contributions are made. However in 

Page 154

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



exceptional circumstances individuals may be engaged through a Contract 
for Services in accordance with the relevant legislation.

14. Publication of information on the remuneration of staff; or individuals 
engaged via Contracts for Service

14.1 The County Council publishes information relating to the remuneration of 
staff over a level defined by Government guidance in the Annual Report and 
Accounts and on the West Sussex Data Store on the County Council’s 
website. In addition the County Council publishes the pay ratio between the 
highest paid salary and the lowest salary and this information is available 
on the County Council’s website. 

14.2 Gender pay reporting will be published annually in accordance with 
legislative requirements.

14.3 The County Council will ensure that all of its arrangements for managing 
personal data in relation to staff contractual, payment and performance 
arrangements are managed in accordance with all Data Protection 
legislation and the County Council’s current Data Protection Policies. The 
County Council is committed to ensuring the security and maintaining the 
confidentiality of all personal staff data.

Page 155

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Pay Multiples

Median Pay Lowest Pay

Date Highest 
Paid Median 

Pay

Pay Ratio 
(to highest 

paid)
Lowest Pay

Pay Ratio 
(to highest 

paid)

31/03/18 £190,000 £23,850 1:7.97 £15,014 1:12.65

31/03/17 £190,000 £24,095 1:7.89 £14,514 1:13.09

31/03/16 £153,717 £23,763 1:6.46 £13,614 1:11.29

31/03/15 £152,666 £23,580 1:6.47 Not reported Not reported

31/03/14 £119,366 £19,696 1:6.06 Not reported Not reported

* Excludes staff based in schools

Notes:

(1) Pay multiples:

(a) As specified in the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, the 
‘pay multiple’ compares the taxable earnings of the highest paid 
member of staff to the median full time equivalent taxable earnings 
of all staff (excluding staff based in schools) at the specified date.

(b) ‘Lowest pay’ is the Full-time equivalent lowest taxable earnings of all 
staff (excluding schools) at the specified date.

(2) The variation in the median pay level for all other staff between 2014 and 
2015 is due to the way the median has been calculated.  The calculation 
has taken into account guidance available at the time of publishing.

Page 157

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Committee: Governance of the Capital Programme

Background and context

1 Since the capital governance for a five-year rolling capital programme was 
approved in December 2015, it has been implemented across all capital 
programmes and projects.

2 Experience of the last three years has led to some proposals for change in 
order to improve the efficiency and transparency of the capital approvals 
process in the following areas:

 New projects fully funded from external sources – it is proposed that, where 
new projects are funded entirely from external sources (grants/S106), their 
inclusion in the current year programme may be approved by Cabinet 
Member/officer decision in accordance with current and approved capital 
governance thresholds.

 Block Allocations – where routine asset management programmes are 
marked as ‘Block Allocations’ approval will be presumed to have been by 
County Council decision in approving the five-year capital programme.

 Grant Allocations – where programmes are marked as ‘Grant Allocations’ 
approval will be treated as having been by County Council decision in 
approving the five-year capital programme.

3 The proposals clarify decision-making and member involvement.  The starting 
point is a sufficiently long-term programme to enable planning and investment 
over a number of years.  The programme is reviewed for more detailed 
approval by the County Council each year at the budget meeting.  There is 
also a need to show how decisions are made in year to implement the 
approved plan and to respond to developments and manage change.

4 The individual elements of the programme will continue to be informed by 
Strategic Outline Cases (SOCs), describing the purpose of a scheme, the 
options to achieve it, its value, and delivery mechanism.  The SOC will lead to 
a more detailed Full Business Case and seek approval for implementation.  
Approval will also be sought for any changes to a project’s scope or overall 
budget.  For significant and high value projects and changes, member 
approvals are sought.  For lower value or less significant changes, senior 
officers decide within agreed limits previously approved by the Council. 

Proposal

5 An established officer governance process receives and considers proposed 
business cases and changes at service-based ‘Programme Board’ meetings.  A 
standard model for business cases will be used, streamlined for less complex 
projects.  

6 All projects will have a business justification through the SOC.  These will be 
presented for approval by the relevant Cabinet Member for inclusion in the 
process of prioritisation by the Cabinet each year ahead of recommendation to 
the Council for approval of the programme.  Individual projects may as usual 
be considered by select committees.  The chart below describes both the 

Page 159

Agenda Item 8



development of the overall rolling programme each year and the decisions to 
implement the approved programme during the year:

7 Once the overall capital spend and programme are approved by the County 
Council, a Full Business Case will be produced for each project for approval of 
capital funding to implement them.  A quarterly report on the capital 
programme will be published in the Members’ Information Service newsletter 
and linked to the Members’ Information Network database.  

8 The officer governance is supported by a set of tools and procedures set out in 
the Capital Programme Handbook, which defines the process for getting 
schemes approved and managing change.  

Block Allocations and Grant Allocations 

9 As well as the large schemes and development projects that make up much of 
the capital programme, there will be routine investment in the core business 
of the Council and grant allocations for community groups to bid for funding.  

10 Programmes managed through Block Allocations will be approved by the 
County Council on the basis of their outline case and budgeted for through 
asset management plans.  They will include programmes of property and 
highways asset maintenance, fleet and equipment asset replacement and 
other comparable projects.  The planning and implementation of Block 
Allocations will be delegated to the relevant Executive Director or Director. 

11 Programmes of Grant Allocations will be approved by the County Council on 
the basis of their outline cases and delegated to an identified member or 
officer to make awards in accordance within the agreed process set out

Change management

12 All significant or cross-portfolio changes will be taken through the Total 
Performance Monitor and published as Cabinet Member decisions in 
accordance with their portfolio.  It is proposed that changes that fall within 
paragraph 14 below be dealt with through officer delegated powers.  

Page 160

Agenda Item 8



13 Review of the capital programme performance management is part of the core 
business of the Cabinet Board and the Performance and Finance Select 
Committee each quarter.   

Officer delegation

14 The Executive Director Economy, Infrastructure and Environment has 
authority to take decisions relating to the approved capital programme and its 
implementation, in consultation with the Director of Finance, Performance and 
Procurement.  These include virement between budgets and increases or 
decreases within a tolerance.  Changes to the scope or the timing of a 
scheme’s implementation will also inform decision making.  The scope of 
delegation to the Executive Director is limited to:

(i) Where the level of investment or variation is no more than 5% of the 
total project cost or no greater than £250,000; or 

(ii) Where, not fitting within (i), the level of investment or variation is no 
more than 10% of the total project cost or no greater than £500,000 
the Cabinet Member will be consulted before the decision is made; and 

(iii) Where the decision has not previously been marked by the relevant 
Cabinet Member for decision by the Cabinet Member; or 

(iv) Where the matter has been the subject of previous Cabinet Member 
decision delegating further decisions to the Executive Director; or 

(v) Where the relevant Executive Director, in discussion with the Cabinet 
Member, does not consider the matter to be politically sensitive and so 
the use of officer delegation would be appropriate. 

15 Where a scheme is subject to more than one change in any financial year 
these will be considered cumulatively for this purpose.

Recommended

That changes for clarification of the governance of the capital programme, 
as set out in the report, be approved.

Lionel Barnard

Chairman of the Governance Committee

Contact: Matt Hall 033 022 22539

Background Papers

None

Page 161

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Committee: Substitution on Select Committees

Background and context

1 The Governance Committee has considered whether a system of substitution 
should be established for Select Committees.  The Council currently has 
substitution on the Planning and Rights of Way Committees to ensure that a 
quorum can be achieved in decision-making.  If a member is unable to attend 
a committee meeting, a named substitute can attend in their place, with full 
voting rights, by notice to the Director of Law and Assurance.  

2 The County Council operated a substitute system on its Select Committees 
from 2000 until it was abolished by the County Council in March 2005.  At the 
time the use of substitutes for Select Committees, other than Health Scrutiny, 
was limited to those meetings considering call-in.  The reason for the abolition 
of substitutes at that time was the difficulty of getting members to stand as 
substitutes and in finding substitutes available to attend a particular meeting.

Proposal

3 The Governance Committee has considered options for the reintroduction of 
substitutes at select committee meetings and recommends that there should 
be a mechanism of formal substitution.

4 It is proposed that there should be one named substitute per political group 
for each select committee.  This means that, if a member of the Select 
Committee is unable to attend a meeting, the named member of their political 
group will be able to attend in their place.  The substitute will have full 
speaking and voting rights.  The substitute will receive papers for each 
meeting, irrespective of whether they were likely to be called on to substitute.  
The changes required to the Constitution are set out at Appendix 1.  

5 The Committee supported the introduction of the new system with immediate 
effect after the Council meeting and nominations for substitutes will therefore 
be put forward for approval under item X on the agenda.

Recommended

That a system of formal substitutes be introduced for select committees, 
with one named member per political group for each committee, to be 
adopted with immediate effect, and that the required changes to the 
Constitution, as set out at Appendix 1, be approved.

Lionel Barnard

Chairman of the Governance Committee

Contact: Charles Gauntlett 033 022 22524

Background Papers None

Page 163

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Substitutes for Select Committees:
Change to Standing Orders - Part 4, Section 1 of the Constitution

Additional paragraphs shown in bold, italic text, subsequent paragraphs to be renumbered

8. Scrutiny

8.01 The provisions in Section 3, Committees and Decision-making General apply 
to select committees, who receive their scrutiny powers direct from the 
County Council. The following provisions apply specifically to select 
committees.

Substitutes for Select Committees

8.02 Substitute members are permitted to attend a meeting of each Select 
Committee to which the member has been appointed as a substitute.  
They will receive notifications and papers as if they were a member of 
the relevant Committee.

8.03 The County Council will, at each annual meeting, approve a panel of 
substitutes for each of the Select Committees, one member for each 
political group represented on the relevant Committee.

8.04 If a member is not able to attend a meeting, his or her political group 
may arrange a substitute by giving appropriate notice to the Director 
of Law and Assurance in writing, including the name of the member to 
attend in his or her place.

8.05 The notice should be given by the appropriate Group Leader, Deputy 
Group Leader, Group Secretary or Group Chairman to the Director of 
Law and Assurance by 5.00 p.m. on the day before the meeting if 
possible and not later than the start of the meeting.

8.06 Members appointed as substitutes are in the same position in terms of 
rights and responsibilities as any other member of the committee, 
including the duty to declare any interest they might have.

Page 165

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Urgent Action

1 Under regulation 19 of the The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 the County 
Council is required to receive a report from the Leader on any decisions taken 
under regulation 11.  These are key decisions which were not in the Forward 
Plan and which needed to be taken with less than five clear days’ notice.  Such 
urgent decisions can only be taken with the agreement of the relevant Select 
Committee Chairman or, in his or her absence, the Chairman of the County 
Council.  Key decisions taken with less than five clear days’ notice which are in 
the Forward Plan are reported via the Executive Decision Database.  

2 Such action is avoided wherever possible as it circumvents the normal 
mechanism for publication of decisions and ensuring that members have the 
opportunity to comment before decisions are taken.

3 However, on occasion this is not possible and the County Council is asked to 
note the following decisions which have been taken by the Director of Law and 
Assurance with the agreement of the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Infrastructure and the Chairman of the County Council and the Cabinet 
Member for Adults and Health and the Chairman of the Health and Adult Social 
Care Select Committee respectively.

Additional Roads Funding

4 The Chancellor’s Autumn Budget 2018 announced £420m towards additional 
roads funding.  The Department for Transport (DfT) provided confirmation of 
an additional £6.083m capital funding for the County Council in November.  
The funding must be spent on highway network infrastructure maintenance 
before the end of March 2019.

5 Due to the challenging time constraint in which to spend the grant funding, 
the Director of Law and Assurance, used his delegated powers under Standing 
Order 5.23 to approve the addition of the funding grant to the existing Local 
Highways Maintenance Block allocation in the 2018/19 Capital Programme.  
He also authorised the Director of Highways and Transport to approve the 
delivery of schemes and works, to be identified under the DfT Road Funds 
programme, through the existing Term Maintenance Contract.

Winter Pressure Funding

6 In October the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care announced 
£240m funding for local authorities to spend on tackling winter pressures in 
the NHS.  It was confirmed consequently that the County Council’s share 
would be £3.3m.  Whilst this allowed planning to begin, publication of the 
supporting grant determination did not occur until late November.  This 
imposed a condition stipulating that these resources ‘may be used only for the 
purposes of supporting the local health and social care system to manage 
demand pressures on the NHS between November 2018 and March 2019’.  

7 The delay in receipt of the grant determination meant that the County Council 
would have been spending at risk by entering any contracts prior to then.  The 

Page 167

Agenda Item 11



Director of Law and Assurance therefore used his delegated powers under 
Standing Order 5.23 to:

(1) Approve the allocation of £787,411 of the Winter Pressures Grant to be 
applied to a contract for services from Sussex Community Foundation 
Trust to deliver a programme of falls prevention work in 2018/19 
provided standing orders on contracts are met; and

(2) Authorise the Director of Public Health to oversee the delivery of the 
programme and approve the release of funds on the basis of agreed 
activity and performance in accordance with the settled services 
contract.

Louise Goldsmith
Leader

Contact:  Helen Kenny, 033 022 22532

Page 168

Agenda Item 11



 
 

(Links marked with an * are to documents in pdf format) 

 

 

 
Cabinet Report:  Delivering the West Sussex Plan 2017-22 
 

This report sets out the key strategic decisions, policy and programme initiatives, 
consultations, government announcements and key events within each Cabinet 
portfolio area to deliver our strategic priorities. 

 

      
 

 
 

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People – Paul Marshall 

 
 The Exceptional People in Care (EPIC) awards event has taken place to 

celebrate the achievements and highlight the development of Children and 
Young People Looked After in West Sussex. 

 The County Council is taking positive steps to address the increased demand 
for children’s social workers by creating additional posts and a competitive pay 
and retention scheme.  This is proving successful with new staff already filling 

the vacancies.  
 Acting on a recommendation contained in the Local Government Association 

Corporate Peer Challenge report*, the County Council has established a 
voluntary Improvement Board for Children’s Services.  The appointment of an 
Independent Chair to lead the Board will enable robust, objective assessment 

of current practice in Children’s Services and identify where opportunities for 
improvement exist.  The first meeting of the Board will take place in March.  

 
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills – Richard Burrett 
 

 The additional £3.69m high needs funding the County Council will receive in 
the period to 2020 will contribute to easing pressures on the budget that funds 

provision of education for children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND). 

 A Schools Access Initiative budget has been created to fund small adaptations 

and improvements at mainstream school sites and help ensure that more 
children with SEND can be educated within their local area, meeting a key aim 

of the SEND strategy* (PDF, 12 MB). 
 

 

 
 

 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy – Louise Goldsmith 
 

 The details for the Government’s £675m Future High Streets Fund were 
announced in December.  The County Council will work with the district and 

borough councils to look at how these funds can benefit the high streets in 
West Sussex following the successful Let’s Talk About Our Towns Event in 
November.  

 
 

BEST START IN LIFE 

A PROSPEROUS PLACE 

Page 169

Agenda Item 12

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/epic-young-people-inspire-all/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/campaigns/careers-in-childrens-social-work
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/campaigns/careers-in-childrens-social-work
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/12380/west_sussex_peer_review_report_090119.pdf
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/12380/west_sussex_peer_review_report_090119.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-funding-to-support-children-with-special-educational-needs
https://haveyoursay.westsussex.gov.uk/care-wellbeing-education/send-strategy/supporting_documents/Final%20SEND%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-high-streets-fund-call-for-proposals
http://www.businesswestsussex.co.uk/371-lets-talk-about-our-towns-.html


 
 
(Links marked with an * are to documents in pdf format) 

 

A STRONG, SAFE AND SUSTAINABLE PLACE 

 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Infrastructure – Roger Elkins 
 

 The Department for Transport  recently announced the creation of a major 
road network which will provide new funding opportunities for routes included 
in the network and inform the County Council’s Strategic Transport Investment 

Programme due to be approved in February. 
 The procurement of the new highways term contract is underway having been 

agreed following scrutiny at the Environment, Fire and Communities Select 
Committee.  There will be a new contract or contracts in place by March 2020. 

 Details of changes to support for non-commercial bus services are now 

available.  These changes will not be made until the Easter school holidays.  
 

 

 
Cabinet Member for Safer, Stronger Communities – Debbie Kennard 

 
In March 2019 the County Council will bid for the Defence Employer 
Recognition Scheme (ERS) Gold Awards.  This is the highest badge of honour 

for organisations which have signed the Armed Forces Covenant and 
demonstrated outstanding support for those who serve and have served.  

 Worthing Library is leading the pilot on the County Council’s Community Hub 
Strategy which aims to combine services ‘under one roof’ for the benefit of our 
communities.  

 The County Council’s Community Safety and Wellbeing Team is promoting a 
Safe Digital Life to help keep young people safe online.  This includes their 

general online safety, online grooming, online gaming, cybercrime, serious 
organised crime, cyber bullying and mental health.  

 

Cabinet Member for Environment – Deborah Urquhart 
 

 The Government recently published ‘Our waste, our resources: a strategy for 
England’ which covers a wide range of topics, including the reduction and 
recycling of more plastic and food waste.  Government consultations will be 

undertaken early in 2019 to inform the development of the strategy. 
 The Tree Council is launching its Ash Die Back action plan with an event at 

County Hall.  There are concerns that the disease will have an increasing 
impact on West Sussex, posing a risk to people, property, biodiversity, air 

quality and service delivery.  An action plan is being put in place, which will 
include reactive and proactive tree removal and replanting.   

 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy – Louise Goldsmith  
 

 The Leader was interviewed for Radio 4’s ‘The World Tonight Programme’ on 
the leading work that the County Council is doing in solar farm development to 
create secure, affordable and sustainable energy supply in West Sussex and 

help power thousands of local homes.  The programme is due to be aired 
shortly.     

 

Page 170

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-the-creation-of-a-major-road-network
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-the-creation-of-a-major-road-network
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=3633#mgDocuments
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=3633#mgDocuments
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/community-pulling-together-to-reduce-the-effect-of-bus-service-changes/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/defence-employer-recognition-scheme/defence-employer-recognition-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/defence-employer-recognition-scheme/defence-employer-recognition-scheme
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=492
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=492
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/campaigns/staying-safe-online/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.treecouncil.org.uk/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/land-waste-and-housing/public-paths-and-the-countryside/chalara-dieback-of-ash/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/planning/local-environmental-projects/west-sussex-renewable-energy-projects/


 
 

(Links marked with an * are to documents in pdf format) 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Cabinet Member for Adults and Health – Amanda Jupp 
 

 Falls and fractures can be a major health issue for older people in West 
Sussex.  The County Council has allocated £1m of central government winter 

pressures funding to lead on the delivery of a winter pressures falls prevention 
programme within the current financial year. 

 The West Sussex Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is under review.  The 

new strategy, due in April 2019, will be used to inform local commissioning 
and delivery plans and determine what actions the County Council, NHS, and 

other partners need to take to meet health and social care needs, and to 
address health inequalities. 

 Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) attributable to the County Council’s Social 

Care have reduced over the last two years and continue to be on a downward 
trend.  During November 2018 the County Council had the lowest level of 

DTOCs attributable since April 2015, meeting national targets. 
 The Chief Executive of Public Health England, Duncan Selbie, visited the 

County Council’s Public Health team on 21 January.  Following his visit he 

praised the work of the team and the joint working with the County Council, 
District and Borough Councils and the NHS. 

 
 

 
 

 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Relations – Bob Lanzer 

 

       The West Sussex Gigabit Programme is ongoing in all scheduled 
locations. Information about which roads are affected can be found on the 

County Council’s streetworks register.  In addition the national Gigabit 
Broadband Voucher scheme is available to small and medium enterprise 

businesses to support a gigabit-capable broadband connection. 

       A new cohort of recruits joined the County Council’s Apprenticeship scheme in 
January, bringing the total number currently underway to 90.  The top three 

most popular apprenticeships in the organisation are supporting Teaching and 
Learning in schools, Business and Administration and Infrastructure 
Technician.   

 The County Council as a Fairtrade Supporter will be running events and 
promotions across corporate catering outlets during Fairtrade fortnight, 

25 February until 10 March, to raise awareness amongst staff and visitors.  
 

 
 

INDEPENDENCE FOR LATER LIFE 

A COUNCIL THAT WORKS FOR 
THE COMMUNITY  

Page 171

Agenda Item 12

https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=478
https://westsussex.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=478
https://haveyoursay.westsussex.gov.uk/public-health/jhw-strategy-consultation/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/statistical-work-areas-delayed-transfers-of-care-delayed-transfers-of-care-data-2018-19/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/category/hwb/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/business-and-consumers/broadband-in-west-sussex/gigabit-capable-broadband/#west-sussex-gigabithttps://www.westsussex.gov.uk/business-and-consumers/broadband-in-west-sussex/gigabit-capable-broadband/
http://streetworkswestsussex.cdmf.info/streetworks/showDetailedSearch.htm
http://www.businesswestsussex.co.uk/369-gigabit-broadband-for-businesses-scheme-.html
http://www.businesswestsussex.co.uk/369-gigabit-broadband-for-businesses-scheme-.html
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/jobs/apprenticeships-career-tasters-and-volunteering/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-services/catering-services/http:/www.fairtrade.org.uk/en/get-involved/in-your-community/towns
http://www.fairtrade.org.uk/get%20involved/Events


 
 
(Links marked with an * are to documents in pdf format) 

 

 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy – Louise Goldsmith and Cabinet 
Member for Children and Young People – Paul Marshall  

 
 The County Council has been shortlisted for awards in two categories at this 

year’s Local Government Chronicle Awards.   The ambition to transform 

Children and Family Services holistically, through cultural change, altering 

social work practice and building on relationships with partners led to being 
shortlisted for the Children’s Services award.  For its work in setting up the 
Build a Better A27 community group to inform the improvements in Chichester 

the County Council has been nominated for the Community Involvement 
Award.  The Leader and officers provided presentations on the work to judges 

in January and the winners will be announced at the Award Ceremony on 
12 March.  

 

 

Contact: Helen Kenny, 033 022 22532 

 
Background Papers 

 

None  

Page 172

Agenda Item 12

https://awards.lgcplus.com/content/community-involvement
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/campaigns/a27-action/

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Interests
	Minutes - Appendix 2 - Written Questions
	Minutes - Appendix 3 - Question Time

	5 Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23, Draft Revenue Budget 2019/20, Draft Capital Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 and Draft Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20
	Annex 2a - Capital Strategy
	Annex 2a - Appendix A: Capital Programme
	Appendix 7A - Capital Programme v2.3
	Summary
	Adults
	CYP
	Corporate Relations
	Education
	Environment
	Finance
	Highways
	Leader
	SSC


	Annex 2a - Appendix B: Minimum Revenue Provision
	Annex 2a - Appendix C: Debt and Borrowing
	Annex 2a - Appendix D: Debt projections
	Annex 2b - Treasury Management Strategy Statement
	Annex 2b - Appendix A: Treasury portfolio
	Annex 2b - Appendix B: Economic and Interest Rate Forecast
	Annex 2c - Prudential indicators
	Annex 3 - Equality Impact Report
	Annex 4 - Member comments

	7 Governance Committee: Pay Policy Statement 2019/20
	Appendix 1 - Pay Policy Statement
	Appendix 2 - Pay Multiples

	8 Governance Committee: Governance of the Capital Programme
	9 Governance Committee: Substitution on Select Committees
	Appendix 1 - changes to Standing Orders

	11 Report of Urgent Action
	12 Question Time

